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CHAPTER 6

A

NORTHERN MALAY STATE MALAY REACTIONS TO BRITISH INFLUEN\(‘}-E ON~
THE PENINSULAR

From their earliest encounters with the British the NMS Malay rulers resisted what
they saw as encroachments into their domain. While the record does not reveal any strong
overt raayat reaction to British influence there until the formal colonial period the NMS Malay
elite was, well before 1909, in competition with British colonial authority. While British
colonial authorities in the Straits and, from 1874 to the south on the peninsular itself, sought
to protect their economic and strategic interests and particularly trade in and around the
peninsular, they frequently cut across the interests of NMS rulers. The northern states were
not hermetically sealed from the south in their economic and social life and their interests
often collided with those of the British seeking to foster the development of production and
trade in the southern and central peninsular states. Thus, while British concerns were
focussed to the south on the peninsular and in the Straits Settlements, conflict came about
with the northern state Malay elites when the British need to foster production and trade in
these areas to the south overlapped the needs of NMS rulers. The pre and post 1909 history of
the period reveals the latter, then, seeking to maintain their power and wealth while becoming
peripherally involved in southern peninsular and Straits affairs.

British Bombardment of Trengganu

The indivisibility of peninsular affairs from the British point of view can be seen in
the way that disturbances focussed in the east coast state of Pahang embroiled the British in a
conflict with the Sultan of Trengganu in the early eighteen sixties. Between 1857 and 1863 the
east coast state of Pahang was wracked by a civil war which threatened the economy of that
state and, more to the point in terms of the response it invoked from British authority in the
Straits, the economic interests of Straits merchants relying heavily on Pahang production and

trade for their income.(*) The civil war centred around a succession dispute triggered when

! For a broad account of the civil war see C.M.Turnbull, "The Origins of British Control in
the Malay States before Colonial Rule", in John Bastin and R. Roolvink, Essays Presented to
Sir Richard Winstedt on his Eighty-Fifth Birthday(London, 1964), pp 166-183. Turnbull
focusses upon the effect of this disturbance in prompting the expansion of British influence on
the peninsular in the 1870s.
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the Bendahara of Trengganu died in 1857 and his eldest son was installed as the new
Bendahara.(®) Civil unrest broke out in the state when Inchi Wan Ahmad, the younger son of
the deceased Bendahara, sought to oust his elder brother and to establish himself as the ruler
of Trengganu by force.(*) The dispute did not remain, as the Straits government had hoped, a
localized one, and outside interest groups aligned themselves with, and actively sought to
support, one or other of the contenders. The Temenggong of Johore and a group of merchants
in Singapore led by William Paterson and H.M. Simons backed the Bendahara while the
Sultan of Trengganu supported, or appeared to support, Wan Ahmad.(*)

Wan Ahmad conducted raids within Pahang and, because this seriously threatened
production and trade and the wealth drawn from these by the merchant backers of the
Bendahara the latter made representations to the Straits government to intervene in the dispute
on their behalf.(°) Certainly the Straits government was mindful of the need for the

maintenance of stability in Pahang - a stability necessary for the prospering of production and

2 Turnbull, "Origins", p.175.
Elgin, Kingardine and others to Wood, 8 December, 1862. CO0273/5.
Turnbull gives the year of the Bendahara's death as 1857.

3 The spelling of the name of the rebel son varies in the sources being written variously as
* Ahmad' in Turnbull and *Amad' and *Ahmet' in the primary sources. For example, the name
appears as ‘Ahmet' in the Elgin correspondence cited immediately above and *Ahmed' in
Cavenagh to Secretary to the Government of India, 19 July, 1861. CO273/5.

For the sake of convenience I have chosen to use Turnbull's spelling in the text of my
thesis except where quoting directly from the sources.

4 See below.

Turnbull points out that by the middle of the nineteenth century ‘European merchants of
Singapore began to scheme against one another to acquire a share in the growing wealth of
Johore - and to a lesser extent Pahang'. Of two cliques of merchants in this contest it was the
one led by Patterson and Simons, Turnbull points out, that supported the Bendahara as an
intelligent ruler likely to develop a prosperous state and "to co-operate with European
merchants.'

Turnbull, "Origins", p171.

5 Tbid., p176.
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trade, especially British trade. Blundell, the Indian Governor of the Straits Settlements who
received the first appeal from the merchants for help, believed however that the Bendahara
would prevail in office against the attack by his own devices and therefore refrained from
offering British help to the Bendahara and opted instead for moves to deprive both Wan
Ahmad and the Bendahara of outside help.(®) Blundell's successor, Colonel Cavenagh,
initially followed suit with a non-interventionist approach to the dispute.(’) For a while this
policy seemed to work. Wan Ahmad was defeated in his initial attempt to oust his brother and
Pahang trade was restored for a short time as a result.(}) The situation, however, became
unstable again when Wan Ahmad, after his initial defeat, took refuge in Trengganu and from
there continued to wage war on the Bendahara. The Trengganu Sultan assisted in this by
imposing a blockade of rice and other supplies from Trengganu to Pahang.(®) The situation
was further complicated when Mahmud, the Ex-sultan of Singga, joined Wan Ahmad in
Trengganu.('®) Mahmud had previously spent time in Bangkok and his arrival in the state
seemed to indicate Siamese support for the Pahang rebel.('')

Tension developed between the Straits government and Trengganu when Cavenagh
came under pressure to take decisive action to dislodge Mahmud from Trengganu.(*?) Egged
on by Patterson and by the Singapore Chamber of Commerce, and convinced by their claim of
a strong continued threat to Pahang production and trade posed by Trengganu support for the

Pahang rebels, the Straits government resolved to take decisive action against the Trengganu

¢ Ibid., p176.
7 Ibid.
8 Thid.
? See below.

19 Turnbull, "Origins", p. 178.

" Tbid.

12 Ihid., pp175-179
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Sultan.(*)

Late in October 1862 the Chamber of Commerce in Singapore communicated its
urgent concerns over the situation in Pahang to the Straits government.(**) In this
correspondence the chamber drew attention to Wan Ahmad's attacks in Pahang over a five
year period at the instigation of the Ex-Sultan of Lingga and with the aid of "persons from
Trengganu'.(**) The correspondence specifically accused the Trengganu ruler of complicity in
the attacks. The Chamber went on to report that, in addition to the attacks, the Trengganu
Sultan was, “from his relationship to the Ex-Sultan of Lingga...taking active measures' to
support Wan Ahmad by prohibiting “the importation of rice from his territories into Pahang
under severe penalties' and “according to the statement of the Nacodah of a Singapore Cargo-
boat, which lately visited Quantan' blockading the Quantan river using “armed boats from
Kamaman in Tringanu'.(‘®) The Chamber went on to stress that this state of affairs had caused
a cessation of tin mining in Pahang, a severe rice shortage which threatened famine in the
state, and that the very substantial property holdings of Singapore merchants involved in the
State's tin trade was in jeopardy and that, as the approaching monsoon would soon close off

access to rivers on the east coast, that “no time should be lost in sending a vessel of War to

13 Ibid., p179
4 Iogan to Protheroe, 31 October, 1862. C0O273/6.
15 Ibid.

¢ Ibid.

An undated but clearly contemporary deposition by Inchi Aming, Nacodah of a Singapore
Tong-Rong, gives an account of the blockade. In the deposition Inchi Aming described his
experience on being sent by Mr. Patterson "to take goods (rice, opium, and 2,000 dollars) to
Quantan River'. While there he observed the presence of "two Kumaman prows' which "had
been watching the moth'. According to Inchi Aming, “one of the boats had about 20, men, and
the other about 15 and “there [were] also about twenty Kumaman people on shore'. The
Nacodah also noted that *Tringanu boats [were] not allowed to go to Pahang or Quantan
River' and that “if they [went] there and [sold], their rice they [were] fined, at the rate of $400
for a small boat and $1000 for a large one.

Deposition of Inchi Aming, Nacodah of a Singapore Tong-Rong. C0273/6.
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Tringganu' with a view to forcibly removing the Ex-Sultan and Wan Ahmad from
Trengganu.('”) Cavenagh, convinced by these representations by the Chamber of commerce,
reported to his superiors in the India Office that "active steps' on his part "had become
essential for the due protection of British interests'.("*) Accordingly on 3 November, 1862
Lieutenant - Colonel R. Macpherson, the Secretary to the Government in the Straits
Settlements, made a request of the Senior Naval Officer in the Straits of Malacca, Captain
John Corbett. He requested:

the favour of [his] visiting with the Force under [his] command the Eastern Coast of

the Peninsular, and, after raising the blockade of the Quantan River, proceeding to

Tringanu for the purpose of requiring the surrender of the Ex-Sultan of Singa, with

the view of his being conveyed back to Siam, and the immediate adoption on the part

of the sultan of Tringanu of suitable measures for necessitating the early withdrawal
of Trehi Wan Ahmed from Pahang.(**)

This naval force was duly dispatched for Trengganu on 6 November in the same
year.(**) That force consisted of HMS Scout, HMS Coquette and the Straits Steam Gun Boat
Tonze, all under the sea command of Captain Corbett, the Senior Naval Officer. On arrival
off the Trengganu Shore this force established that the blockading Trengganu vessels were no
longer present in Quantan but had returned to Kamaman.(*') Negotiations were commenced
between Macpherson and the Trengganu ruler around the attainment of the British

objectives.(?) In the course of these negotiations the Sultan resisted the removal of his two

guests on what seemed, to Macpherson, tenuous and inconsistent grounds.(*’) These

7 Logan to Protheroe, 31 October, 1862. CO273/6.
18 Cavenagh to Secretary to the Government of India, 11 November, 1862. CO273/6.

1 Macpherson to the Senior Naval Officer Straits of Malacca, 3 November, 1862.
CO273/6.

20 Macpherson to Deputy Secretary to Government, Straits Settlements, 17 November,
1862. CO273/6.

2! Ibid.
2 Tbid.

2 Curiously, among the reasons offered by the Sultan for non compliance with the British
desire for the removal of Mahmud was an inability to do so without the express permission of
Siam. The Sultan claimed his state had, ‘from generation to generation...been under the power
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negotiations broke down and the British vessels proceeded to carry out “the coercive measures'
deemed necessary to force the Sultan's hand.(**)

On 11 November Corbett communicated with the Sultan of Tringanu:
“The Senior Naval Officer regrets that negotiations having failed, this matter should now be
placed in his hands by the Resident Councillor of Singapore, but such being the case he has
nothing to do but carry into effect the orders that he has received from the Government.
Should the small steamer arrive without the Ex-Sultan of Singa, or an intimation that
he is following immediately, the English Men-of-war will move closer in, and commence
hostilities against the Town and Fort of Tringanu.(**)
The Suitan did not respond in the way the British wanted to this demand and the British
vessels accordingly bombarded the area in and around the sultan's fort from their off-shore
position. In the event the firing was, by Corbett's account, somewhat inaccurate due to the
unfavourable firing conditions existing at the time.(*®) According to Corbett the firing was

initiated and sustained because the Sultan was unwilling to conduct serious deliberations and

was stalling for a time when a British assault would become difficult due to the seasonal

and control of Siam'.
Sultan of Tringanu to Macpherson, 18 November, 1862. CO. 273/6.

Macpherson was, in the negotiations, extremely sceptical of this claim:

‘I reminded him how much at variance this argument was with the statement made
by him at Singapore on the occasion of his last visit there, when he complained of the
threatened aggressions of the Siamese government, requested our interference, and protested
his independence of Siam, save in the matter of a triennial ceremony when he sent presents,
receiving others more valuable in return.’

Colonel R. Macpherson Esq., Resident Councillor at Singapore, to Deputy Secretary to
Government, Straits Settlements, 17 November, 1862. CO. 273/6

As we have seen in Chapter 2 and 3 above there is agreement within the scholarship
that Trengganu exercised considerable independence from Siam.
2% Corbett to the Governor of Singapore, 14 November, 1862. CO.273/6.

25 Corbett to the Sultan of Tringanu, 11 November, 1862. CO. 273/6.

% Tbid.
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conditions prevailing at that time of the year.(*’)

Clearly the Straits government had employed a strategy of aggressive gun boat
diplomacy in its dealings with Trengganu on the Pahang issue. The bombardment was seen as
unnecessarily heavy handed not only by the India Office but politicians in the House of
Commons as well.(*¥) While Corbett, in his account of the action, was at pains to stress the
‘very mild nature' of the bombardment, there is no mistaking the aggressive and destructive
nature of the naval action as recounted in the Colonial Office record of the event.(*’) Perhaps
there was a discrepancy between intention and effect on the part of the British Government in
the Straits for, while Corbett reported that his intention was to carry out his instructions “to the
letter' while at the same time inflicting “as little damage as possible on private property', he
also made it clear in his report that, while two of the British vessels opened a slow and
deliberate fire on the fort, this was done so at long range - “over 2000 yards' - and against "the
excessive rolling motion caused by the swell off the bar' - difficulties which made it
impossible to confine the fire to the fort itself.(*°) Certainly the Sultan subsequently
complained on behalf of his subjects that Macpherson had broken off negotiations
prematurely to fire indiscriminately on the town:"...our friend fired on our town, our families
and all the subjects within our country felt much afraid and ran away in every direction to save

their lives.'(*') Material damage sustained during the bombardment was substantial and valued

27 Ibid.

Corbett described the difficult seasonal conditions for a naval force attempting an off-shore
bombardment in these terms: ...t this season of the year it becomes hazardous for vessels to
lay off the Bar of Tringganu, and in the event of bad weather coming on, the bar itself
becomes impassable'.

Ibid.
28 Turnbull, "Origins", p. 179.
29 Corbett to the Governor of Singapore, 14 November, 1862. CO 273/6.
3 Tbid.

31 Qultan of Tringanu to Macpherson, 17 November, 1862. CO273/6.
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by the Sultan in 1869 at $80,000.(*%)

The Straits Government certainly achieved its immediate aims with the
bombardment. The shelling caused Mahmud to flee into the state's interior.(**) Early in
December Cavenagh reported on the consequences of the attack to his superiors in the India
Office: “The last accounts from Pahang lead me to believe that the proceedings taken at
Tringganu have not been without a beneficial effect, it being reported that Inchi Wan Ahmed
has retreated for a distance of about ten miles from his former position, and that his supply of
ammunition is failing'.(**) The Straits Government had, with an eye to the future, wished to
teach the Trengganu Sultan a lesson. After the bombardment Macpherson corresponded with
the Sultan extending the hand of British friendship but with a proviso. Addressing the Sultan
in the third person he struck a note of warning: "...but in the event of his persisting in
following the course he has hitherto pursued, he must be prepared to abide by the
consequences. The British Government desires peace and tranquillity throughout the
peninsular, and it will cause its wishes to be respect.'(*’) Whether or not the Sultan was really
cowed by the bombardment he was, shortly after the event, certainly adopting the submissive
stance that the British wanted to see in him. Shortly after the attack the Sultan wrote to
Macpherson: ‘Long ago we were aware that we have not the power to resist the British

Government, and we have no intention to oppose the British Government'.(*’)

22 Hammond to The Under Secretary of State, Colonial Office, November 6, 1869.
C0273/34.

33 Turnbull, "Origins", p. 179.
Sultan of Tringanu to Macpherson, 17 November, 1862. CO273/6.

34 Cavenagh to the Secretary to the Government of India, Foreign Department, 14
December, 1862. C0O273/6.

35 Macpherson to the Sultan of Tringanu, 22 November, 1862. CO273/6.

36 Sultan of Tringanu to Macpherson, 17 November, 1862. C0273/6.

Throughout the negotiations the Sultan had adopted the same sort of submissive tone. On one
occasion, for example, the Sultan, having pleaded the impossibility of handing over Mahmud
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In the longer term, however, the Straits Government was unsuccessful in achieving
the results it wanted in Pahang. Wan Ahmad was subsequently successful in his bid to topple
his brother and was, by 1864, secure as the ruler of the state.(*’) Neither did the bombardment
have the effect, as we shall see in more detail below, of making the Trengganu elite easily
submissive to British objectives as the latter sought to expand their influence northwards on
the peninsular early in the following century.

Clearly the attack might have ruptured the stable relations that the British had, and
wanted to maintain, between themselves and Trengganu. No such rupturing seems to have
occurred however and in 1869 the Sultan of Trengganu's envoy was in England seeking an
audience with White Hall officials on various matters affecting the welfare of his state.(*")

The subject of the bombardment was raised by the envoy but not, apparently, with any
hostility and without seeking retribution in the form of direct compensation for material

damage caused during the bombardment.(**) In the long run however the bombardment must

as the British Government in the Straits wished, concluded with the statement: “We hope that
our friend will immediately give us instructions that we may act as our friend may order us.’

Sultan of Tringanu to Macpherson, 11 November 1862. C0O.273/6.

The effusive, accommodating tone of the 17 November correspondence is not therefore
necessarily any guide to the Sultan's intentions and feelings towards the British immediately
after the attack.

37 Turnbull, "Origins", p. 180.

38 Hammond to the Under Secretary of State for the Colonial Office[?], November 6, 1869.
C0273/34.

39 The issue of the bombardment had been the subject of correspondence between the
Colonial Office, the Indian Government and the Siamese Government in 1862 and 1863.

Tbid.

In 1869 however, the Foreign Office was unsure as to what extent the Sultan may have
pressed any grievance he had over the bombardment with the Indian Government: ...whether
the Sultan of Tringanoo has ever made any application for compensation does not appear so
far as has been found on looking through the bound volumes of unindexed correspondence
received from the India Office.'

CC to Sir F. Rogers, 17 November, 1869[?]. Paper labelled “12733 Straits Settlements [?]'
C0273/34.

The Foreign Office correspondence penned early in the visit seems to indicate that its
officials were disconcerted by the fact that the Sultan, through his envoy, was making a direct
approach to the British monarch rather than operating through the Straits Government and that
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have helped to make the Trengganu elite wary of British intentions and behaviour on the
peninsular and in this way contributed to the tensions between the two evident in the formal
colonial period. Cavenagh's bombardment of the Sultan's fort and the *great confusion and
disturbance' caused thereby was in 1909 well within living memory and may well have helped
stiffen the resolve of the Trengganu ruling class to hold out for as long as possible to secure
their interests against British incursion into their domain.(*")

What were the Sultan's motives in assisting Mahmud and Wan Ahmad? Clearly the
Sultan's motives and behaviour played an important part in the intrigue surrounding the
Pahang Civil War though precisely what his motives were is not clear from the British
colonial record of those events. Indeed, the Straits Government itself does not seem 1o have
had a clear idea of why the Sultan was acting as he did to frustrate a British resolution of the
Pahang conflict and the tone of much of their correspondence on the subject is speculative.
Late in October 1862 Cavenagh, for example, was unsure whether the Trengganu Sultan was
covertly affording support to Wan Ahmad or was 'guilty of gross neglect of his duty as the

Ruler of a friendly country, in allowing that chief to make his territories the basis upon which

they were confused as to the purpose of the envoys visit.
Ibid.

It may well be that the Trengganu Sultan had opted for a strategy of moral blackmail in
reminding the British of their past transgression in bombarding the fort with a view to
obtaining British assistance in the rectifying of other grievances. For example, while in
London the Sultan's envoy complained that the Sultan of Johore had occupied islands
formerly held by himself and the Bendahara of Pahang.

Colonial Office correspondence addressed to Governor Sir H. Ord[?] 19 November, 1869.
C0273/34.

The signature to the correspondence is indecipherable to me. It may be that the topic of the
bombardment was raised with a view to pressuring the British to assist 1n the return of these
islands.

4 The phrase used by the Sultan of Trengganu to describe the effect of the bombardment.
Sultan of Trengganu to Macpherson, 17 November, 1862. CO273/6.
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his operations against Pahang' were being conducted.(*') Certainly the British suspected that
the sultan was an instrument for Siamese aims to weaken British influence on the peninsular
and to strengthen their own and the bombardment of Trengganu was intended by the Straits
Government in part as a deterrent to Siamese ambitions on the peninsular.(*) While the
Straits Government was unsympathetic to the sultan's claim during the negotiations leading up
to the bombardment that he had no choice but to act at the direction of Bangkok because his
state was under the domination of Siam we can not rule out the possibility that the Sultan was,
in this instance, under some coercive pressure, at least from Mahmud if not directly from
Bangkok to resist the British demands. It is possible that, at the time of the negotiations at
least, the sultan was, as he claimed at the time, genuinely caught between British pressure to
hand over Mahmud and a fear of inevitable physical conflict that would result if he were to
attempt to force Mahmud from his state.(*) In the period leading up to the bombardment
there is a possibility that the Sultan had succumbed to moral pressure to support Mahmud and
that this partly explains his involvement in the Pahang Civil War. The Straits Government
took the view that it was the familial link between the Sultan and Mahmud that accounted for

the Sultan having “been prevailed upon to take active measures' in support of the rebels in the

4 Cavenagh to Her Britannic Majesty's Consul, Bangkok, 29 October, 1862. CO273/6.

%2 Turnbull, "Origins", p. 179.

Cavenagh to Her Britannic Majesty's Consult [Consul?] at Bangkok, 4 November, 1862.
C0273/6.

Cavenagh to the Secretary of the Government of India, Foreign Department, 24 November,
1862. CO273/6.

# At the time the Sultan pleaded with the Strait's Government in these terms: "...we have
tried, as have also our countrymen, to our utmost to persuade him, but he still refuses to
comply with our wishes; suppose we now use force to take him, our fear is that it will be
attended with loss, (i.e. bloodshed) and then our friend will blame us, because this was done
without the advice of our friend; as in our opinion if we make use of force to take him, it is
certain there will be loss (bloodshed), as he (the Ex-Sultan) has about 30 followers.'

Sultan of Tringanu to Macpherson 10 November, 1862. C0273/6.

Although the message here is a somewhat mixed one designed apparently to indicate a
concern not to engage Mahmud in physical conflict without specific instruction from the
British to do so, it does at the same time seem to indicate a genuine apprehension on the part
of the Sultan at the idea of his forcing Mahmud from his shore.
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Pahang Civil War.(*)

There is the possibility, too, that it was a succession dispute within Trengganu that
helped force the Sultan to actively support Mahmud and Wan Ahmad.(*) Ironically, in the
year before the bombardment, the British had sought to forestall any attempt by the Siamese to
depose the Trengganu Sultan. The Straits Government suspected that there was an intention
on the part of "the Kings of Siam', to replace the Sultan of Trengganu with Mahmud.(*) The
suspicion within British Government circles in the Straits at the time was that the "Kings of
Siam' and the Sultan of Trengganu had fallen out with one another because the Sultan
“obstinately refuse[d] to appear before the kings' and that it was this which had led the
Siamese rulers to form the intention of dispossess[ing] the Sultan of Trengganu of his fief'(*")

If these suspicions were correct the Sultan of Trengganu was under some pressure from the

“ The precise relation between the two is not accounted for consistently in the sources.
Some correspondence describes Mahmud as the Sultan's nephew.

Logan to Protheroe, 31 October, 1862. CO273/6.

Chow Phya Argga Maha Sena Dhipate Aphaij Berig Para Krom Bahu Samulia Phra
Kalahome, to Phya Bijay Bhahendr Naundr Bhacty Sri Sultan Manomed ratne Raj Patendr
Surmdr Rawnoangsah Phya Tringanu, 25 September 1862. CO273/6.

Cavenagh, however, in 1861, described Mahmud as the Sultan's son-in-law.

Cavenagh to the Secretary to Government of India, Foreign Department, 19 July, 1861.
CO273/5.

Cavenagh to the Sultan of Tringanu. No date. CO273/5.
Cavenagh to Her Britannic Majesty's Consul at Bangkok, 18 July 1861. CO273/5.

45 An item of Foreign Office correspondence links the two events in time by implication
without exploring the possibility of any causal connection between them:"...the relations
between that state [ie Trengganu] and the neighbouring Malay States were in an unsettled

condition, while the succe[s]sion to the throne of Tringanu seems to have been disputed'.

Hammond to the Under Secretary of State, Colonial Office[?], November 6, 1869. CO273/34.
4 Cavenagh to the Secretary of the Government of India, 19 July, 1861. CO273/5.

47 Netscher to the Governor of Prince of Wales Island, 16 July, 1861. CO273/5. Tense
altered throughout.
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Siamese; it is possible that by 1862 this pressure was being applied to the Sultan with a view
to compelling him to play a part in effecting Siamese designs in the Pahang Civil War.
Perhaps the Sultan was forced to support Mahmud and Wan Ahmad with the threat that he
would be deposed if he did not. Certainly it is difficult to see that the Sultan had a direct
personal stake in the outcome of the Pahang Civil War and the possibility that he was acting
under Siamese compulsion seems a strong one. On this interpretation of events the Sultan of
Trengganu was an unwilling victim caught between Siamese and British ambitions on the
peninsular.

Whether the Sultan of Trengganu was a willing or unwilling participant in Siamese
designs in Pahang did not matter to the Straits Government when they chose to curb Siamese
ambitions and to deter Trengganu from any further action frustrating British trade on the
peninsular with an attack on Trengganu. The bombardment was a clear illustration of the
determination of the Straits government to protect British trading interests on the peninsular
and of the way in which this frequently brought them into contact - often contentious contact -
with Siam and the Siamese Malay States well before 1909 even though their major economic
concerns were focussed to the south on the peninsular. While colonial administrators in
Whitehall were wary of too direct an intervention in peninsular affairs the men-on-the spot in
the Straits Government showed themselves willing to press their interests by involving
themselves strongly in local affairs, including those in the north, where they considered this
necessary for the protection of local British economic and strategic interests. In the late
nineteenth century the Straits Government was, as peninsular trade burgeoned and the British
stake in that trade increased, monitoring events in all the peninsular states and vigilant in
locating and taking active steps to remedy, obstacles to British and other trade in the Straits.
When the suspicion was raised that the Siamese intended to depose the sultan of Trengganu,
for example, Cavenagh feared that the Sultan would not ‘yield his post without a struggle' and
that 'the whole country would in all probability be soon involved in a civil war to the utter

prostration' of British trade in the Straits.(**) Accordingly he dispatched “the Steamer Hooghly

48 Cavenagh to the Secretary of the Government of India, 19 July, 1861. CO273/5.

Elsewhere in the correspondence Cavenagh expressed concern that any deposition of the
Sultan by the Siamese would lead to serious disturbances in Tringanu, thus causing
obstruction and interruption to British commerce'.
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to Tringanu ostensibly for the purpose of warning the sultan against allowing Inchi Wan
Ahmed to reorganize his Force within his territories, but in reality with the view of watching
the proceedings of the small Siamese fleet of steamers [then] on its way to Singapore.'(*)
This was a more routine instance of the Straits Government taking active steps to ensure the
security of their economic interests on the peninsular. The bombardment of Trengganu was
on the other hand extraordinary in that saw the Straits Government to use physical force in
order to have its way.

In general the Straits Government sought to protect its interests without direct and
violent intervention in this way. It only took such drastic measures because circumstances -
the pressure from the Singapore merchants and the unfavourable seasonable conditions -
forced its hand. Still, in the late nineteenth century, as we have seen, the sort of detached
control of peninsular affairs in the protection of trade that Whitehall wanted, and the Straits
Government, with increasing reluctance, was seeking to implement, became progressively
more difficult. While, at the behest of the Whitehall mandarins in the Colonial Office, the
Straits government sought to maintain stable and friendly relations with NMS rulers those
relations were, in the closing decades of the nineteenth century, becoming increasingly
strained as the British desire to protect expanding trade developing in the north, but focussed
in the main to the south on the peninsular, caused the British to rub up against elite interests in
the northern states.

Kedah and Kelantan; Trade Dispute

In the same decade the Straits Government quarrelled with both Kedah and Kelantan
over the imposition by those two states of trade taxes - taxes which were seen by the British
government in the Straits as having an inhibiting effect on British trade. In 1866 colonel H
Man, Resident Councillor in Penang, wrote to the Raja of Kedah:'I have been desired by His

Honour the Governor to bring to my friend's notice that complaints have been made of the

Cavenagh to Her Britannic Majesty's Consul at Bangkok, 18 July, 1861. C0273/5.

49 Tbid. Tense altered.
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levy by my friend's officers of an export duty on cattle, rice, paddy, [etc].' Colonel Man then
pointed out in his correspondence that the tax was in violation of a treaty between Britain and
Kedah and continued:'I must request my friend to give orders to his officers at once to stop
this practice, which has an injurious effect on the trade between Penang and Quedah.'(*%)

A similar circumstance pertained in the year before when the Chamber of Commerce
in Singapore corresponded with the Straits Government complaining that the Raja of Kelantan
had recently established a “monopoly or farm' on “cotton yarn or twist imported into his
dominions' and that “native traders' dealing in the commodity “anticipate[d] a very great
falling off in the trade in this article and [were] afraid to buy it for export to that place’.(*")

The Chamber sought to solicit the help of the Straits Government into “taking such steps as
may appear necessary under the circumstances'.(*?) The Chamber's complaint was backed up
by depositions from three Chinese traders. One of these described the way in which
monopoly operated and how it was affecting the merchants involved in these terms:

The Rajah of Kelantan about a month ago sold the monopoly of the cotton twist

trade to the Chinese captain for 5 or 600 dollars a year, and now all importers of that

article are compelled to sell it to him at a small gain, and very often his offers are
even lower than the article can be purchased at Singapore, and he retails it to the
people of the country at a large profit.(*’)
The Straits Government accepted the Chamber's statement on the monopoly as correct on the
basis of the depositions and referred the matter on to superiors in the Government of India as a

matter requiring attention since the monopoly was operating “to the detriment' of British trade

with Kelantan.(**)

50 Colonel H. Man, Resident Councillor, to the Raja of Queda, 30 July, 1866. C0O273/5.

51 Legan, Secretary to the Chamber of Commerce, to Macpherson, Singapore, 14 March,
1865. C0O273/15. Tense altered throughout.

52 Ibid.

%3 Depositions of Chinese traders on the monopoly of cotton yarn or twist by the Chief of
Kelantan. Deposition of Hadjee Nga, Nakodah of a Tringanu boat, dated Singapore, 15
March, 1865. CO273/15.

5 Secretary to the Government of the Straits Settlement, to the Secretary to the
Government of India, 11 April, 1865. C0273/15.

This correspondence canvassed two possible courses of action - an approach for redress direct

to Siam and, in the alternative, an initial approach to Kelantan - depending on whether
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In 1867 the Straits government was still seeking redress of its trade problem with
Kelantan. In that year, the British Governor in the Straits, Sir Harry Ord, complained of
discourtesy on the part of the Kelantan ruler in the latter's response to British attempts to
restore the “very large and important' trade between the Straits Settlements and Kelantan.(**)
Referring to previous and contemporary complaints raised by the Chamber of Commerce, and
earlier correspondence protecting the monopoly forwarded to the Sultan from the Straits
government, Ord accused the Sultan in formal, polite and diplomatic language of not only
failing to remove the cotton yarn monopoly, but establishing a monopoly on tobacco, opium,
gambier *(for eating)' coconut and betel nut as well.(*®) This “system of monopoly', Ord
pointed out to the Raja, was "in the long run ruinous to trade’ in that it prevented merchants
‘sending their goods where they have not got a free market.'("')

We can see, then, that in the 1860s there were clearly strong tensions between the
Siamese Malay States and the Straits Government. Disputes between British officialdom in
the Straits arose especially where the latter felt it necessary to take active steps to protect
production and trade in the area. The Straits government, while mainly concerned with the
maintenance of production and trade in the southern and central peninsular states, clearly had
a strong secondary interest in assisting the maintenance of production, and trade with, the
Siamese Malay States as well. It was especially in the protection of British economic interests
in both the northern and southern peninsular states that British officials in the Straits came

into contact with the north and which was the cause of considerable tension between these

Kelantan was to be considered,'a Siamese province' or not. The correspondence indicates
some confusion in the mind of British Straits authority on the status of Kelantan in relation to
Siam.

55 Ord to Her Britanic Majesty's Acting Council [Consul?], 19 November, 1867.
C0273/17.
Ord to the Rajah of Kelantan, 22 October, 1867. C0O273/117.

% Tbid.

7 Thid.
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officials and NMS rulers.

The need to keep the Siamese Malay States at bay in this regard is a recurring
theme in the correspondence of the time. The record also reveals that British government
Straits officials were unsure of the precise relationship between the Siamese Malay States and
Siam proper and were consequently unsure of the extent to which the Malay rulers were being
fractious in their own right and to what extent they behaved in this way towards British
officials at the instigation of Siam. So, without interfering in peninsular affairs too directly
they nonetheless exercised a firm hand to the general effect of conveying the message to both
the Siamese and the Malay states under their dominion that they would stand no nonsense
when British economic interests were threatened. Thus, when Cavenagh ordered the use of
naval force against the Sultan of Trengganu as his part in the Pahang Civil War he did so very
much with an eye to making an example of Trengganu to Siam and the other Malay States
under its suzerainty. Shortly after the bombardment of the Sultan of Trengganu's fort,
Cavenagh wrote, referring to the bombardment:

_.I have little doubt that the measure will have a beneficial effect throughout the
peninsular, more especially amongst those states, in any way subject to the
influence of the Court at Bangkok, who have for some time past, indeed, ever since
the visit of the Siamese Squadron last year, evinced a growing spirit of disrespect

towards the British Government, and disresga.rd of its remonstrances in cases where
injury has been sustained by its subjects.(*")

5% Cavenagh to the Secretary of the Government of India, 24 November, 1862. C0273/6.

In similar vein, the Straits government was relieved when the Siamese
government agreed to assist in the resolution of the trade difference between Britain and
Kelantan initiated when the latter imposed the monopoly on cotton yarn. In January 1868
Governor Ord wrote to his superior in the Colonial Office that the Siamese had agreed to
“dispatch a special Commissioner...to Kelantan to investigate and arrange' a resolution of the
monopoly dispute and to confer with Ord in Singapore on the monopoly, ‘and other matters
connected with the Siamese Malayan states generally'.

Ord to the Duke of Buckingham [and?] Chandos 3 January, 1868. C0273/17.

The proposed step of Siamese intervention in the trade dispute was, according to
Ord in his correspondence, ‘a judicious one, and likely to have a good effect on the Kelantan
and other Rajahs dependent on Siam.'

Ibid.

Clearly then, the Straits government had a wider concern to hold in rein all the Siamese Malay
states - not just Kelantan - in the trade monopoly dispute and welcomed Siamese cooperation
in this.

Referring to British relations with the Siamese Malay rulers, Ord continued:

*In our dealings with these people their proceedings are of course liable to be
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Malay Resistance to the Anglo-Siamese Treaty 1909

As was the case with the peripheral involvement of the British in northern
peninsular affairs in the decades leading up to 1909 it was the Malay elite that was clearly
reactive to the British presence in the post 1909 period. The record reveals little if any reaction
to the new British presence at this time at the lower levels of NMS society.(*) While the
British colonial sources don't tell us much one way or the other on the initial response of the
bulk of the NMS populations to the transfer it seems likely that the position was that there was
no marked response and that it was not until the British were able to effect substantial changes
to the internal administration of the four states that the non-Malay elite sections of those state
populations began to register a reaction. From the outset of the transfer of suzerainty over the
four northern states to Britain in 1909 the British can be seen making diplomatic efforts to
overcome the resistance of NMS rulers to colonial supremacy. Although in their reports
British officials were inclined to down play the degree of resistance encountered from this
ruling class their anxiety on that score is nonetheless clear.

In Trengganu there was marked hostility to the treaty once news of it reached the

state. The plan angered the Sultan who foresaw a marked loss of independence for himself

influenced by what they conceive to be the feeling of the Court of Siam, and I am happy to
state that of late the Siamese Government has shown every anxiety to further the views of Her
Majesty's Government in any question that has arisen between its tributaries and ourselves.'

Ibid.

5 In 1907 a British consular official presumably with the impending transfer of suzerainty
in mind, expressed the view that within Kedah the “trading classes and the more intelligent of
the cultivators would, of course, welcome British protection'.

Frost to Beckett, 6 September, 1907. FO 371/332.

There is no evidence offered for this forecast and we need to be wary of its
validity as a guide to the actual response of merchants and peasants in Kedah when the
transfer became a reality. Its tone seems to reflect the Eurocentric assumption common in the
Colonial and Foreign Office correspondence of the time that the coming of Pax Britannica to
the peninsular was self evidently a boon to the native populations there and that, where reason
prevailed amongst the natives, it would be welcomed to such. Elsewhere in the contemporary
correspondence there is little to indicate any response within the populations of the four states
at large, to the transfer.
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and his state and resented what he saw as the high handedness of the Siamese in assuming that
Trengganu was of its possessions to be disposed of as it saw fit.(*®) The first British Agent
appointed to Trengganu was W.L. Conlay of the F.M.S. police force.(®") His brief was to
examine the affairs of the state, to collect information on its administration, and to negotiate
an appropriate treaty for the effective implementation of the wider Anglo Siamese Transfer
agreement in its application to Trengganu.(*)) In 1909 Conlay recorded an optimistic view of
the evident strong reservations of the Trengganu Sultan at the imposition of British rule in his
state indicating that these reservations were merely a matter of decorum for the ruler and
therefore not to be taken too seriously by the British.(**) In that year, Conlay wrote to the
High Commissioner, Sir John Anderson:

The Sultan's willingness to accept out of hand the position placed before him,
does not, I think indicate an intention to obstruct the policy which has been marked
out for the benefit of His Highness and his State; it is probably no more than a
characteristic manifestation of the extreme regard paid by Malays to what they
deem to be decorum in matters of State, and reluctance to surrender an
independence maintained so long until the last moment.(**)

However, elsewhere in the official correspondence of that year we can see that the

Sultan's attitude to the transfer was more strongly problematic for the British than this and

60 Talib describes an incident in which the Sultan in reaction to the news of the plan_
engaged in a tirade against the implications of the agreement while in a conversation with a
merchant.

Talib, Image, p. 178.

Talib deals with the initial hostility of the Sultan to the transfer and the British reaction to this
on pages at some length in his thesis.

Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp 374-380.
The subject occupies several pages of the book.
Talib, Image, pp. 178 - 180.

¢ Tbid., p 179.

82 Ibid.
Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 375.

& Tbid., p. 376.

% Conlay to High Commissioner 14 July, 1909, p.3. CO723/350 p.54.
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went well beyond a matter of decorum in consultation over the transfer.

Talib points out in his thesis on the Trengganu Malay ruling class that the British
had expected, and were prepared for, the Sultan's sensitive reaction to the treaty and that they
were prepared to bide their time in tactfully going about bringing the Sultan round to their way
of thinking on the new arrangement.(*’) The British clearly knew that they would not draw
Trengganu, or for that matter the other Siamese Malay states covered by the 1909 treaty, into
the expanded colonial state easily and from the outset trod very warily in their dealings with
the Trengganu Sultan and other Malay rulers in the north. Thus, when the Sultan of
Trengganu appeared to indicate a softening in his attitude toward the British during the treaty
negotiations and offered a gift to the British government it was felt within British circles that
the gift ought to be accepted for diplomatic reasons. In the words of one official:

It would be a very great mistake to refuse. We expected trouble from

the Sultan, who was infuriated at being handed over to us without his consent.

He has to our surprise become quite calm and polite [and] this spontaneous

offer shows that he is satisfied with the way in which he has been treated by

Sir J. Anderson and Mr. Conlay. We should do everything possible to avoid

disturbing this pleasant state of affairs. The Sultan has a reputation for being

very touchy. ()
In the same despatch another correspondent urged acceptance of the gift on the grounds that
the “position of Trengganu' was of particular importance in that if that state ‘[made] trouble'
for the British Government “the other new states [might have done] likewise.'("’) In May of
the same year Anderson reported that the Sultan of Trengganu, in an interview with him, took

the view that Siam lacked the authority to transfer his state to Britain - "that he [ie the Sultan]

could not understand how Siam could transfer to Britain what it never possessed.'(*) In the

6  Robert(Talib), "Malay Ruling Class" p. 376.
6  RGS to Cox, 19 August, 1909. CO723/350.
57 JR to Stubbs, 19 August, 1909, CO273/350. Tense altered throughout.

% High Commissioner Sir J Anderson to the Earl of Crewe, May 27, 1909. C0O273/350.
Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp375.

Robert discusses the interview on page 374 and 375 of his thesis.
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same interview, in response to this attitude on the part of the Sultan, Anderson was clearly at
pains to minimize the intended British influence on the state. It is clear from Anderson's
account of the interview that he, Anderson, adopted a tone of gentle persuasion in his
approach to the Sultan. Anderson told of offering a guarantee of independence for the
Trengganu ruler in matters of internal administration in return for his cooperation in achieving
the main British objectives in the state.(*)

In Kelantan, too, the record clearly shows the British deferring to Malay ruling
class sensitivity at the British take over. There was in Kelantan mixed reaction to the transfer
in that state, as Salleh points out, with one section of the Malay ruling elite resisting the
transfer more strongly than others within the same elite. A minority group consisting of “the
uncles of the Raja and some other interested parties in the state’ were against the transfer and
were responsible for petitions opposing it.(") While the Raja, according to Salleh, refused to
become active in this protest, it is nonetheless clear from the official correspondence of the
time that the Raja was not wholly acquiescent in his attitude to the transfer and the British

clearly felt the need to be diplomatic in their dealings with him in 1909.("") Thus, when the

6 ] then informed him that there was no intention on the part of the British Government to
interfere with the internal administration of Trengganu so long as it was carried on
satisfactorily, but that the protection which he would receive from Great Britain involved
certain obligations on his part. One was that he should hold no communications with foreign
powers except through the High Commissioner; and, secondly, that no transfers of land

should be made, or concessions of land given to foreigners, without the consent of the High
Commissioner'.

Anderson to the Earl of Crewe, 27 May, 1909. C0273/350.
See also Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p374.

7 Salleh, "Kelantan in Transition", in Roff (ed), Kelantan, p56.

Salleh does not identify the “other interested parties'. Salleh points out that a petition praying
that the State of Kelantan be not transferred to Britain had been presented to the King of Siam
in May 1908, by the Kelantan Government'.

Tbid., p55.

71 Galleh understates the degree to which the Malay elite in Kelantan, and in the north in
general, resisted the transfer. Taking up a claim by Paget, the British Minister in Bangkok,
denying a preference on the part of Kelantanese Malays for Siamese over British rule, Salleh
states that ‘it is undeniable that the Malay rulers, and the majority of Malays in the states
concerned who had dealings with Siam, had found Siamese control somewhat repugnant, and
had they been given a free choice, would have preferred British rule'.
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Raja indicated that he was “anxious to have his own head placed on his stamps' he received
official approval of his request from the British, not so much because they saw any intrinsic
merit in the proposal but because they wanted to encourage the Kelantan ruler (and those in
the other newly acquired northern states) to accept the transfer.(”®) Thus approval for the
Raja's request was recommended on the grounds that it would 'serve to smooth [his] slightly
ruffled feelings and that it [couldn't] do any harm' though with the slight reservation that the
other NMS rulers would want to do the same; it was thought that it would “serve to soothe
him [ie the Raja] by letting him have this trivial pleasure’ and thus assist in the attainment of
British objectives in ‘the somewhat delicate affair of the transfer.'(”) Although the stamps
issue was relatively unimportant in itself the attention given to it by British officials does
illustrate well the extreme sensitivity of the transfer with all the NMS rulers. In the words of
one colonial official: Tt appears to me a question of getting the Malay rulers to accept the fait
accompli [ie the transfer] with the minimum friction: hence the postage stamp proposal
becomes important.'("*)
Kedah and Perlis

In Kedah, too, the transfer was effected by the British against considerable

Ibid., p56.
It is clear from the primary sources that such a preference would only have been exercised as
the lesser of two evils - a point that Salleh does not make clear in his writing.

72 J R. to Mr. [Tidds?], 31 August, 1909. CO273/350.
The signature to the correspondence is indistinct. The subject was first raised by the Sultan in
a meeting with Sir John Anderson in Kota Bahru. On 19 J uly, 1909 Anderson records that
*[hlis Highness...enquired whether he could not be allowed to have postage stamps with his
head on them like the Sultan of Johore, and said it was a matter to which he and his Council
attached great importance’'.

Anderson to Crewe, 2 August, 1909. C0273/350.

7 JR to Mr [tidds?] 31 August, 1909. CO273/350. Tense altered.
R.G.S. to Mr. Collins, 3 September, 1909. C0O273/350.

74 JR to Mr [Tidds?], 31 August, 1909. C0O273/350.
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resistance from within the local elite. While the Annual Report for Kedah for 1909 indicates
that the transfer of that state went smoothly it does hint, in euphemistic terms, at the
underlying tensions which were clearly present between British and local Malay authority in
the state in the year or so leading up to the transfer and which clearly threatened to disrupt the
transition to a British supervision of the affairs of that state.

Tt will be remembered from chapter 4 above that in 1907 the British and local
Kedah elite were in conflict over the extent of the powers of the Financial Advisor operating
in the state under the provisions of the Siamese loan agreement. In that year the Kedah ruler
was complaining that the Siamese Financial Advisor at the time, a British national named Mr.
Hart, held a brief from Siamese authority to advise on matters of finance only and that he,
Hart, was operating beyond this brief and in effect usurping functions properly belonging with
the Malay rulers of the state. The background to this dispute seems to have been a general
disinclination on the part of at least some Kedah Malays to countenance outside interference
from the British or Siamese in the running of the state. In 1907, for example, when the Anglo
Siamese Treaty that was to be given effect in 1909 was being drafted, Meadows Frost, a
British consular official based in Kedah, wrote to Beckett, the consular official based in
Bangkok, describing the relations between British personnel and Kedah Malays in the
state: There has been a strong anti-foreign feeling in Kedah ever since the Raja Muda's death
and the bearing of some of the Malays towards the European officers is altogether most
insolent.'(”®) In the same correspondence Frost expressed the view that this anti European
reaction within the Kedah Malay community was not specifically directed at the British within
the state in particular, but was rather a “anti-foreign influence, whether Siamese or British'
among “the higher classes' of Kedah Malays.(")

While in this correspondence Frost seemed to be saying that the hostility of the
Kedah elite Malays was focussed more on the Siamese than on the British (...the longer I am
here the clearer I see the dislike and fear they really have of the Siamese') in other

correspondence Frost made it clear that there was nonetheless serious friction between

75 Frost to Becket 6 September, 1907. FO.371/332.

6 Tbid.
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European officials and Kedah ruling class Malays in that year. Specifically, Frost made
reference to Malays in the state's Public Works Department *who formerly waxed fat on
letting contracts, and [who had] lost considerably through the appointment of a European
engineer.(”’) And in more general terms:"Since the Raja Muda's death, the anti-European
spirit of the officials, especially of the smaller fry and of the Sultan's favourites, has been very
manifest. Even the State Council look upon the Europeans as anecessary evil.'("®) The
outlook for the securing of British influence within the state, Frost wrote, was "not very
encouraging.'(™)

As Frost stated, it had been the death of the Raja Muda which had triggered a
souring of relations between the British and certain Kedah Malays. When the loan agreement
was first implemented the relationship between Hart as Financial Advisor, and Tengku Abdul
Aziz, the President of the State Council, the powerful body charged with the overall
administration of the state, was a cordial one.(*") When the Raja Muda, one of the State's
powerful leaders and a leading reformer, died, a new President of State Council was
appointed. Relations between Hart and the new President, Tengku Mahmud, were strained
and it was at this point that relations between British officials and Kedah Malays in official
positions began to decline.(*')

While Frost acknowledged that circumstances had turned against Hart in this way
he clearly blamed him for failing to strongly exercise his role as Financial Advisor and saw

this as contributing to the decline in Anglo-Kedah relations after the death of the Raja

77 Frost to Beckett, 26 August, 1907. FO.371/332.
8 Tbid.

Tbid.

8  Ahmat,"Transition and Change", pp. 239, 240.

8 Tbid., p240.
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Muda.(**) When Hart became ill and left Kedah on sick leave his position was filled
temporarily by a Dr. Hoops, the state surgeon, as Acting Financial Advisor.(*) Under Hoops
Anglo-Kedah relations became even worse. Hoops embarked on a reforming spree - an
administrative approach which won the firm approval of Meadows Frost:

The recent appointment of a European engineer was an excellent move, and I do
not wish to belittle the great improvement which has taken place during the last few
years in the state of the finances, the police, and the purity of the administration,
owing to the dismissal of some of the most corrupt officials; this is chiefly due to
the resolute attitude of Dr. Hoops.(*)

Hoop's firmness with the Malays in Kedah, then, met with the approval of Frost. However
Hoops' manner was abrasive in his dealings with the Kedah Malay administration and this
worsened the friction between the British and Malays within the Malay elite.(®’) Undeterred
by this Frost took the view that on his return to Kedah from sick leave Hart should restore the
strength and authority of the position of Financial Advisor within the State through firmness
of action. In Frost's words:*A great deal will depend upon Mr. Hart's behaviour when he
returns[now that he has returned ?]. If he takes up a strong line and properly supports his
other European assistants, he may be able to recover the influence which the Adviser
originally possessed, but which, I cannot help seeing, has been considerably reduced since his
return from [?] leave.'(*) Despite the confusion in the tense here Frost's disapproval of what
he sees as Hart's lack of firmness in his administrative approach in Kedah is clear.

Clearly, then, the lead up to the transfer of authority in Kedah was not an auspicious one. The

claim of the state's 1909 Annual Report (the first to be issued under the new arrangement) that

Hart had presided over a “very difficult situation’ during his term as Financial Advisor and that

82 Tbid., p240.
Frost to Beckett, 26 August, 1907. FO.371/332.

83 Ahmat, "Transition and Change", pp. 240-241.
Frost to Beckett, 26 August, 1907. FO 371/332.

8 TIbid.
85 Ahmat, "Transition and Change", pp241-244.

%  Frost to Beckett, 28 August, 1907. FO.371/332.
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this period had been characterized by ‘misunderstandings’ - which the report declined to detail
- gave only a hint of the tensions existing between British and Malay functionaries within the
state at that time.(*’) Kedah Malays did resist the transfer when the time came. Ahmat points
out that this resistance to the transfer from Kedah Malays when news of the plan was received
in the state in mid 1908 stemmed from the genuine fear that such a transfer would
automatically mean that Kedah would become another Federated Malay State - something that
was totally unacceptable to the Kedah Malays.(*¥) Ahmat points out that when news of the
plan arrived in Kedah in mid 1908 Kedah Malays immediately telegrammed a protest to
Bangkok while preparing a petition to the Siamese government against the proposed
change.(®) Frost took the view that it was unnecessary to attach any importance to these
protests and that they were certainly not indicative of any Malay preference for Siamese as
opposed to British rule.(*’) In Frost's view resistance to the transfer came only from a few
office holders who feared that the change would bring a stricter British regime which would
put an end to their lucrative ways.(’") Ahmat indicates that this was a misreading of the
situation by Frost and that, while Frost may have been partly right, he had failed to realize that
the real reason for Kedah's reluctance to accept the transfer was the genuine fear on their part
that it would automatically mean that their state became simply another Federated Malay
State.(*%)

Meadows Frost was subsequently appointed Acting Advisor to the State of Perlis.

8 Kedah Annual Report 1909, p64.

88  Ahmat, "Transition and Change", pp. 246-247.

® Ibid., p.246.

% Ibid.
o Tbid.
% Ibid., pp246-247.
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The sources have less to say on the reaction of Perlis Malays to the transfer. Meadows Frost
was subsequently appointed Acting Advisor to the state and, in his annual report for the state
for the year in which the treaty took effect, wrote of a warm Malay response to the change and
of very cordial relations between himself and the state's Malay administration:

In conclusion, I wish to record my thanks for the assistance which I have
received from H.H. the Raja, Tuan Syed Salim and the other members of the State
Council. Our relations have always been cordial and the Malay members have been
most ready to accept my advice.

It is noteworthy that at the time when the treaty was pending the Perlis people's
only anxiety was lest they should not be included among the States to be handed
over to the protection of Great Britain.(**)

Perhaps this was, indeed, the case in Perlis. However, in view of Frost's misreading of the
situation in Kedah with respect to the transfer, and his inconsistent and generally flawed
perception of the Malay elite reaction to the presence of British officers in Kedah under the
loan agreement, we do need to be wary of his assessment here.

The Kelantan and Trengganu Rebellions: 1915 and 1928.

Social tensions in the NMS arising initially from new methods of administration
and from the longer term penetration of colonial economic influences are clearly evident in
two uprisings in northeast Malaya. These risings, while short-lived and mainly localized in
their occurrence and effect, are nonetheless strongly suggestive of the way in which traumatic
changes in social relationships were occurring under the early impact of the formal British
colonial presence. Both outbreaks illustrate the release of hitherto latent tension building
under modern colonial influences. Specifically: tension between direct producers and the
colonial state making new and difficult demands on their productive wealth; and tension
between British administrations and their superiors and the Malay elite in the two states as the
latter resisted tenaciously British inroads into their wealth, power and prestige within the
Malay community.

We can also see in these conflicts an earlier manifestation of intra Malay elite
conflict as sections of the ruling class in the two states competed with each other for

advantage within the context of a much more formalized arrangement for the holding of

wealth and power within the state. We have seen that the NMS Malay ruling class had come

% Perlis Annual Report 1909, p7.
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into conflict with British authority much earlier in their efforts to protect their interests: what
is especially significant about the two risings is that they represented the first major reaction to
colonial influences at the lower echelons of NMS Malay society as the raayat reacted strongly
to British led moves to regulate their existence and especially their economic existence - as
the colonial state sought to draw on their productive wealth.

Thus, to properly understand these risings, they have to be seen in the wider context
of the effect that colonial influences, and, most immediately in causational terms, colonial
administrative influence, was having in altering the mode of existence of both rulers and ruled
in the north. While the two conflicts were complex and multi faceted central to the social
conflict in both states was the competition over the distribution of the productive wealth in the
two states. While the raayat can be seen resisting moves to siphon off their surplus, now
principally in the form of tax revenue, in order to maximize their margin above subsistence,
the state on the other hand sought to draw as much of that wealth as possible onto its own
hands in the interests of maintaining a self-sustaining state apparatus. For their part sections
of the Malay elite can be seen fighting a rear guard action against the British colonial presence
to control material wealth in the interests of their personal power and prestige. Not all the
Malay elite in the two states accepted the transfer of power as a fait accompli and sections of
the elite there can be seen acting to broadly similar effect with the raayat in an effort to defeat
specific British measures to maximize the revenue underpinning the new colonial state.

These uprisings have not been fully accounted for in the literature and much about
them remains unexplained. However, enough has been documented and interpreted in the
sources for us to get a picture of the essential causes of, and the basic pattern of events
constituting, these outbreaks.

The Kelantan Rising in 1915

The first of the two uprisings took place in the Pasir Puteh district of Kelantan in
1915. Pasir Puteh is one of seven smaller districts clustered to the north of Kelantan and
juxtaposed with the very large single district of Ulu Kelantan to the south.

Resistance in the form of a boycott against the new taxation system introduced in

Kelantan, and outlined above, had been organised in the Pasir Puteh district by To' Janggut, a
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local trader. In response to the boycott the District Officer, Che' Latiff, sent a police sergeant,
Che'Wan and several escorts to summon To'Janggut to the District Office to answer questions
relating to the boycott. To'Janggut resisted a summons and killed the sergeant when he
attempted to handcuff the rebel leader. The rebels then went into hiding and the rebellion
began in earnest when the District Officer sent six policemen to arrest To'Janggut. The rebels
launched an attack on, and sacked, Pasir Puteh town. When it was thought that these
hostilities might become more widespread troops were sent from Singapore to help contain
the unrest. The rising ended with the shooting of To'Janggut and several of his closest
supporters in Kampong Pupoh on 24 May, 1915. At the same time, while this disturbance
was focussed in the Pasir Puteh district, there were related incidents in the nearby districts of
Pasir Mas and Ulu Kelantan as well.(**)

While the rising was localized and did not amount to a general popular uprising
against the British colonial administration this limitation should not be overstated. Three out
of the seven districts on the state's populous coastal plain were involved and the colonial
authorities in the state at the time deemed it necessary to adopt strategies to stop the spread of
rebellious discontent within the three districts - something which implied that the potential for
a spread of the disturbances existed. One such strategy entailed the calculated placement of
an armed force within Ulu Kelantan as a deterrent to any spread of the rebellion. In the words
of the state's 1918 annual report:

On news of the riot being received, the District Officer with a body of European
volunteers and some Sikhs...and Javanese...marched down to near Kamuning,
where the paths that connect Pasir Puteh district with Ulu Kelantan meet. The
presence of this armed body did much to restore the confidence of the raiat and
prevented To'Janggut's chief of staff, Paia, from obtaining more than a few recruits
from neighbouring Kengs.(*)

Clearly the British fear here was that the rebellion would spread to the expansive Ulu
Kelantan district. By implication it is clear that the British thought that the potential

grievances for rebellion may be located in the southernmost district as well.

In broad terms the reason for the raayat involvement in this uprising is easily seen

%  Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p. 247.

There does not seem to be much information in the sources on the related incidents.

9 Kelantan Annual Report 1915, p2.



357
in the sources. Mahmood makes it clear that the peasantry in Pasir Puteh were reacting to the
new method of taxation whereby a fixed land rent replace the produce taxes that had hitherto
been collected.(*) What is not clear from Mahmood's account is the precise nature of peasant
objection to the new land tax. According to Mahmood “the substitution in 1915 of a fixed and
limited land rent...in lieu of produce taxes would not necessarily [have amounted] to more
than a marginal increase'.(*’) Mahmood seems to be following the stock response of British
administrators to peasant resistance - that it can be explained away largely in terms of their
ideological reactions to colonial rule, a reaction which was seen largely in terms of their
backwardness and a lack of initiative in bettering their own position in society. For his
information on the subject Mahmood relies on “the Kelantan state papers and other Malay
materials, on the contemporary accounts of the rising of both Langham-Carter, the Advisor in
Kelantan at the time and the official primarily responsible for the introduction of the tax, and
his assistant, R.J. Farrer'.(**) Mahmood cites Farrer on the subject with implicit approval.
Accounting for the reasons for raayat resistance in Pasir Puteh Farrer wrote:

The local Malay is first and last an agriculturalist. The land system is the
framework about which are built his custom, his habit and his life itself. He shares
with the peasantry of every other land on earth an affection for the ills he has in
preference to others he knows not of. It is obvious that any attempt to change in the
twinkling of an eye the system to which he is accustomed into an entirely new
system (whatever its theoretical excellence) would arouse sullen and determined
opposition.(*)
Now while such rationalizations to the effect that the British policy served raayat
interests and that the latter did not know what was good for them served to salve the British
humanitarian conscience against contrary indications of real hardship in raayat grievances.

Mahmood seems to have taken Langham-Carter's claim that the new tax system should

produce “a steady, if not very rapid, improvement in the land revenue' as indicating minimal

% Mahmood, "To' Janggut Rebellion", pp72,73.
7 Tbid,, p73.
% Mahmood, "To'Janggut Rebellion", pp. 62,72,73.

% (Cited in Mahmood, "To' Janggut Rebellion", p.73.
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hardship for the raayat. Still on the basis of Langham-Carter Mahmood continues: "As such,
the new system was, in the last analysis, an added burden on the people as a whole, although
in some ways a marginal one.(**”) Mahmood seems to have missed what Allen picked up
researching the rising on the basis of then recently released Colonial Office documents that
Langham-Carter's version of the rising was not trusted by Sir Arthur Young, Governor of the
Straits Settlements and Commissioner of the Federated Malay States at the time of the
rising.(**")

Kessler on the other hand sees a stronger measure of a objective hardship in the
peasant response to the new land system in Kelantan in 1915 - a hardship arising not only
from the imposition of the tax, but from a wider set of pressures that had been building on the
raayat with the intrusion of colonial economic forces in the nineteenth century, and under the
Graham and British regimes imposed in the twentieth.(**)

Neither Allen, Kessler or Mahmood, while agreeing that the new tax was the most
proximate cause - the trigger - for the rising, are able to assist our understanding to any great
extent on how the raayat's objective circumstances were altered by the tax. Mahmood, as we
have seen, relies on an ideological explanation, accepting the statements of Langham-Carter
and Farrer discounting any serious degree of objective economic hardship for the raayat. He

relies instead on Farrer's claim that the raayat were set in their customary ways and were

190 Thid., p.72.

101 Allen points out that Governor Sir Arthur Young did not have a very high opinion of
Langham Carter and that therefore Singapore asked first Farrer, and then the Acting Colonial
Secretary, to enquire further into the rising initially reported by Langham-Carter. According
to Allen " [b]oth Farrer and Maxwell confirmed - what Langham-Carter denied - that the new
tax system was a major cause of the trouble and that it had not been adequately explained'.

Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p.246.
Young's concern may have been, Allen continues, that Langham-Carter was playing the
incident down, or that he, Langham-Carter, *ha[d] inventing a number of other, unnecessary

causes for what occurred in order to exonerate himself of blame for introducing the new tax
without explaining it properly'.

Ibid. Tense altered.

102 ¥ essler, Islam and Politcs, pp.63-68.

Kessler's description of the intensification of Kelantanese agriculture and the hardship this
caused the state's peasantry is referred to in chapter 5 above.
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simply being reactionary by nature and custom in opposing the tax. Allen does address the
issue of objective hardship partially but only to cast doubt on the contemporary claims of
colonial officials that a bad rice harvest alone in combination with the tax introduction in
1915 caused significant hardship for the state's peasantry.('*®) In arguing the possibility that
the rising was a popular one he focusses, not on the effect of the tax in motivating direct
producers to join the rising, but rather on the motives and behaviour of the local leadership as
an indication that the impetus for resistance came from nearer the bottom rather than the top
of Kelantanese society.(***)

Kessler, in arguing that very general proposition that ‘the widespread opposition' to
the new land scheme “found expression in the Pasir Puteh rebellion, motivated by a profound
resentment of the pressures upon the peasantry that the new regime [ie the British regime] had
suddenly intensified', does not closely examine the particular grievances engendered by the
new land system. He focusses instead upon the more general pressures affecting the
Kelantanese peasantry as a result of colonial influences.('*)

Nonetheless, we do need to know more about the specifics of the implementation of
the tax in its effect on the raayat in the districts where outbreaks occurred in order to
understand the motivations of the followers in the rising, and to more effectively gauge the
degree and extent to which the rising was indicative of a wider grass roots reaction to the new
administrative measures that came with the British supremacy in the state. In particular, we
need answers to several important questions: What were the purely local factors operating to
make the raayat reactive at the time of the introduction of the new tax system? How was the
new tax collected - solely in cash or in both kind and cash? Were the methods of collection

more systematic and rigorous than taxes previously collected ?

103 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", pp.244,245.
104 Thid., pp.252-254.

105 K essler, Islam and Politics, p.68.

Kessler develops his account of the more general pressures affecting the Kelantanese
peasantry on pages 63-68 of his book.

359



360
Allen seeks to discount the notion that the rising was ‘little more than a tax riot'. In
so doing he is sceptical of British claims in despatches to London that a bad harvest and
falling copra prices were significant factors in explaining the strong adverse peasant reaction

to the tax in 1915. Paraphrasing Young on the sequence of events Allen states:

The normal tax hitherto in the State had been a produce-tax. Thus unused land
was not taxed and in a bad year the tax-burden was automatically lower. This had
recently been relaced by a land-tax which had the advantage that it was much easier
to work efficiently and that it provided a constant amount of revenue annually; but
it was conceded that it might result in some hardship in a bad year. It looked as if it
had been a bad year: the price of copra had fallen and padi-harvests were said to
have been poor. This had led to disturbances in one of the outlying districts, Pasir
Puteh,...("®®)
On the basis of Graham's book on Kelantan Allen puts forward the view that “while it was true
that unused land was untaxed, padi-land at least was taxed by acreage.'('”’) Allen argues that,
since “most of the population lived by growing rice', and given Graham's suggestion that padi-
land was already taxed, ‘it is hard to see why bad rice harvests should have led to hardship
only as a result of the latest tax reform'(%)

Allen makes it clear that his article is hypothetical in its approach and not meant to
be definitive on the subject of the rising. Certainly his tentative conclusions on the role of the
new land tax as a cause of the rising warrant closer scrutiny. For example, while Allen's tone

in the passage quoted above implies strong doubt as to the veracity of the bad harvest claim in

the Young correspondence, evidence in the primary sources not cited by Allen does indicate at

196 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", pp.244,245.

197 The book written by W.A. Graham, the British national who was Siamese Advisor to
the state from 1902 and whose reforming activity as a state administrator is referred to in
chapter 5 above.

Ibid., p.244.

198 Thid., p.245.

Allen adds the qualification, ... unless, of course, it had previously been possible to pay one's
tax the following year, in which case one could make up for a bad harvest by planting less for
the next harvest and so paying less tax'. Ibid.

Still, this possibility seems hardly relevant, it could be argued, since by planting
less the raayat would earn less and so any compensatory effect would be lost.
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least a partial failure of the rice crop in the Pasir Puteh district in 1915. According to Farrer in
his 1915 annual report for the state as Acting Advisor, while the padi crop for the state as a
whole was “an average one' it was, "[i]n parts of the Pasir Puteh district...a partial failure.'('®)

Allen's suggestion that rice land was being taxed under Graham, and that the 1915
Jand scheme did not add substantially to the economic burden of the Kelantanese peasantry,
also needs closer examination. While it is true that Graham does seem to indicate that there
was a scheme in operation in the state in 1908 whereby padi land was taxed by acreage, that
suggestion is extremely vague and ambiguous, and no details of any such system of padi land
taxation are given by him.(*'®) A better interpretation, I suggest, of what Graham was saying
in his book is that it was the preliminaries to the new taxation process only that were being
implemented in the state in 1908. Certainly this early implementation was enough to have an
effect on the peasantry. Graham refers to “some uneasiness in the peasant mind' over the
introduction of the new scheme. However, it is also clear from Graham that this uneasiness
was focussed on the *future intentions of the Government' rather than on any policy actually
being implemented at the time.(""") The point that Graham was making in this passage was
that the three years preceding 1908 had "seen a great rise in the value of rice land', a rise which
had been “temporarily checked, in some degree, by the recent introduction of a graduated tax
on such lands' and that it was the assessment of this tax, and the land measurement that went
with it, that had set up the uneasiness in the mind of the peasants subjected to it.(''?) Graham
also makes clear in his land chapter that the systematization of land tenure in the statein a
more genetal sense was by no means complete in 1908. It is difficult to see how a

comprehensive system of padi land taxation could have been in operation without the secure

19 K elantan Annual Report 1915, p.4. CO 827/1.

110 Graham, Kelantan, p.74.
M Tbid.

12 Thid.
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basis of properly working formal system of land tenure across the state.('™®)
It is clear from the state's annual reports for this period it was not until well after

Graham's time that a determined effort was being made to implement a comprehensive land
tax scheme. While it was not until 1915 that a Land Enactment for the implementation of a
land tax was put in place, Langham-Carter reported - and there seems no reason to disbelieve
him on this -that the enactment was in the planning stages in the years leading up to that of the
rising, and that in those years steps were clearly under way for the partial implementation of
such a tax on a less formal basis.

In his annual report for the state for 1913 Langham-Carter wrote:

Both in 1912 and 1913 attempts were made to complete a Land Enactment under
which titles could systematically be issued, and rents and fees be systematically
collected... [TThe embryo of such an Enactment has taken the form of a notice: and
under it, in 1915, serious work should be done to secure the reimbursement of some
of the heavy charges the State is incurring for survey.(''")

While it had not been possible, Langham-Carter stated in the same report, "to present to the
Council a comprehensive Land Enactment’, the ‘framework of one, carrying the main
principle of fixed rent and in the form of a notice, engaged a great deal of attention at the end
of the year.'(*'*) As we shall see in more detail below, the moves to adopt “the principle of the
substitution of fixed rents for produce taxes' stemmed from an urgent desire on the part of
British officials in the state to have the state pay its way, and a degree of haste in imposing the

system of land taxation on the state before the wider system of land tenure had been

systematized can be perceived in the annual reports for Kelantan in the years leading up to,

113 Graham refers to the activities of a commission set up by the Sultan of Kelantan in 1899
‘to inquire into the tenure of land already alienated by the State, with a view to the compulsory
issue of deeds to all land holders'. The Commission, Graham pointed out, had been
performing its task imperfectly and had been hampered by corrupt and perfunctory practices.
Looking to the future, Graham observed: ‘It now devolves upon a reorganized Land Office to
adjust, as far as may be possible, the errors of former days, and at the same time to continue in
accordance with the original method, but without the accompanying corruption, the issue of
deeds to cover the remainder of the occupied land in the state'.

Ibid., pp.93,94.

114 Kelantan Annual Report 1913, p.2. CO827/1.

13 Tbid.
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and including, 1915.("'%)

In 1913, for example, in Pasir Puteh, Langham-Carter reported "the imposition of
fixed rents on applications [for land] received about or after the middle of the year.'("")
Langham-Carter claimed that this imposition, in the view of the Pasir Puteh District Officer,
“seemed acceptable to the people’ and that this same officer looked forward “to its extension in
and from 1915 to all alienated lands'.(*'®) Langham-Carter added cryptically: 'In Pasir Puteh,
as in other land offices, the produce taxes find no favour'.(*'’) While the comment seems
intended to imply a comparison in the minds of the district's landholders that a fixed land rent
was preferable to the produce tax, no evidence is offered for this, and a general dislike of
taxes of any kind on the part of these producers seems a more likely interpretation of their
reaction to produce taxes. We can see in it some hint of the rising to come - a hint that did not
register with Langham-Carter.

Clearly, then, in the years immediately prior to 1915, the colonial administration in
Kelantan was working towards, but not fully implementing, the new fixed land rent system
and the scheme remained largely in the proposal stage until the year of the rising. While
effecting some limited collection of land rent the state's administration was also directing its
effort at paving the way for the wider adoption of the new scheme by systematizing the state's
land tenure. It was a task which was clearly difficult for the administrators and its effect must
have been to increase the kind of tension between producers and administrators arising
initially from earlier changes to the land system under Graham, and hinted at by him in his
1908 book on Kelantan. In his 1913 report Langham-Carter referred to the "present rough and

ready methods' being used to organize land tenure in the state and complained of the *want of

116 Tbid.
17 Tbid., p.4.
12 Tbid.

9 Tbid.
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development of the land system' in Kelantan.('*°) In 1914, too, the new taxation system
remained stalled by the irregularities in the land system. In his report for that year Langham-
Carter wrote that ‘it was hoped that during the whole of the year under review the new land
system (substitution of fixed rent for payment of produce taxes) would have been in operation'
but that the system "could not be put into regular operation during the year.'("*") One of the
problems producing a serious short fall in land revenue was the ‘numerous serious cases of
dishonesty on the part of collectors'.(***) This same report gives the clear impression that in
the year before the rising the colonial administration was rushing ahead with the fixed land
rent principle before the general establishment of a modern system of land tenure in the state.
In the report the Superintendent of Lands is cited as believing that increases in land revenue
could be expected “as the issue of titles facilitate[d] the application of the fixed rent
principle.'('*®) There can be no doubting that a special effort was being made to maximize the
state's land revenue in 1914 on a strategy of increasing the amount of produce tax collected
while at the same time pushing the state as far as possible towards a comprehensive system of
land taxation. In congratulatory tone Langham-Carter wrote of an increase in collections in
that year over that of the year previous in Ulu Kelantan (a $2000 increase) and Pasir Puteh (a

nearly $5000 increase).(**) Of the Pasir Puteh increase Langham-Carter wrote:

...the more important items of revenue [-] produce taxes [and] land rents
recurrent [-] showed useful increases, and it is particularly creditable that these
rents should in one year (and before the general adoption of the principle of fixed
rents) have risen to over $700 from native holdings, all applications for State land
being accepted on this basis and thereby preparing the way for an extension of the
principle to occupied lands.('**)

120 Kelantan Annual Report 1913, p.3. CO827/1.

121

Kelantan Annual Report 1914, p.1.
122 Thid.

12 Thid., p.5.

124 Ibid.

1 Tbid.
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Thus, while Allen is right to widen the focus away from the land taxation scheme
of 1915 as a cause of the rising to encompass other factors as well it is important at the same
time not to underestimate the very likely strong effect of taxation - both produce and land
taxation - on the peasantry in the rebellious districts and we must approach Allen's denial that
land taxation was a novelty in Kelantan in 1915 on the basis of Graham with caution.

The outbreak of violent protest was, in Pasir Puteh, certainly ferocious in its
intensity. In his annual report for the state for 1915 Farrer wrote that ‘anarchy reigned' and
that the "district was almost deserted' at the height of the disturbance and that the districts land
tax records were destroyed in the protest.(**) It seems reasonable to ask then, in the absence
of any more general outbreak of resistance, what local factors were operating to produce such
a strong reaction in the three districts to the new land tax scheme.

We might postulate for example, that the collection of produce tax, and the
introduction of the new land tax scheme, was being implemented in the three districts with
more vigour than in the other districts in the states. Or at least the implementation of these
taxes was felt more strongly in these districts.

There is some evidence in the sources to suggest that the implementation was more
vigorous in the three districts. Both Pasir Puteh and Ulu Kelantan districts are given some
prominence in the years leading up to and including 1915, both in terms of their economic and
social progress generally, and in terms of their land development. Both districts are dealt with
separately in the annual reports.(*’) The state's annual report for 1914 indicated that, for the
purposes of land administration, Kelantan was divided into “the Central District under the
superintendent of Lands, and Hulu Kelantan and Pasir Puteh under District Officers'. The
separation of the two districts from the remaining six in the state in this way carries an
appearance that they were seen as being unique in some way by the British. This emphasis

also suggests, in appearance at least, that the two districts were more important than the

126 K elantan Annual Report 1915, pp.13,7.

127 Specifically the state's 1913, 1914 and 1915 annual reports.
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others. In particular, it implies their considerable importance in the organization of land tenure
within the state.(?®) It is also clear from the discussion above that, while the new tax scheme
may have been “little more than a proposal' by 1915, it was the two districts - Pasir Puteh and
Ulu Kelantan - that were the focus for the state's tax drive and bore the brunt not only of
intensified produce tax collection, but efforts to phase in the new land tax scheme as well.
Both districts were, as we have seen, singled out in the state's annual reportage as valuable
sources of produce tax revenue. In line with this the state's 1914 annual report for example,
praised “the achievement of Pasir Puteh's favourable results' in the collection of agricultural
revenue for that year and observed that in the achievement of these results "the issue of
revenue notices was nearly trebled'.('**”) As we have seen above, up until the time of the rising
the colonial administration was stepping up on its revenue collection and relying heavily on
produce taxes to maintain revenue while at the same time, with only limited success,
endeavouring to phase in taxation of land and seeking to implement into existence a wider
framework of a modern land tenurial system upon which a comprehensive system of land

taxation would be based.("*°) Thus, the state's report for 1915 observed: 'The scheme

122 Kelantan Annual Report 1914, p.4. CO827/1.
9 [bid., p.5.

130 The 1914 annual report to the state makes clear the very heavy reliance of the state on
produce taxes and indicates that the administration looked forward to the substitution “in 1915
and onwards of fixed rent for the ... produce taxes' a substitution which, it was thought, would
produce ‘a steady, if not very rapid, improvement in the land revenue'. In the table of figures
given below we can read not only a steadily increasing pressure on the state's peasants to pay
produce tax, but also the heavy reliance by the state on padi tax - a tax clearly aimed at, and
affecting in varying degrees, the bulk of the state's population in their main area of productive
activity - that of rice growing, in the four years prior to the rising. It is clear from the report
that the table refers to produce taxes only.

1911 1912 1913 1914
$ ¢ $ ¢ $ ¢ $ ¢
Padi tax 36,071.57 46,166.33 52,847.74 53,996.02
Coconut tax 11,649.45 14,422.10 15,169.80 16,481.37
Durien tax 5,686.91 7,183.18 7,343.12 7,719.93
Sireh tax 1,650.20 1,255.49 1,044.14 545.99
Total 55,058.13 69,027.10 76,404.80 78,743.31

Kelantan Annual Report 1914, p. 4.
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mentioned in the Annual Report for 1914 whereby land rent would be substituted for produce
taxes from the beginning of 1915 has so far proved little more than a proposal’.(**")

There is evidence that the early implementation of the new land tax scheme was
causing tension within the peasantry, both across the state in general and in some localities
more than in others. In Ulu Kelantan the tension arising from the implementation of the
scheme may well have leant the volatility within the district's rural population which saw it
involved in the “related incidents' to the Pasir Puteh rising referred to above. The 1915 annual
report for the state makes a comparison between the land administration in Kota Bahru and
that in Ulu Kelantan which tends to suggest that this was the case. According to the report the
implementation of the new land tax scheme in Kota Bahru was being frustrated by "a
reluctance to pay for extracts from the Register and dislike of the idea of paying rent on fallow
land' and that this disinclination saw the peasants of that district resorting to ‘formal trial in
the Kota Bahru Land Office' - action that was followed “almost invariably by appeal first to
the High Court and afterwards to... His Highness the Sultan'.(**?) Ulu Kelantan, by contrast,
presented ‘a much simpler problem'. There, the report continued, the land was "of
comparatively recent occupation' and its ownership was therefore “better known, the area
under occupation infinitely smaller, and, where disputes [arose], a personal visit by the
District Officer [established] the true facts far more certainly and speedily than was the case in
Kota Bahru'.(**) The report, then, focussed on an unevenness in response to the land tax in
terms of its manageability from the British point of view: strongly problematic resistance in
Khota Bahru; less problematic resistance in Ulu Kelantan. The report doesn’t comment
directly on the relative strength of resistance in the two districts: its focus is on the greater
ease with which resistance was handled in Ulu Kelantan in comparison with such handling in
Khota Bahru. What is important for us here is the fact that the British recorded resistance to

the new scheme in both districts. We can surmise from the report that it was not so much that

131 Kelantan Annual Report 1915, p.4. CO 827/1.

132 Kelantan Annual Report 1915, pp.6,7.

133 Ibid. Tense altered
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there was less resistance to colonial land policies in the up river district but that the British
land administration was able to cope more effectively with it. Whether the resistance in Ulu
Kelantan was more or less than in Khota Bahru, it was resistance nonetheless and the report
must count as evidence of a degree of active opposition to the new land tax in this contentious
district. Ironically, the greater ease of collection in the upriver district may have actually added
to the burden of the peasantry there though the report does not say this.

The annual reports for Kelantan in the years leading up to and including 1915 give
few clues as to the response of the Malay peasantry to British land policies. Perhaps this is
because it was in the career interests of the on-the-spot British administrators to convey an
impression of viability in the working of these policies. Such viability would be seen in
Whitehall as depending on a sufficient degree of cooperation on the part of the peasantry in
working with colonial land authority to make the new policies work. Likewise, the suggestion
of peasant “uneasiness' at the land measurement and tax assessment measures referred to by
Graham in his book may well have understated the true peasant response to this aspect of his
administration in the first decade of this century.

Similarly, Langham-Carter's claim of efficiency in the administration of the land
tax in Ulu Kelantan in 1914 does no more than imply a degree of resistance to the policy in
that district. In similar vein his account of the implementation of land policies in Pasir Puteh,
the most contentious district of all, carry only a vague suggestion of Malay peasant resistance
to the stronger drive for revenue collection prior to the 1915 rising. For example his annual
report for 1912 acknowledges certain difficulties in the progress of the district in that year but
without addressing squarely the topic of peasant reactions to colonial policy in the district. In
that report he referred, as we have seen in chapter 5 above, to a “falling off in the applications
for padi land of from 1280 to 320 acres, a decrease of some $1300 in the padi-tax collected, a
failure in the crop and consequeﬁt rise in price of from 6 to 16 cents a gantang), the dying off
of the districts sireh vines and the need to import sireh and rice from Siam and a "very large

apparent increase in crime' in the district.(**) No conclusions are drawn in the passage on the

134 ¥ elantan Annual Report 1912, p.3. See also chapter 5 above.

For example, the report seems concerned to downplay any real suggestion of inordinate
crime in Pasir Puteh. The District Officer, according to the report, explained the apparent
increase in crime ‘as being due rather to a new system of case-numbering than to increased
energy on the part of his people'.

Kelantan Annual Report 1912, p.3.
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receptivity or otherwise of the district's producers to colonial policies and we are left in the
dark on whether, for example, there was an increase in crime in the form of civil disorder
arising from the implementation of colonial policies and whether the decrease in padi tax
collections resulted from producers were defaulting on the payment of this tax. We can,
perhaps, with hindsight read in this passage the vague outlines of brewing civil disorder
focussing upon rural hardship caused by crop failure and increasing pressure to pay produce
tax to the state, but not with any certainty since no detailed description is given of the peasant
responses. If the increase in crime were real rather than apparent the juxtaposition in the
report may indicate a connection between the crime increase and the problems in agriculture
and its administration. No such connection is explored in the report. There is no reference,
for example, to the nature of the crime recorded and we can only speculate that it took the
form of minor civil unrest connected with the agricultural problems after the manner of that
which occurred in the district some three years later.

The colonial sources make little or no reference to the capacity of the peasants in
Kelantan to pay rent in the way that colonial administrators wanted and we therefore have
little or no idea of what precise effect the drive to maximize taxation revenue was having on
them in their domestic productive sphere. The implicit assumption on the part of the state's
top administrators seems to have been that they did have the wherewithal to pay the tax and to
continue to maintain themselves as producers. But did they? Were they sufficiently
productive to pay the rent without severely undermining their standard of living? What was
the difference between produce taxes and land tax from their point of view? Was there a
situation for example where produce taxes were paid wholly or partly in kind but where land
rent had to be paid strictly in cash? The secondary sources on the rising - specifically Allen,
Kessler and Mahmood - do not address these questions squarely, perhaps because information
is lacking in the primary sources on them.

Still, there are some clues in the primary sources. Farrer, in the state's annual report

for 1915, for example, while making the point as we have seen that the new land tax scheme

We need to be wary of this qualifier since any real increase in the district's crime may
have been seen by higher ups in the colonial administration as a reflection the effectiveness of
the district Officer in running his district.
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remained, for the state as a whole, ‘little more than a proposal' in that year, also indicated that
in the district of Ulu Kelantan “the introduction of the land rent system [had] really begun,
$5922 more than in 1914 being collected'.("**) On the same page as this reference to Ulu
Kelantan the report outlines the difficulty of the state's up-country people in obtaining cash:

There can be no doubt that the native of Kelantan "eget aeris', the flocking of the
“orang darat' (up-country people) to the daily markets does not imply cash. They
bring their produce (sometimes of incredibly small value for extraordinary
distances) and sell it, and then only have the cash to buy what they require. At one
market I found a2 woman who carried 401bs of betel leaves 6 miles in order to sell it
for twice what it cost her, her gross profit, before deducting a market charge of
nearly a penny, was 121/2 cents (say 3 2 pence) with which she would buy her
luxuries before trudging home again ! (and this is not a single outstanding
case).(*%)
This suggests the kind of economic difficulty that may have been posed for producers in Ulu
Kelantan, Pasir Mas and Pasir Puteh in the years leading up to the rising. Clearly more
research is needed on the availability of cash viz-a-viz the payment of land tax in the coastal
plain districts and particularly those where there was strong resistance to the land tax.

While purely local factors as yet not fully explained in the secondary sources no
doubt triggered the incidents in the particular districts, there can be no doubt that Kessler is
right to draw attention to the broader colonial imperatives operating in the state from the time
of Graham's regime as the wider more fundamental cause of the rising. It seems likely that,
while the violence was relatively localized, discontent within the state's raayat was
widespread. As we have seen in chapter 5 above, colonial administrators in the four northern
states were, from the time of the transfer of power, under considerable pressure to organise the
states into stable and economically self-sufficient entities drawing as little as possible on the
resources of the wider colonial state in the Straits and on the peninsular. As with all the
northern states the economies lacked large scale mining and plantation enterprise on a scale
that would form an economic mainstay for the state and they relied, as we have seen, on the
revenue producing capacity of raayat producers instead. Such concerns were clearly
uppermost in the minds of Kelantan's administrators in the years leading up to and including
1915. The 1915 annual report for the state for example commented on the difficulties of

developing a tin industry in Ulu Kelantan:

The finding of good tin in Ulu Kelantan has been many times reported, but the

135 K elantan Annual Report 1915, p. 2,4. Tense altered.

136 K elantan Annual Report 1915, p.2. CO827/1.
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difficulties and expense of transport are such that nothing less than fabulous values
will tempt the capitalist to venture his capital, or provide him with a certain

profit.(**")
This comment is clearly linked with the need to balance the state's liabilities and assets - at
that time out of balance to a figure of $3,416,426 liabilities in excess of assets.(**®)

Accordingly, the very heavy reliance of the Kelantan administration on land
revenue in 1915 is very clear from the state's report for that year. In that report Farrer makes
clear that he “dealt at considerable length with land administration [ie in the report] because
the question [was] undoubtedly the most important of all Kelantan problems.'('””) Land
revenue, along with that derived from Customs and Licences, were by far the most important
sources of income revenue for the state in that year. A table in the 1915 report itemizing the

states income for 1915 clearly illustrates in state budgetary terms the importance of land and

land owners as a main prop to the state and its administration in that year:

Comparative Statement of Kelantan Revenue for the year 1915
Heads of revenue/ Estimate / Revenue/ Revenue / Increase/ Decrease

1915 1915 1914

$ $ c $ c $ ¢ $ ¢

Land revenue 132,610 128,110.29  138,049.88 9,939.59
Customs 201,700 159,784.97  182,843.53 23,058.56
Port Dues 3,500 2.627.69 3,372.07 744.38
Licenses, 256,376  314,000.00 348,818.68 34,818.68
Exise, etc
Fees of Court, etc.138,565 24.432.15 32,628.21 8,196.06
Posts and 34,800 26,260.12 25,095.28 1,164.84
Telegraphs
Interest 1,565 2,177.73 1,767.09 410.64
Miscellaneous 650 2,900.575 697.22 2,203.355
Receipts
Municipal 25,158 27,109.92 25,386.14 1,723.78
Land Sales 3,650 5,153.50 4,114.00 1,039.50
Total 698,574 692,556.945 762,772.10 70,215.155

137 K elantan Annual Report 1915, p.4.

See also page 2 of the same report for a comment on the uncertain timing of the future
development of the state's mineral resources.

138 Ibid.
139 Ibid., p.6. Tense altered.

10 Thid., Appendix A, p iii.
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The table shows that land revenue collected was significantly less in 1915 than it
was in 1914 and that the 1915 land revenue figure was less than expected. While the report has
little to say directly on the operation of the land tax scheme in relation to the rising it does
express strong disappointment that the scheme failed to produce more revenue than it did.(**")
Indeed, the report makes it clear that the shortfall in anticipated revenue was due largely to the
failure of the new scheme.('*?) The point, then, is that we can see in the expectation indicated
in the table and elsewhere in the report that land revenue would increase through the vigorous
and effective implementation of the land tax, the way in which the broad urgently felt need to
balance the state budget was having the effect of putting strong pressure on the state's
landowning producers.

The British administration in Kelantan, then, in the years leading up to the rising,
took very seriously their reliance on the state's small producers as the main providers of statc
revenue and were, as a matter or urgency, working out methods of tapping into this source of
state wealth. While as we have seen, there was an uncertain belief in the eventual emergence
of alternative sources of state wealth - in the development of the state's mineral resources for
example - they seem, in the years around 1915, to have accepted that state reliance on raayat
productivity would continue indefinitely into the future. In 1914 Langham-Carter wrote,
‘Kelantan's great asset is its large number of small holders.".(***)

The problem for the state's administrators was, then, how best to tap this asset in
support of the state and they were clearly frustrated in their efforts to find an effective way of
doing this. Speaking of the state's need in 1914 to recoup on its liabilities and the practical
difficulties in so doing Langham-Carter wrote:

Remembering that at present Kelantan is a purely agricultural State with its land system
and agricultural interests even [ever?] hampered by enforced economy of expenditure it

does not seem possible to indicate any method of early redemption of these
liabilities.(**)

141 Thid., p.1.

12 Ibid.

143

Kelantan Annual Report 1914, p.2.

14 Tbid.
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We have seen above that the British administration had, in the years leading
up to 1915 in Kelantan, proceeded too quickly with their measures to draw revenue
from the state's landholders.('*’) Farrer's administration drew a lesson from the rising
and took steps to ensure a more continuous, measured, approach to land issues in its
wake. In 1915 the State Council included on its agenda an *[a]mendment of the Land
Rents Rules in the direction of lightening the cost to the raiats of putting the State's
house in order'.(**¢) Clearly the 1915 administration had been shocked into the
realization that, while policies aimed at drawing productive wealth from the state's
smallholders were necessary, those policies needed to be implemented in a way which
stopped short of alienating the population from whom the wealth was to be drawn.

Clearly, then, the implementation of the new land system was a gradual and
difficult process for the British administration in Kelantan in the years spanning 1915. Here
and there in the reports we are allowed more direct glimpses of the nature of the practical
difficulties, though Farrer seems to have continued the tendency of Langham-Carter (and for
that matter, as we have seen, colonial administrators in the four states in general) to understate
the difficulties encountered in implementing the new system. In his 1916 report Farrer
referred to ‘one obstacle to the keeping of [land] records up-to-date’. That obstacle was "the

inveterate habit of the Kelantanese of transferring [their] property by word of mouth' - an

14 Albeit misconstruing the way in which the too rapid introduction of the land rent system
was creating hardship for the peasantry as I have indicated in this chapter above.

146

Kelantan Annual Report 1915, p.S8.

The amendment was one of a number of subjects dealt with in the 31 Orders in Council. The
report indicates that State Council met 12 times in the year though we are not told when in the
year these meetings were held, nor in which meeting the amendment was dealt with. Since
the uprising was early in the year, and given, as we have seen in the text of this chapter above,
Farrer's concern after the meeting to tread carefully with changes to the land system in the
light of the peasants' strong natural and customary attachment to the land, it seems likely that
the amendment post dated the rising.
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obstacle which was beyond the reach of any remedial legislative action because “custom is
stronger than law'.(**")

Some further measure of peasant resistance to the new land scheme can be seen in
the fact that in 1919, some four years or more after the scheme “had begun in earnest', it had
still not been fully implemented across the state as a whole. In Pasir Puteh the system had
been thrown into disarray by the rising and it was not until 1919 that the whole district came
effectively under the fixed rent system.(***) In that year the districts of Kota Bharu and Ulu
Kelantan were still not completely under the “permanent rent system'.(**) In 1919 there was
continued manifest resistance to the scheme from the state's producers. In Kota Bahru in 1914
for example, where the transition to the new land tax scheme was incomplete and where both
land and produce taxes were being levied, over 6000 summonses were issued for the non-
payment of land rent and 4000 for the non-payment of produce tax.(**)

It will be clear from the above, then, that the role of colonial taxation policies as a
cause of the Kelantan Rising has to some extent been misunderstood in the secondary sources.
Mahmood indicates that the Pasir Puteh peasantry were triggered into violent resistance by the
sudden introduction of a land rent system which caused marginal objective hardship for them
but which made them rebellious by running against their customs and inclination in land use.
Allen underestimates the degree of objective hardship to the peasantry caused by the tax in a
different way arguing that padi land was already being taxed at the time of the rising and
implying that we therefore need to look more to other causes for their reaction - causes not
specified by him.

The state's annual reports for the years spanning 1915 suggest, however, that the truth lies
somewhere between the assertions of Mahmood and the tentative conclusions drawn by Allen.

The reports lend credence to Kessler's claim that the state's peasantry had been coming under

147 _Kelantan Annual Report 1916.

148 Kelantan Annual Report 1919, p.5. CO827/1.

49 Thid., p.6, 8.

150 Thid., p.7.
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increasingly strong pressure from the time of Graham to furnish the state with revenue. While
the precise nature and effect of this pressure is not clear from the reports it seems reasonable
to assume that a more general and determined effort on the part of the Kelantan administration
to maximize taxation revenue was creating strong objective hardship for them and it was this
hardship which made them, as we shall see below, susceptible to the appeals of local leaders
drawing them into revolt against the colonial state. Since it is clear from these reports that the
land taxation system remained “little more than a proposal' in 1915 we must assume that it
was the switch from a situation where, as we have seen in chapter 5 above, the state's
population was subjected to “erratically collected produce taxes' to one in which there was an
increasingly systematic rigorous and more general collection of produce tax, and to a limited
but increasing extent land tax, that engendered a high degree of tension between the state's
administrators and producers and which was one essential cause of the rising in Pasir Puteh
and the incidents in Ulu Kelantan and Pasir Mas. Since there was no general rising of the
state's raayat we must assume also that locally operating factor's triggered the resistance in the
three districts: in Pasir Puteh the likelihood is that it was the more determined effort to step up
the implementation of the land tax system coupled with a partial crop failure which acted as a
trigger inflaming the district's producers to a high pitch of tension - a tension that was
focussed by the local leadership as we shall see below, in a concerted act of retaliation against
local colonial authority.

Mahood makes it clear that the rising in Pasir Puteh, at least, was not only the
product of the hardship being experienced by raayat producers but stemmed also from the
disaffection of traditional local leadership as well. Thus, the rising is to be accounted for in
large measure in terms of the resentment of Engku Besar, a former district chief in Pasir Puteh
district, whose economic and political position had been undermined with the coming of the
Graham regime in 1902. According to Mahmood, Engku Besar had, before Graham's regime,
“enjoyed the undivided loyalty of the people in and around Jeram, a settlement and

surrounding area about three-and-a-half miles from Pasir Puteh town.'(*®") It was, Mahmood

131 Mahmood, "To'Janggut Rebellion", p.65.
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continues, ‘in reaction to the dislocation of his power after the District Office had been
established, that Engku Besar instigated To'Janggut and others to stir the local inhabitants into
defying the authorities'.(*?) In other words Engku Besar was dislodged from his position of
power and status in the same kind of way that the NMS Malay leadership in general was
undermined with the coming of a formal British presence in the north. With the installation of
a District Office and District Officer Engku Besar was unable to draw wealth from the raayat
as he had in the past: instead it was the District Officer who drew revenue - the source of
power, “and the proof and purpose of political authority' in a Malay state.’”® With this
economic basis of power undercut Engku Besar lost status and power and was provoked into a
spirit of defiance against British authority in the state. In Mahmood's words:

Like his predecessors, Engku Besar, as a territorial chief, and the
aristocrats who surrounded him, enjoyed the allegiance of the people in and
around Jeram. He drew his income mainly from taxes levied on the produce
of and goods traded in the area. Right from the beginning, the district had
been a source of personal revenue and benefit to a territorial chief, just as the
state had been similarly regarded by the ruling class as a whole. This concept
was not one easily surrendered. It was looked upon as a right hallowed by
tradition, and any change which denied the chief this right would certainly
provoke defiance.(**")

But the reaction of the Kelantanese ruling group against the British intrusion may
have had wider expression in 1915. Allen speculates that the rising may have resulted from
“an anti-British move, to replace the Ruler by one of his uncles'.(**®) Allen further suggests
that it may have been that “the Ruler himself was, by 1915, heartily tired of British rule and
prepared to join his relatives in a revolt against it if such a revolt looked like succeeding'.(**°)
We can perhaps read in this the possibility that the rising was in part an expression of elite

resistance to British moves to undercut their traditional status and power by robbing them of

their ability to draw wealth from their subjects and by other means. Such resistance may, as

132 Thid.

153 The phrasing used by Sutherland.
Sutherland, "Trengganu Elite", pp. 37, 38.

154 Mahmood, "To' Janggut Rebellion", p. 67.

155 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p. 251.

1% Ibid.
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Allen suggests, have taken an opportunistic turn, with one section of the upper elite seeking to
oust another British-backed section of the elite with a view, presumably, of establishing its
supremacy within the new British dominated status quo. Still, the evidence forwarded by
Allen is slender, and his conclusions speculative, and we must reserve judgement on the
subject.

What is not clear from the secondary sources on the subject is the extent to which
the grievances of the raayat were given religious expression in Kelantan in 1915. Neither
Allen nor Mahmood in their accounts of the rising make it clear how the raayat grievances in
Kelantan at the time were given verbal expression. Neither Allen on the basis of Colonial
Office records, nor Mahmood on the basis of Malay materials are able to take us very far into
the minds of the Kelantanese raayat in 1915. Mahmood describes an oration by To' Janggut
on the day of the shooting of Che' Wan delivered to a crowd of people "mostly armed with
parang and kris' but is not able to enlighten us on the content of the oration.(**’) It may well
be that To' Janggut's address was couched in terms of an Islamic appeal to raayat grievances
but in the absence of any further information on the subject we can only speculate that it was.

Still, it is clear from Mahmood and Allen that the rising had some religious
overtones. To' Janggut rested his authority and prestige as the main leader of the rising on a
belief amongst his followers that he possessed certain supernatural qualities. Mahmood
reports that:

according to one source, T' Janggut possessed all the features of a brave and

intelligent man. He was well-built and about six feet tall. He had sharp brown eyes

which, it is believed, are a sign of bravery. His head was rather big and bald, and
his forehead broad, with thick eyebrows; all these are supposed to signify
intelligence, thoughtfulness and firmness. He is said to have been invulnerable and
to have boasted that he was so.(**®)

Mahmood does not elaborate on the nature and origin of this perception but it is

clear from his account that it had an Islamic aspect. That is to say, to some extent To'

Janggut's leadership, at least as it was perceived by his followers, was cut in an Islamic mould.

157 Mahmood, "To' Janggut Rebellion", pp. 73,74.

138 Thid., p. 65.
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He had made the pilgrimage to Mecca.(**®) Other evidence in the sources suggests, though
does not in itself confirm, the role of Islam as a vehicle for the expression of raayat grievances
in Kelantan in 1915. Allen speculates that the driving force behind the 1915 rising may have
been a religious leadership: "[TThe real initiators of the movement may all the same have been
the hajis and the imams - especially those in Pasir Puteh but, also some elsewhere in the state -
some of whom actually led the attack on May 23rd, 1915".(*")

Allen further suggests a link between the religious leadership of the Trengganu
rising in 1928 and the possibility of a religious leadership of the Kelantan rising of 1915. It
will be recalled that Pasir Puteh had, prior to the British presence in Kelantan, an independent
local leadership. Allen suggests that a strong share of that local leadership may have been

exercised by local religious functionaries - the imams and the hajis - a fact which may point to

a connection between the Kelantan and Trengganu risings. Speaking of the Kelantan rising,
Allen says:
Then if it is true that the rising was really led by penghulus and hajis of East

Kelantan, there are possible connections between it and...the Trengganu Rising

(also blamed on tax-reforms and also associated with a local haji who claimed

invulnerability).(*¢")

It seems, then, from the rather limited information in the sources that Islam played
some part in the manifestation of raayat grievances in the Pasir Puteh district of Kelantan,
though it would appear that it was less important, or less obviously important, in providing a
framework for the expression of local grievances than was the case in Trengganu in that states
uprising some thirteen years later. However, more thorough research on the subject is needed.

It may well be that such a closer scrutiny would reveal a nascent Islamic appeal to raayat

hardship in 1915 of the kind being given stronger party political expression in the years

159 Thid.
160 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p. 254.
161 Thid., p. 255.

Allen also suggests here that the two NMS uprisings may have been connected in this way to
the Pahang rising twenty five years prior to the Kelantan rising in 1915.
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following Independence in the NMS as a whole.(**?)
The Trengganu Rising 1928

Early in 1928 upriver Malays gathered at Kuala Brang on the Trengganu river ‘to
raise the Bendera Stambul, the red flag of war, and to march on Kuala Trengganu'.('**) The
crowd occupied the police station in Kuala Brang and then, led by To' Janggut, advanced
down river towards Kuala Trengganu.('®*) On 21 May the crowd, which was aggressive in its
mood, encountered a police relief party from the capital which opened fire. Eleven rebels
were killed, including To' Janggut.

There can be no doubt that some religious motivation was involved in the uprising.
According to Sutherland, the crowd led by To'Janggut were chanting prayers and many of
them believed themselves invulnerable.('®") However, whereas it was convenient for British
colonial observers to focus upon misguided religion as they perceived it as a major cause of
the revolt, it was religion giving expression to the local Malay desire to remedy objective
hardship created by colonial rule, specifically colonial land policy, that leant the
demonstration its fire.(**)

Sutherland points out that the “1928 "disturbance" was the culmination of tension
which had accumulated over six or seven years'.(*”) Thus the peasantry sought relief from the

permit system which had been introduced in 1921. Under the 1921 land regulation peasants in

162 For the emergence of radical Islam as a party political phenomenon see chapter 8 below.

163 Qytherland, "Trengganu Elite", p. 79.

This outline of the basic events of the rising is based on Sutherland's account, pp. 78, 79.
164 The namesake only of the leader of the 1915 Kelantan Rising.

165 Thid., p.79.

166 For an example of the British colonial interpretation of religion as a motivating factor
for the raayat in the Trengganu rising see my discussion of Bryson's account of peasant
reaction to cash taxes below.

167 utherland, "Trengganu Elite" p.79.
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Ulu Trengganu were required to take out a permit for the temporary occupation of land. This
hit the poverty stricken producers in Ulu Trengganu particularly hard since they depended
upon the clearing of forest land to plant hill rice for their subsistence and the permit system
operated to curb this activity.(***) The building of tension between outside colonial authority
and the ulu population in the years following 1921 had focussed upon a boycott of the permit
system by the upriver Malays in Trengganu.(**®) The permit system had remained in force
however, and the 1926 Land Enactment had further added to the burden of the Ulu producers.
Sutherland lists these:

[TThey had to buy permits for clearing land; they could no loner freely gather
firewood, leaves to wrap sweetmeats, or palm for thatching; their buffalo could not
graze at will; and they could not grow rice where they chose.('”°)

The Land Enactment added considerably, then, to the tension which had been
building in the Ulu area, a tension which was increasingly being given a religious expression.
Sutherland reports that in early 1928 the Ulu peasants were refusing to take out permits and
that there were rumours of an impending Holy War.('"")

Talib, in his chapter on the Trengganu rising, strongly emphasizes the longer term
build up of tension in Trengganu between direct producers and an agrarian elite in the state in
the early decades of the twentieth century as a cause of the rising.(*?) Talib, drawing upon

Gullick's social categorization of Malay society in his Indigenous Political Systems of

Western Malaya as a basis, sees Trengganu society as being divided firstly into two broad

groupings: a ruling class and a subject class.'” The Trengganu ruling class, he says, was in

turn divided into four main groups: Kerabat Diraja( royalty'); Kerabat Am( aristocracy');

168 Thid., p.73.

19 Tbid.

0 Thid., p.78.

71 Ibid.

172 Talib, Image, Chapter 6. "The 1928 Peasant Revolt". pp. 134-175.

73 Tbid., p. 10.



381
Ulama(religious scholars);and Orang Keistimewaan("court favourites').!™ Talib sees the revolt
as having an essentially anti-ruling class character being a reaction by the Trengganu
peasantry to the economic hardships being suffered by them at the hands of the Trengganu
indigenous elite and the British.('™) Thus it was their resentment at being subjected to the cap
kernia system - at being deprived of ancestral land, of being obliged to pay tithes to the new
landlords who acquired land under the system, at being denied access to land where they lived
outside the cap areas - that fired a basic resentment in the Ulu(up river) peasantry - a
resentment which was fanned by the additional restrictions on land use introduced by colonial

officials.("”) In arguing his case in this way -by emphasizing the anti-indigenous ruling class

174 Thid.
175 Tbid., pp. 134-142, 163.

Talib states the theme much more boldly in his thesis than in the book. In the thesis he
says this, in rebuttal of the view of "some writers' that the rising was “essentially a movement
of resistance to British rule conducted under aristocratic leadership': “The anti-British element
was present, certainly, but it was not mobilized by aristocratic leadership. On the contrary the
real essence of the revolt lay in its anti-aristocratic character'.

Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 464.

In the book Talib casts it in much more general terms. In so doing he places much more
emphasis on the role of the peasantry and much less on that of the Ulama leadership than was
the case in the thesis. He summarizes the revolt in these terms:

It[the peasant revolt] was, from the actors'[the peasants'] point of view, a rural-based social
movement that involved "socially shared activities and beliefs directed towards the demand
for change in some aspect of the social order™...

From the view of peasant history the revolt turned the spotlight on the peasantry as
historical actors. Their dramatic but brief appearance on the centre stage was a manifestation
of deeper social tensions as the agrarian society became increasingly absorbed into the
colonial economy. They wanted mengadap(to have an audience with the ruler) their ruler, as
tradition permitted, to redress the imbalances. Increasing population, commercialization, state
centralization, social differentiation, and finally a natural disaster bought peasant
dissatisfaction to the surface. The internal anatomy of the conflict reflected the ideology,

leadership, and organization of a peasant society responding to crisis situations."
Talib, Image, p. 134, 163.

Talib's use of the term “aristocratic' is problematic and this is no doubt the reason why he
has adopted alternative words and phrasing in the book. Alternatives such as “ruling class’,

‘indigenous ruling class', ‘anti-ruling class' and so on. See my discussion of this below in the
text of this chapter.

176 Talib, Image, pp. 137- 140. See my chapter 5 above for a fuller account of the operation
of the cap kernia system in Trengganu.

381



382
character of the rising - Talib aims at refuting the view of “several scholars in recent years',
that the rebellion was “yet another in the tradition of anti-British revolts' differing only in that
it was led by religious leaders rather than members of the ruling class.('’”’) Whereas Talib
strongly emphasizes the longer term resentment of the Trengganu peasantry of hardship
suffered at the hands of the aristocracy with the British reforms as a strong aggravating factor
in their suffering Sutherland focusses much more on the anti-British reaction of the rebellious
peasantry.('’®)

Talib sees the grievances of the Trengganu up-country peasantry against the state's
colonial administration as more broadly based than Sutherland. According to Talib the
expansion of the Advisory system of government in Trengganu in the couple of decades
following 1919 introduced "new rules, regulations, offices and officials into the
countryside’.('"’®) As a consequence of this the peasantry ‘resented having to make lengthy
trips to government centres to register births and deaths or to obtain licenses for marriages and

divorces which cost $2.00 and $1.00 respectively'.(**®) Talib points out that the peasantry

7 Ibid., pp. 134, 163.
It is clear from Talib's doctoral study that he counted Sutherland among these scholars.

In his thesis Robert, as he was then known, is reacting to a paper by Sutherland dated
1976 (Sutherland, H.A. "Between Conflict and Accommodation : History, Colonialism,
Politics and Southeast Asia", Lecture given in the Faculty of Letters of the Free University of
Amsterdam, 22 October 1976, pp.13-16). In 1978 Sutherland published two pieces on the
rising. One was an article prepared as a revised version of the paper and presented under the
same title (Review of Indonesian and Malayan Affairs, vol.12 1978, pp.1-25). The other was
the "Trengganu Elite" article referred to above. In the two articles Sutherland emphasizes the
anti-British reaction of the peasantry. In the "Trengganu Elite" article Sutherland
acknowledges the recent submission of Robert's thesis (p.32) but states that she had been
unable to consult it. She had apparently seen Robert's thesis by the time she came to revise
her paper and refers to it on pages 8 and 12 of the article though without acknowledging
Robert's criticism.

178 Though she does acknowledge that the Kuala Trengganu elite was alienated from the
inland peasants because the former had accommodated themselves to the British on religious
and other matters and the peasants felt that “the government [and the Kuala Trengganu elite]
had abandoned [the Islamic] religion.'

Sutherland, "Conflict and Accommodation", p.13.
17 Talib, Image, pp. 138-139.

180 Thid., p. 139.
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“were also subjected to a variety of passes required, under the penalty of fines, for forest
felling, collection of different kinds of jungle produce, planting of different types of crops,
slaughtering of animals and the carrying of the weapons needed for personal protection
against wild animals.("®") Referring to these restrictions in his thesis Talib points out that the
peasants were left with “a sense of disastrous uncertainty' since they interfered with “their
critical requirements .. for stability and security of food supplies.'('™”) The peasants were also
discouraged from their traditional cultivation of huma by regulations prohibiting forest felling
in the hope that they would switch to wet padi.("**) This was, however, an unrealistic
expectation: it meant that huma cultivators not only had to ‘face the uncertainty of adopting an
entirely new technique of padi cultivation' they also “competed for the little land left in the
interior suitable for wet padi.'(***) The peasantry lacked the confidence to change their method
of cultivation since their margin of food supply was too low to sustain any losses on such a
gamble.(**®) The collection of forest produce was, according to Talib, an activity critical to
the peasantry for the raising of additional income but this activity was curtailed by the
introduction of forest passes in 1921.(**) While the maximum that a peasant earned from

forest produce was fifty cents a day he had to pay a dollar a month for the pass.(**”) Talib also

181 Tbid.

18 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p.471.

18 Talib, Image, p. 140.

18 Tbid.

185 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp.471,472.
136 Talib, Image, p.140.

187 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 472.

Talib(Robert) points out there was a dramatic drop in government earnings from the export of
forest produce in the year following the introduction of the forest passes and as a result the
government introduced a system of free forest passes. The peasants apparently fared little
better under this free pass system: they were required to register themselves and appear to

continue making only limited use of the forests since timber export remained below the 1921
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points to the issue of land titles for all occupied land and the introduction of survey fees and
annual rent.('®*) These were unfamiliar practices to the peasantry and beyond their economic
means.('®)

While the new regulations were in themselves a source of hardship to the peasantry
the way in which they were administered by local officials added to their suffering. These
officials were usually outsiders to the local community, and were unsympathetic in their
treatment of the peasantry executing the regulations with little moderation and
understanding.("*®) They exploited the peasantry through corrupt practices - it was necessary
to give bribes in order to obtain good jungle land for padi cultivation or to overcome delays in
their application - and they were tardy in processing applications for the passes thus causing
the peasants added expense that they could ill afford.("*') Talib points out that it was not only
the cost of the pass but the cost of travelling to the office where the pass was obtained that
taxed the economic resources of the peasantry. It cost the peasant $2.00 in travel to obtain a
20c pass.'?

Clearly, then, while Talib sees the principle anger of the peasantry as being directed

at a local rural Malay elite these peasants in his view clearly had strong grievances against the

level.

1% Tbid.

1% Tbid.
In his thesis Robert(Talib) cites Bryson amongst others for his statement that the “peasantry
were in no economic position to meet these demands,’ though in a different piece of writing by
Bryson than that cited by me above.
Tbid., p.472. Robert cites; encl 1 H.P. Bryson to S.U.K., 28 May 1928 in S.UX. 1397/1346.
See also Talib, Image, p. 140.

190 Ibid.
Robert(Talib) explains that these officials were usually appointed from Kuala Lumpur.

Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 473.
191 Talib, Image, pp. 140, 141.

192 1hid, p. 141.
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new colonial administration as well. In his thesis Talib sums up peasant grievances against
the colonial administration in these terms:

The peasantry saw these front line officers as corrupt, rude and unduly harsh and as

representing the whim of the distant State Council. They saw the whole taxation

system as an endeavour to fleece them to make the 'Raja’ (sie the ruling class rich as
they had little to benefit in return from the government.(**)

Noor Bee Binte Kassim, in a thesis on the rising, also gives a very good idea of the
hardship caused to the up country Trengganu peasantry by the permit restriction and land
taxation measures introduced into the state by the British administration.(**) Kassim points to
the passing, at the end of 1921, of a regulation aimed at controlling the indiscriminate clearing
of forest for the temporary cultivation of food crops. Two conditions were imposed by the

regulation: a Land Office Permit with an annual payment of fifty cents an acre was required

for future clearing; and no forest of more than seven years growth could be felled.("®) Kassim

explains that the regulation "was a kind of land tax as the principle of huma cultivation meant
that the piece of land cleared for cultivation was abandoned after a season or two'.(**")
Furthermore the regulation ‘restricted the kind of land available for ladang cultivation as
virgin jungle, which was mosr [more?] productive’ could no longer be cleared.(*”’) The
British, Kassim points out, misunderstood the rationale behind this kind of cultivation in that
they considered it as wasteful and as a practice leading to deforestation. The Malays on the

other hand took the view that it “was a method adopted to the tropical soils easily exhaustible

193 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 474.

19 Noor Be binte Kassim, "The Trengganu Rebellion 1928", Academic exercise, BA
Honours, University of Singapore, 1972, p.1, 2, 30-32.

195 Thid., p.30.
196 Thid.

%7 Tbid.

Tt will be remembered from Chapter 2 above that ladang cultivation was a form of shifting
agriculture in which forest land was cleared and crops planted. After one or two harvests, the
clearings were abandoned and cultivators moved to a fresh patch of forest for clearing and

planting once again.
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fertility'.('*%)

Another source of discontent for the up country Trengganu peasantry in the 1920's,
according to Kassim, was the permit required for extracting timber for the jungle - a
requirement implemented by the government in an effort to conserve the forests.("®) The
hardship to the peasants from this permit requirement stemmed from the fact that they relied
on the forest to provide them with firewood and building materials for building and thatching
their houses. Kassim indicates that the regulation *was too rigidly implemented by the Malay
land officials' and, as a result, there “were complaints that they [ie the Malay land officials] ..
refused to let the peasants collect firewood without taking out a permit'.(**)

On top of all this the payment of land rent was a focus of discontent amongst the
peasants in Trengganu in a way which had a direct bearing on the timing of the rebellion.
Kassim explains that in 1927 land settlement had occurred in Kuala Brang and that the land
rent on the alienated land was due in March. This, Kassim states, ‘explained the timing of the
rebellion for when the rent collectors went to collect the rent which was due the peasants

refused to pay' at the instigation of their leaders.(**") Not only did they refuse to pay the rent

198 Thid., p.30.

Kassim adds that the “method need not lead to deforestation if the land abandoned was
sufficiently fallowed for a period of fifteen years.'

Ibid., p.31.
He does not say, however, whether the Malay cultivators were in fact observing this fifteen
year interval.

¥ Ibid., p.31.

29 Tbid.

21 Thid,, p.31.

According to Kassim *Haji Abdul Rahman told them not to pay the rent' and that “the
peasants' had ‘said that the land belonged to Haji Abdul Rahman or to Syed Alsagoft' and that
‘therefore they need not pay the rent'.

Ibid.

See below for a reference to the role of Haji Rahman in the rising. I'have been unable to find
an explanatory reference to Syed Algasoff.
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but they ‘returned the land titles which they had taken out earlier'.(**?)

The imposition of the permit and land rent systems then “aroused the feelings of the
people' in the years leading up to 1928. This was all the more so because the permit and land
taxation measures exacerbated economic hardships being experienced in the district from
other causes. A depression in their rural economy in 1922 and “the 1926 Great Flood' had
both ‘further impoverished the people’.(*®) At the time of the flood a local penghulu alleged
that the Government had not sent relief measures to assist in the recovery from the damage
caused.(?**) Referring to the land tax and permit measures Kassim says, “the reforms were an
extra burden to the people because they were very poor'.(**) We clearly have, then, from the
secondary sources, a much clearer idea of the grievances of the peasantry in the Trengganu
rising than we do of those of their counterparts in Kelantan in 1915. It is clear from these
sources that the Trengganu peasantry felt themselves aggrieved at their treatment at the hands
not only of the Trengganu aristocracy but also colonial officialdom as well, though the
secondary sources place differing emphases on these two aspects. In large measure we can
see how, as was the case in Kelantan, the peasantry in Trengganu were being subjected to
longer term colonial pressures as well as those which were more directly and immediately
impinging on them in their productive sphere. Thus while we can see from Talib that the Ulu
peasantry were being exploited by the aristocracy under the cap kernia system in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century their suffering was brought to a head, and spilled over
into rebelliousness, as a result of a series of specific measures, particularly those affecting
land use, implemented by the colonial regime in the years leading up to 1928. While Talib
sees a conflict between his interpretation of the reasons for the 1928 peasant response and that

of Sutherland it is more accurate to characterize this as a difference in emphasis on the long

202 Thid, p.32.
203 Tbid., p.32.
24 Thid.

205 Ibld
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and short term causes of the rising rather than a head on clash in interpretation.

As was the case with the Kelantan Rising the Kuala Brang rising was also
symptomatic of elite disaffection with colonial rule. Sutherland indicates that in the Ulu
district it was the local elite which was cut adrift from its traditional wealth and power by the
colonial administration which led the Ulu peasantry in revolt in retaliation.(**®) As we have
seen the Ulu leadership had in the time before the transfer of power exercised considerable
independence from central control.(**") This independence had continued well into the early
period of the transfer and it was when the new administration began its stronger drive to
control the Ulu area, and in particular the revenues there in the ways described above, that a
stronger local elite resentment against the colonial regime was invoked.(**®) Elsewhere in the
state the local population and revenue they could provide, was more accessible. and the new
administration had succeeded in drawing the local elites into the colonial administrative
structure and, by affording them some sort of recognized official status and influence in this
way, had mitigated the effect of the power transfer in engendering local elite disaffection.(*”)
This was not the case in the remote Ulu Trengganu area where the local leadership remained
on the periphery of the colonial apparatus.(*'°) According to Sutherland it was the al-Idrus
family who held sway over the settlements on the upper reaches of the Trengganu river until
well into the early colonial period, a fact which, to their cost, the British failed to recognize
when they made their determined push to extend a stronger colonial administrative control

into the area.(!") The Al-Idrus was an Islamic family which exercised temporal, as well as

206 Qutherland, "Trengganu Elite", pp.69-80.

207 See chapter 3 above.

208 Qutherland, "Trengganu Elite", pp.69-73.

2 Tbid., pp.70-73.

210 Thid., pp.71-73.
21 Ibid., pp.71,72.
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religious, authority in the region.('?) It was the al-Idrus who, when they experienced the
stronger British moves to control the area from the early 1920s led, in conjunction with other
local religious leaders closely associated with the family, the peasant resistance to British rule
which culminated in the 1928 rising.(*') As with the Kelantan rising there is some suggestion
that a wider section of the elite may have backed the revolt but, in view of the lack of
evidence to support such an assertion, this does not seem likely.(***) Sutherland does not
discuss at length any possible link between the rising and the disaffection felt by the
Trengganu elite in general towards the British. But, given the tension that existed at that time
between the two it would seem that any strong challenge to British rule might have been
backed by that elite if it had looked like toppling British rule. The likelihood of such a turn of
events would seem to have been even more remote in Trengganu at this time than in Kelantan
during the comparable situation which existed in that state in 1915. The Trengganu elite had,
in 1928, been heavily compromised in their position between the raayat and the British, and it
does not seem likely that they would have thrown in their hand with local elite and raayat
rebels unless success was certain. A reading of Sutherland indicates that the most that can be
said is that "certain notables appear to have hoped the protest would result in their advantage,
but they were too impressed by British power, too comforted by colonial security and

preference, and too unsure of their hold on their old followings, to respond openly to

212 Bearing in mind that, as Sutherland points out, the ‘distinction between "secular” and
"religious" was foreign to Islam, and the boundaries of competence were never clear cut in a
traditional Malay state.'

Ibid., p.72.
213 Tbid., pp.72-80.

24 According to Sutherland 'suggestions that the former sultan [ex-Sultan Mohamed) had
morally or financially backed the revolt had no hard evidence to support them, though it was
noted that Haji Drahman had been a friend of Mohamed's, and some participants claimed to
have been given arms by the ex-sultan's men.'

Tbid., p.79.
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invitations for revolt.(*"*)

Talib casts his interpretation of local elite resistance to British rule in Trengganu in
somewhat different terms from Sutherland. Like Sutherland, Talib addresses the role of local
religious figures in leading the peasantry in revolt.(*'®) According to Talib, prior to the
transfer of power in the state local imams, Hajis, and other local religious functionaries were
in a particularly strong position because the office of the penghulu - an office which had in
the past complimented and rivalled them - had been allowed to decay during the reign of
Sultan Zainal Abidin III.(#") The position of these local religious leaders was threatened
however when the colonial regime appointed penghulus to the district. This revival of
penghulus challenged the power and influence of the religious leaders by usurping functions
hitherto exercised by them at the village level and by shifting the centre of gravity of political

power in the village away from a traditional Ulama religious base in the direction of secular

colonial power based in the capital.(*'¥) But there were more tangible grievances as well. The
local religious leaders were mainly local property owners and they shared the resentment of
peasant proprietors at the exaction of land rents and survey fees by the government.(*'*)

Discontent with the ruling class over the new colonial circumstances meant that there was a

more generalized leadership and inspiration for the revolt. Talib points out that the Ulama -
the religious scholars within the state - were disgruntled because they did not share in
advantages afforded other sections of the ruling class with the coming of colonial influences
to Trengganu.(*®) The Ulama had not, because they had religious reservations, availed

themselves of commercial advantages that became available in the late nineteenth century.

215 Tbid., p.82.
216 Talib, Image, pp. 146-148.
27 Thid,, p. 145.

218 Thid.
Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 475.

219 Talib, Image, p. 145.

220 Tbid., pp. 146, 147.
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Specifically, they had not taken up mining concessions and had not sought, or been given
caps, under the cap kernia system.??! Furthermore, they had not been given any official role,
religious or temporal, in the new colonial administration and therefore felt themselves in a
greatly disadvantaged position excluded from private and official sources of wealth, power
and prestige in these ways, and their resentment over this in 1928 was strong.(***) It was this
resentment which led them to enter into, and to provide, according to Talib, a broader, less
localized leadership of the rebellion in 1928.(*%)

Talib singles out two Ulama individuals who played a prominent role in the rising
as charismatic figures. One was Sayyid Sagap, who came from a well established Ulama
family, and who “had a large and devoted following in Trengganu'.(***) The other was Haji
Abdul Rahman Limbong (Haji Drahman) who, while not belonging to any of the traditional
Ulama families, had built his own reputation “for sanctity, religious scholarship and teaching’
and who was reported by contemporary British officials to be, in Talib's words, ‘a Ghandi type
leader, capable of rallying thousands of Malays who would stand ready blindly to follow his
bidding'.(**)

While both Talib and Sutherland agree on the personal identity of the main leaders
of the rising they characterize the wider affiliation and institutional identity of these leaders
differently. Sutherland gives the main leaders of the rising - Syed Saggof bin Syed Abdul
Rahman al-Idrus and Haji Drahman Limbong (Haji Abdul Rahman bin Abdul Hamid) - a

2! Tbid.

222 Tqlib highlights the fact that it was the inability of the British to absorb the Ulama into
the colonial structure that fed their hostility to the new regime.

Ibid.
See also Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp. 478, 479.
23 [hid,, pp.477-479.
Talib, Image, pp. 146,147.
224 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp.479, 480.
Talib, Image, p. 147.
223 Tbid.
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familial identity: Syed Saggof was a member of the al-Idrus family and Haji Drahman, while
not a member of that family, was closely associated with it.(**®) Talib, on the other hand,
more strongly stresses the religious identity and authority of these two figures, pointing to the

fact that Sayyid Sagap was a member of a traditional Ulama family and implying that Haji

Drahman had established a defacto status as one of the Ulama.(**”)

Talib, then, stresses the religious grievances of the Ulama in leading the revolt. The
Ulama objected to the commercial advantages of the Trengganu aristocracy based in Kuala
Trengganu, the fact that this aristocracy had an official status within the new British colonial
administration, and that they had aligned themselves with infidels (ie the British) and had
thus, by association, and by modifying their own religious practices, lowered their standing in
the eyes of Islam.?® Talib gives strong emphasis to the religious motives of the Ulama and
their ability to lead the peasantry in what was, he writes, to a large extent a religious rising

against those not adhering to what was seen as true Islam.(**’) This, Talib says, was the

226 Qutherland, "Trengganu Elite", pp. 73, 77.

227 Talib, Image, p. 147.
Talib and Sutherland adopt different name spellings in their texts. There is no doubt however
that Talib's Sayyid Sagap and Sutherland's Syed Saggaf are the same person. Talib points out
that *Sayyid Sagap was the son of Tukku Sayyid Paluh’ while according to Sutherland ‘Syed
Saggaf was a son of To' 'Ku Paloh'.
Ibid.
Sutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p.77.

Sutherland does acknowledge religious prestige as a factor associated with the authority of the
al-Idrus family.

Ibid., p.72.

228 Talib, Image, pp. 143,144,146,147.

229 Talib outlines the way in which aristocratic Malay govemmenml functionaries were
perceived by the rebels as having lost their Islamic moral authority.

Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp.482-484.

Talib, Image, pp. 143,144.

See below in this chapter a fuller discussion of Talib's views on the role of Islam in the rising.
It is interesting to read in this connection something of the wider context for this kind of

Islamic social dynamic in a colonial context in Muzatfar's study of resurgent Islam in the
Malaysian context. Focussing on a world stage, not just Malaysia, Muzaffar draws attention to
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motivation for the Ulama leading a revolt of peasants which was anti-indigenous elite first and
only secondarily anti British.”*°

Sutherland, on the other hand, places less emphasis on the intra communal, anti
Malay elite aspect of the revolt. Certainly she acknowledges that “the gulf between those with
power - members of the elite and their followers - and those without, the common people or
raayat' was an “overriding fact in Trengganu society' and that “this distinction between ruler
and ruled was usually the deciding factor in any confrontation’ prior to the commencement of
British suzerainty in the state.(*") But she indicates, more strongly than Talib, that the
coming of the British administrator saw a new kind of social conflict emerging and new and
different lines of social confrontation being drawn in Trengganu society. The broad thrust of
her "Trengganu Elite" article, as we have seen in chapter 5 above, is that there was
considerable tension between the British and the upper echelons of Malay society as the
former sought to bend the later to its will. In the 1920s the British had reached an
accommodation with some of the Malay elite families. The al-Idrus elite family lay outside
this accommodation as we have seen and conflict between them and the British and their
Malay elite followers resulted in part as a consequence of this. Thus, what Sutherland
stresses, and what Talib draws out less strongly in his argument, is that there was an intra-elite
conflict of interest which added an important dimension to social tension with the state. To
Sutherland, the rising was less a rebellion of the Malay ruled against their traditional rulers as

a first line of resistance to authority and more a reaction of the peasantry, and one section of

*a new elite ' which, after “the colonial epoch...emerged in Muslim and other colonized
societies'. This elite, he writes, ‘dominated the administration, the economy, the education
system and public life in general'. In stark contrast to them, he says, was "the conservative
Ulama', a group ‘solidly entrenched in traditional religious thought'.

In this passage Muzaffar's main point is the inability of Islam to adequately respond to

the changing colonial circumstance. A suitably adapted Islam between these two extremes
was, he says, restricted in its capacity for popular appeal by the “hostile opposition of the

Ulama’ on the one hand and “the political suppression by the ruling elites' on the other.

Chandra Muzaffar, Islamic Resurgence in Malaysia, (Malaysia, 1987), p. 76.

230 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 464.
231 Qutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p.40.
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the Malay elite, leading a rising against both the British and another compromised section of
the ruling class by then closely associated with the British administration. Talib, anxious to
reject the notion that the rising was led by the ruling class against the British as was the case
in other revolts on the peninsular, emphasizes the intra communal economic and especially
religious divisions within the Malay community. In so doing he places less weight than
Sutherland on the secular, anti-British, grievances of the rebellious peasantry and the section
of the elite which led them and gives less recognition to the differential effects of colonial
influences on the ruling class in Trengganu. Talib, perhaps because he wants to portray the
rising as a popular one in the classic mould of traditional peasant uprisings in which the
peasantry were pitted a against an indigenous ruling class, stresses indigenous ruling elite
privilege as the main focus of peasant and Ulama anger with the British as secondary target
for these groups.(*?)

Certainly Talib does strongly see the rising as the playing out of tension within a
society characterized by a “two fold agrarian class structure' that had “emerged during the first
three decades of the twentieth century’.”**> He characterizes that class structure and the tension
within it in these terms:

There existed a rural upper class consisting of bureaucrats and absentee cap kernia

22 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p. 464.

Talib draws attention to the fact that, on the eve of the rising, ‘the Commissioner of Lands and
Mines, G.A.C. de Moubray, grimly warned the aristocrats that economic conditions in the
Trengganu river were similar to those of France and Russia before their respective upheavals.’

Talib, Image, p. 138.

Talib also points out that the *‘movement had millenarian as well as messianic expectations -
features which were common in peasant movements in Southeast Asia'.

Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p.484.
Talib, Image, pp. 143,144.

Sutherland, too, sees the rising as in many ways cut in the classic mould of
peasant disorder but without focussing narrowly on the aristocracy as the enemy of the
peasantry in he way that Robert does. Commenting on the situation in Trengganu
immediately prior to the rising she writes:"The classic causes of peasant disorder were all
there: poverty and sharp economic blows, alienation from government, religious unrest, and
charismatic leaders who gave voice to popular grievances'.

Sutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p.78.

23 Talib, Image, p. 141.
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landlords(both drawn largely from the traditional ruling class) and a rural lower
class comprising peasants, tenant cultivators, landless peasants, and to a lesser
extent wage labourers. The most serious implication of this major transformation
was the lack of reciprocal relationships between the two social strata. The
expectations of the bottom class were not met by the top class who were perceived
by the former as cqn;lijt, rude, harsh, exploitative, and as representing the whim of
distant state council.

While Talib does identify, in the Eurocentric terminology he employs, the Ulama as
a commoner element - one of three main groups - within the ruling class early in his book, he
none the less writes in his chapter on the rising as though a core within the indigenous Malay
elite, and excluding the Ulama, were in a very much more dominant social position than any
other group.”® It seems to be this group he has in mind when he uses the term “ruling class’ in
the later chapter. This leaves the impression that this core elite was, effectively, the ruling
class. The implication in the chapter devoted to the rising is that the Ulama were outside the
ruling class. The use of the generic term “ruling class' then sits uncomfortably in the chapter in
that it seems too narrow and inconsistent in its conception given his conceptualization of this
group in his earlier chapter.

The origins of this confusion in terminology can be seen in the thesis. There, in the
chapter on the revolt, he uses the term “aristocracy' and its derivatives to identify the
oppressors of the peasantry. By implication it is clear that in the thesis by ‘ruling class' he
means aristocracy'. This is at variance with his chapter 1 where “aristocracy' denotes one of
four main groups making up the ruling class. The impression in the thesis, then, is not so
much of an intra elite conflict resulting in leadership for the rebellious raayat group, but more
of a two dimensional division between rulers and ruled, between an agrarian privileged elite
and the rest - the peasantry and their religious mentors, the Ulama. In the unpublished work

Talib appears to be stretching his terminology to accord with a pre-conceived conception of

the rising as essentially anti-indigenous Malay ruling class in its character. It is as if, in his

24 Thid.
23 Talib, Image, pp. 10,13, 134-175(Chapter 6).

Talib argues by analogy from Gullick's description of the social hierarchy in the West Coast
Malay States that the *commoner group' in Trengganu was divided into two groups, one of
which was the Ulama.

Ibid., p. 10.
395



396
thesis, he lapses into narrowing his conception of "ruling class' to a core of aristocracy in order
to maintain his position that the rising was first and foremost an intra-communal dispute, with
oppressed commoners rising against a privileged, compromised, dominating aristocratic few
who, for the most part made up the ruling class.

Thus, notwithstanding the fact that early in his thesis Talib has placed the
aristocracy as one of four main groups making up the ruling class, he appears in the context of
his thesis chapter dealing with the rising, to use the terms "aristocracy' and "ruling class'
interchangeably as though they mean the same thing. For example, in summarizing the aims
and effects of the rising in the earlier work he states:

*The peasants in the six year period of social unrest aimed to redress an unequal
relationship with the ruling class, which, as they perceived it, had turned unjustly

exploitative, b?w ov;xt.hrow'mg 5the government. The revolt failed in its challenge to

the aristocracy's privileges'.(*")

In the book he does seem to have sought to rescue himself from the difficulty by
dropping the term “aristocracy’ in the chapter dealing with the rising using the term ‘ruling
class' or similar more general terms instead. But while this marginally lessens the confusion in
social categorization it doesn’t help much because it is clear by implication that for him
‘ruling class' still has the narrower social focus of the thesis whether he uses the term
“aristocracy' or not. Perhaps this is because in the book he still regards the aristocratic group
he had in mind in his thesis as the dominant group within the ruling class and the main
oppressors of the raayat - so much so, apparently, that without saying so explicitly he regards
them as effectively being the ruling class.”’ Since he doesn’t differentiate the differing

elements of the ruling class in this book chapter very clearly we can't be sure which elements

236 Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", p.518.

27 Though Talib remains mindful in the book of the secondary importance in terms of
social hierarchy of the Kerabat Diraja - the royalty - within the ruling class. He points out, for
example, that it was this group that especially benefited when, under the reign of Zainal
Abidin 111, the office of district chief was taken out of the hands of local leaders and given to
members of the ruling class and particularly those of royal lineage.

Talib, Image, p. 23.

Talib's tone is derisive when he describes the Kerabat Am - the aristqcracy:‘Each
aristocratic lineage was keenly aware of its descent in its relation to other families of the same
class. They all aspired to move up the status ladder.’

Ibid., pp. 12, 13.
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of the ruling class he has in mind as the targets for peasant hostility and resistance in the
nineteen twenties.

What seems to have happened in the book and the thesis is that, having given a four
part break down of the ruling class early in both works he has employed a looser terminology
in the later study: “aristocracy' in the thesis; ‘ruling class' in the book. A reading of the
preceding chapters in both works suggests, however, that in using both terms he has in mind
both the Kerabat Am - the aristocracy - and the kerabat Diraja - the royalty - in the later
chapter rather than the full four elements outlined early in both works. In short, it looks as
though he has in mind the Kerabat class, as he calls the two together, when he refers to
‘aristocracy’ in the thesis and “ruling class' in the book.”** Certainly it is clear, in both the
thesis and the book, in the chapters leading up to the one dealing with the revolt, that the two
kerabat elements of the ruling class were the main participants in, and beneficiaries of, the
exploitative practices that were the focus of peasant(and Ulama) anger and opposition. This
would suggest that it was this royal and aristocratic hereditary elite that he has in mind when
he refers to the ruling class in this chapter of the book. Without saying so directly it seems that
by “ruling class' he is referring to the two most privileged elements of the wider dominant
group. Of these two elements it was the Kerabat Diraja that most benefited from the
exploitative activity.”*® The Kerabat Am benefited from this activity too but less 50.24° They
did, he says in his early book chapter on the indigenous ruling class, form “the bulk of that
class'?*' They were, he says in the same early chapter, a self seeking and privileged group
sharply distinct from the raayat.** It is clear from his detailed account of the main social

changes in the decades leading up to the revolt why this hereditary elite made up of these two

238 Gee for example his use of the phrase "Kerebat class' in his book chapter on the
indigenous ruling class.

Ibid., p. 13.
29 Ihid., pp. 51,104,220,221.
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%1 [bid., p. 12.

22 Ibid., pp. 12,13.
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groups would have been a particular focus for peasant(and Ulama) anger and protest. And so
he has, not withstanding his earlier finding in the book that the Ulama were "a distinct element
in the Trengganu ruling class', nonetheless seem to have drawn the conclusion that, for the
purpose of defining the main point of demarcation between the disputants in 1928, they were
with the peasant rebels and not, by implication, of the ruling class.** The fourth element - the
Orang Keistimewa - seems to have been on the bottom rung of privilege and of lesser
consequence in the upper social structure.

This blurring of terminology and the inconsistency that stems from it tends to
distort our perception of the social hierarchy in that it leaves the impression that the ruling
class - those with wealth and power beyond that of the mass of the population - was narrower
than it really was. It is clear from Talib's description of the ruling class in his book Chapter 2
and Sutherland's description of the al-Idrus, that the Ulama families enjoyed considerable
wealth, power and prestige in a way which clearly separated them from the raayat and went
beyond mere hierarchical formality. They did, according to Talib, ‘enjoy great authority in the
eyes of both the subject and the ruling classes'.”* They "patronized the Kerabat class and were
in turn patronized by them'.2* *Some of them', Talib writes, “were associated with state
institutions, holding office as such'.* Early in the book Talib seems to assert their position "as
a separate element in the ruling class":

That they did have collective power was seen in their influence on the succession of

sultans. Their role in the political system was not merely confined to religious

teaching nor for that matter were they mere chaplains to a devout sultan. They were
ministers, state councillors, and district chiefs of sultans. They participated in the

Trengganu body politic and at times played a major role in some aspects of British-

Trengganu relations. The rulers and other members of the ruling class were known

to have sought their support and were prepared in return to encourage religious

education.”

It was, of course, the diminution of these advantages that was their main bone of contention

with the coming of the British. And their loss of privilege, while significant, was not total.

23 [bid., pp. 13, 26, 134-175.
24 Thid., p. 13.

25 [hid.

246 Thid.

%7 bid., p. 26.
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Notwithsténding the fact that their privileges were diminishing with the intrusion of colonial
forces into Trengganu society they were nonetheless still there. They were, then, elite in the
full sense, and with the onset of colonial influences they became disaffected elite. That is how
they are best characterized. They were an alienated section of the ruling class, not, as Talib
seems to imply in his later chapters, unequivocally of and for the subject class. Their interests
were not in broad terms those of the raayat. They were merely able to cooperate with them at
the point where the two class interests coincided. They undoubtedly served their separate
interest by leading the peasantry against the British and favoured sections of the elite and we
must question the extent to which their motives were primarily religious and untainted by
material, secular considerations.

Part of Talib's difficulty may stem from the fact that he sees the Ulama as coming
to occupy a genuinely socially ambiguous position somewhere between the ruling class and
the raayat - that as a group they to some degree straddled the boundary between the two social
categories in the nineteen twenties. But he does not argue this. To be credible any such
argument would need to be presented directly in a clear and definite way.

Implicit, then, in the two accounts is a different perception of where the main lines
of social cleavage were drawn in the Trengganu society of the time: primarily between the
common people - the Ulama and the peasantry - and the ruling class(ie the aristocracy) in the
case of Talib; and more strongly between the peasantry and a disaffected elite family on the
one hand, and the British on the other, in the case of Sutherland. Since the personal identities
of those involved are the same in both accounts the difference lies in he way in which the
social position of the disputants is conceptualized by the two authors.

Still, in their differing emphases Sutherland and Talib usefully complement each
other in their accounts of the rising and a reading of the two together does much to enhance
our understanding of the rising in its wider aspects. While Sutherland is able to place the
rising, and especially the elite involvement in it, within the wider context of the British drive
to subdue the elite in the interests of effective British colonial administration, Talib gives us a
thorough idea of the way in which earlier colonial influences affected the peasantry, the

Ulama and the aristocratic elite. We can, on the basis of Talib(and with some further
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definitional tightening in describing the lines of social conflict in Trengganu in 1928) move
towards a better understanding of how a longer term tension between the aristocratic elite, and
the peasantry and the Ulama, was a strong causal factor in motivating the revoltin 1928. In
particular Talib assists us in our understanding by pointing out the way in which the peasantry
were exploited under the cap kemia system as a longer term cause of peasant discontent and as
a strong contributing factor to the peasant involvement in the rising. Despite some looseness
in terminology in his later chapters his book(and unpublished thesis) remains a most valuable
contribution to our understanding of the way this peasant rebellion was a response to material
and religious grievances. We can see from both Talib and Sutherland (and Kassim) how the
rising was, in its immediate focus in 1928, a reaction to British land reforms. A reading of the
two indicates a need to further investigate the causes of the rising to clarify the question of
what weighting is to be given to the agreed causes of the rising since Sutherland and Talib
differ in this respect. If Sutherland's perspective is correct then Talib has, in his approach to
the topic, given less than due recognition to the fact that fortunes under the British were not
uniform within the Trengganu ruling class and that it was a disaffected section of this elite
which led a disgruntled peasantry against the British and their Malay elite followers.

Tt is interesting to note in the light of the subsequent appeal of a radical and
unorthodox Islam in the Northern Malay States later in this century that the rebels in
Trengganu in 1928 espoused unorthodox Islam and perceived their grievances in terms of this
religious ideology.

We have a much clearer idea of the role that Islamic religion played in the
Trengganu rising from the secondary sources than we do for the Kelantan rebellion. Both
Sutherland and Talib acknowledge the importance of the religion as a motivating factor
though on a differing perspective in line with their respective approaches to the wider topic of
the rising. Both historians acknowledge that Islam - unorthodox or unofficial Islam - shaped
the raayat and elite perception of their secular grievances at the intrusion of colonial forces.
According to Sutherland, ‘Islam was the focus and framework' for the anger of the Ulu people
as “administrative pressures increased and British influence on the central establishment

became more obvious'.(*®) Talib, referring to the leadership of Sayyid Sagap and Haji

248 Qutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p.77.
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These two leaders gave expression to he grassroots movement which chail‘éﬁ':g'éé-ﬂié
validity of the government to rule. From the beginning the response of the
peasantry to the external pressures on the economy was expressed primarily in
religious terms, as might have been expected in a society where religion contains
the fundamental values which give meaning to life.(**")

Talib, however, sees these grievances as operating more strongly on an ideological
level than does Sutherland, focussing more on Ulama and peasant discontent at what was seen
as tainted religious practice and demeanor, than on Islam as the provider of a conceptual
framework for secular anti-British and anti-elite sentiments. Thus Talib portrays the rising as
having had a strong jihad (holy war) aspect to it with Sayyid Sagap and Haji Drahaman as
leaders of a messianic and millenarian movement that Jooked forward to the coming of the
Madhi or Saviour that would “restore tradition and true faith' and which aimed at the
restoration of “a social order which was held to have been upset'.(*%) Thus, in this way Talib
returns to his point that the rising was traditional in its nature portraying it as one in which
religion provided a messianic and millenarian motivation “common in peasant movements in
Southeast Asia'.(*') Thus, for Talib the moral imperative was stronger than secular grievance
on its own in the minds of the rebels:

In the early stages of the struggle, the conflict in society was thus quickly redrawn

on a moral basis between the people and the government. The two groups were

divided between those who believed and followed the Hukum Syariah and the

kafirs (unbelievers), irrespective of whether, they were Muslims or otherwise.(*?)

Talib points to the role of Islam in the rising to underscore his rejection of the view he

249 Robert, "Malay Ruling class", p.482.
Talib, Image, pp. 143,148.

20 Tbid., pp. 143,144.
Robert, "Malay Ruling Class", pp. 482-485, 493.

Robert describes the personal religious qualities of the two leaders.

21 [bid., p.484.

Talib, Image, p. 145.

252 pid., p.143.
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attributes to Sutherland and others that the rising was essentially aristocratic-led and anti-
British in its drive and motivation:

The struggle was not merely an anti-British confrontation but was broadly directed

against all those who had not followed the Hukum Syariah. In this way the

supporters and followers of the movement were given religious and moral
justification for the righteousness of their cause while the opponents were perceived
as kafir [ie unbelievers] and Orang Neraka (people of hell).(*?)

Sutherland acknowledges that the Ulu rebels were in part motivated by a belief that
the state's leadership was not truly Islamic but places more emphasis on the secular basis of
their religious protest than Talib. According to Sutherland the *main aim' of the rising was "to
alleviate the pressures on the Ulu peasantry and to restore Trengganu by removing the kafir
advisers and, possibly, the Sultan himself.'(***) She points out that at the time of the rising
letters were found one of which suggested “the replacement of kafir government in the state by
the tripartite rule of Raja (ex-Sultan Mohamed), Syed (Syed Saggaf), and Fakih(Islamic legal
experts; Haji Drahman).(**®) It was, according to Sutherland, "to non-official Islam and the
al-Idrus that the raayat looked when, despairing of their ruler's ability to fend off colonial

demands, they rose in protest.'(*®)

Sutherland suggests that a secret Islamic movement - the Sahrikat-ul-Islam - played

a key role in the rising.(**") She sketches in the shadowy background to, and nature of, this
involvement. The membership of the movement was extensive on the peninsular being
located ‘along the coast in Pahang from Beserah to Kemamah,' and, according to “a list
[which] was later found of Sharikat members dating from 1925', in villages along the length

of the Trengganu river.(**) The British "tended to assume it had connections with the

2% Tbid.

254 Sutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p.79.
2% Ibid.

25 Thid., p.83.

27 Tbid., p 83.

258 Tbid., pp.76, 77.
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Indonesian Sarekat Islam.'(*®) ‘Letters were found' instructing members of the Sharikat to
gather at Kuala Brang for the rising. According to Sutherland it is "the first indication of some
more or less politically oriented organization in Trengganu which seems to have had an anti-
establishment as well as an anti-British cast.(*°) Still, none of this gives us a very clear

picture of the nature of the Sharikat and the way in which it operated. Given that Sutherland

concedes that *we know very little about its activities' we must approach her “key role'
suggestion with some reservation.(**") This is all the more so in the light of the fact that Talib
takes a different view from Sutherland, seeing the Sharikat's influence in the rising as
‘minimal.'(**?)

It is clear, then, from both Talib and Sutherland that Islam operated on two levels to
motivate the Ulu people to rebel: as a vehicle for the expression of popular secular grievances;
and as an ideological reaction against the infidel. It was not solely the latter, as a colonial
official called Bryson thought, as we shall see below in this chapter. It was a combination of
the two at once. While both Talib and Sutherland give a different emphasis to each level there
is no doubting the importance of secular economic grievances as the basis for an Islamic
outburst in both accounts.

There is ample evidence in the sources to indicate that economic grievances were
given a religious expression. For Haji Drahman instructed the Ulu peasantry that the British
land reforms were against ‘Islamic law and led them in their refusal to take out permits’,
clearly illustrating the way in which strict Islam was made to apply to land questions in the

mind of the rebels.(*®) Talib, too, indicates that when the peasants in the Telemong river area

29 1bid., p.77
60 Ibid., p.79.
261 1bid., p.77.
262 Robert(Talib), "Malay Ruling class", p.479.

263 K assim, "The Trengganu Rebellion 1928", p.32.

See also Robert, "Malay Ruling class", p.485.
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refused to take out permits, it was Haji Drahman who defended them in court on the basis of
Islamic law.(***)

Tt is clear with the benefit of scholarly hindsight that on-the-spot British colonial
officials had a limited, self interested, perception of the effect their new administration was
having on the peasantry and local leadership in Trengganu. For example A.J. Sturrock, the
British Adviser in Trengganu wrote dismissively of the rebels and their leadership:

The leader behind the movement... was a fanatic named Haji Abdul Rahman. He is

at present in Mecca. The raayat were ignorant of the reason for their quarrel with

Government and accepted blindly the counsel of their leaders.(***)

The main cause of raayat rebelliousness was, Sturrock implies, the fact that they were
insufficiently imbued with the British protestant work ethnic and as a consequence were poor
and discontented. Immediate steps were taken to remedy this situation:

They were, however, poor, lazy and even underfed, and as the speediest means of

relief, work was found for them on the construction of a road from Kuala Brang to

Kuala Trengganu... This relief work has been successful both in its primary object,

and it is hoggd, in instilling the working habit into a people naturally inclined to

indolence.(*™)

None the less, despite the perspective, we can read in such primary source materials
valuable clues to the way in which colonial forces had been creating hardship for the
rebellious Ulu population in Trengganu.

The account of one contemporary British observer, for example, H.P. Bryson, who
was in charge of the state's Land Office at the time of the rising, is particularly instructive
since it clearly indicates the way in which the demand to pay cash land rent to the colonial
state caused hardship for the Trengganu peasantry in the early decades of Advisory
government, and how the imposition of this land tax intensified the tension existing between

direct producers and colonial administrators. Outlining the difficulties encountered by his

office in implementing the new land rent system Bryson wrote:

264 Ibid. p.486.

See also Sutherland, "Trengganu Elite", p74.

265 Trengganu Annual Report 1927/1928, 1928/1929, pp.12, 13

266 Thid., p.13.
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Trengganu peasantry were poor (as well as in other forms of property), but thus

were accustomed to paying rent of [on?] land in the form of a portion of the crop to

someone who claimed rights over the area. A load of coconuts, or several gantang
of rice, were worth much more than the 50¢ an acre we were demanding, but crop
was one thing, hard cash was another. The hard cash idea came from the infidels,
and that was enough.

Opposition gradually built up. Rent collection in most areas (in Kuala

Trengganu district at least) seldom topped 25-3 0% [of the full] potential. Stories

were floating around about peasantry preparing for active opposition.(**’)

In reading Bryson's account it is important to be wary of the pro-British colonial
bias evident in his interpretation. This bias had led Bryson into inconsistency in his
understanding of the peasant grievance. Certainly the value of the cash tax may have been
less than the value of the tax in kind. But the point is, as Bryson states without
comprehending its significance, the raayat did not have the cash to pay the tax.

Bryson's observation clearly illustrates one way in which the colonial state was
forcing the raayat further into commodity production for cash, itself a source of discontent for
the NMS Malay peasantry in a broader sense at this time as we have seen in Chapter 5 above.
Still, we can not extrapolate too widely from Bryson's statement. The most immediate
hardship indicated, but not fully comprehended by Bryson, was the obvious. The peasantry in
Trengganu, as elsewhere in the north, were as we have seen, coming to rely on a cash surplus
to satisfy their needs. They were, in 1928, in the earliest stages of this transition and were, as
Bryson says, ‘poor in cash.' Cash handed over to the state meant less cash for themselves and
the land rent was therefore resented.

Certainly Islamic mistrust of the British may have been important on an ideological
level in the way that Bryson states but we must discount it as the sole cause of peasant
resistance to the rent. Applying both Sutherland and Talib(Robert) to Bryson's remarks we
can see that it was the more concrete economic hardship caused by the rent (and the land
permit restrictions) that lay at the heart of their reaction rather than Islamic mistrust of the
infidel per se. Thus the Ulu mistrust of the infidel intensified their dislike of the British as tax

collectors and as the issuers of permits. At the same time a broader Islamic ideology served to

shape the perception of the up river economic grievances including the hardship caused by the

27 Bryson, "Trengganu "Rising in 1928", p.2.
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land rent. What Bryson contributes to our understanding of the rising, albeit unwittingly, is
the precise way in which the imposition of a cash land rent created hardship for the Ulu
peasantry and we must read between the lines of his Eurocentric interpretation of peasant
circumstances at this time to see this vital point.

Bryson recounts the resistance he encountered in collecting the rent in these terms:

... was having a little trouble in collecting rents in one or two of my areas. People

claimed their land was pledged (sandar) to a man called Syed Sagop (?=Alsafoff), a

rather shifty type but because of his Arab blood given the greatest respect in

Trengganu (All Syeds in Trengganu were treated by the peasantry almost as if they

were of royal blood).(**®)

We can see in this further evidence that the distinction between the al-Idrus family - the
Ulama families - and the aristocracy was not, at least in the mind of the peasantry, as sharp as
Talib(Robert) assumes, and that in the perception of these peasants, the conflict was not
clearly and exclusively between the common people - the raayat - on the one hand, and the
elite on the other, but significantly involved other dimensions of conflict, including intra-elite
conflict, as well. Bryson clearly asserts, what Talib seems to deny in the course of his
argument, that the syeds were seen as bung elite, as members of the ruling class, at least in
terms of the esteem in which they were held by the peasantry.

In the sum then we can see how the Trengganu Rising illustrates the way in which
colonial forces were re-shaping Trengganu society and how the new social tensions invoked
by this were reaching a traumatic intensity in the nineteen twenties. Especially important, in
the light of the later appeal of unorthodox Islam of a different kind, is the fact that, within a
context of social tensions arising from the transition to a stronger and consciously directed
colonial economy in the early decades of this century, unofficial Islam was able to address the
grievances of sections of the Trengganu population and to motivate them into a strong
resistance to prevailing colonial authority.

Northern Malay Resistance to British Advisory Government.
While we have thus far examined two specific instances of Malay resistance to the formal
British colonial presence and to wider colonial influences in Kelantan and Trengganu the

question remains, to what extent did the two risings reflect a wider mood of like social tension

in the northern peninsular states in the pre-World War II colonial period? It now remains to

268 Thid., p.3.
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look at the broader picture of elite and raayat resistance in the north since this was a critical
factor, as we shall see, influencing the colonial history of the NMS area as a whole.

Since, as we have seen, the British were dependent upon the moral authority of the
NMS Malay elite to legitimize the utilization of raayat resources in support of the colonial
state it was considered by the British necessary and desirable that they accommodate its
members within the new administrative apparatus of state.(**”) Thus the British had sought, as
we have seen, to perform a balancing act within the colonial administrations with some
positions being held by the British, and some by Malays, but with overriding control of the
state remaining in the hands of the British - a control which was very much limited by the
wishes of the leading Malays within each state. Thus this balance of power did not rest easily
with either party in the northern states and there was considerable tension as elite Malays and
British officials contested control of the machinery of states.

The tussle for power within the colonial administrative apparatus is amply
illustrated by Sutherland's account of the division of power between British and Malay
officials within the Trengganu administration at the outset of British rule in the state:

The adviser's immediate aim was to create an effective central administration.

This meant the appointment of British officers to key departments, but since the

abrupt displacement of Malay officials was unacceptable a rather uneasy period of

dual control began. Four departments - public works, police, lands and post office -
were regarded as particularly important by Humphreys, as their efficient
functioning was pre-requisite for economic development and increased revenue.

The council and Sultan attempted as best they could to stem the tide, stressing that

Europeans should serve "as long as it is considered desirable or until a suitable

native officer can be appointed to the post.(*"*)

The old idea of personal revenue, personal wealth, and personal power died hard in
Trengganu. Sutherland cites the example of Sultan Mohamed who, in response to the
Adviser's action in slashing his salary, declared that "he would shoot anyone who prevented
his entering the Treasury [and] set off with his gun toward that building.'! *On hearing of the

sultan's response’, Sutherland continued, "Humphreys [the Adviser], unarmed and half-

dressed, hurried to the Treasury and physically blocked the door. Eventually, during what was

2% See chapter 5 above.

270 Tbid., p.68.
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reported to be an extremely heated argument, Mohamed stated that he would not accept the
constraints laid upon him by the new treaty: either he was to be given special liberty and
higher status than other Malay rulers or he would take the unprecedented step of abdication.
After considerable confusion, he was replaced by his younger brother, Suleiman, who was
installed in 1920 with very subdued ceremonial.'(*’!) While the incident was not without a
touch of comic opera it does none the less illustrate the intensity of feeling that could be
generated over competition between British colonial officials and Malay rulers for control of
revenue. This display of intense anti-British feeling by Sultan Mohamed of Trengganu was
indicative of the determined and sometimes fierce resistance of the determined and sometimes
fierce resistance of the Malay elite to any further incursions on their independence, wealth and
political power throughout the five decades of colonial advisory government and illustrates
the strength of feeling behind the independent stance adopted by the NMS Malay elite a stance
which was to prove such a thorn in the side of the British when they sought, in 1946, to
impose a Malayan colonial administrative unity on the peninsular.

Clearly, the British had not, as we have seen in Chapter 5 above, in the decades
following the transfer, set out deliberately to destroy the social and political position of the
NMS Malay elite nor in any sense to dismantle the structures of NMS Malay society
generally. They did not sweep the Malay ruling elite aside and sought to maintain village
society in a form they believed to be traditional. Rather, they sought to relocate the NMS elite
Malay population within a new colonial administrative hierarchy. In general terms they
sought to maintain the status quo of northern Malay society because they believed it was in
their interests to do so. But in so doing they none the less sought to make that society
submissive to the objectives and structures of their colonial state and so they inevitably, albeit
unwittingly, further altered it fundamentally by additionally changing the economic basis on
which it operated. At the heart of this process were their moves to draw productive wealth,
principally in the form of taxation revenue, from a mainly rural population increasingly
producing for a cash return. Thus it was on the raayat and in particular the peasantry as the
most populous element at the productive base that the colonial state, like the Sultanates before

it, relied for support. These changes, initiated with the transfer of suzerainty in 1909, greatly

271 Ibid., p.65.
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exacerbated class tensions between the raayat and the Malay ruling class. It also introduced
new social tensions: between the raayat and the British; between the traditional Malay elite
and British colonial administrator; within the traditional Malay elite, between those sections
favoured by the British and those not; and, later in the formal colonial period as we shall see,
between old and new Malay elites - between Malays with traditional status and power and
those socially upwardly mobile Malays from the lower class who came, as the formal
structures of the colonial state developed, to make up a new, emergent administrative elite
with its roots in the lower echelons of Malay society.

The principal manifestation of these tensions in north Malaya was the Kelantan
rising in 1915 and the Trengganu rising in 1928. Whether these two risings are indicative of a
wider pattern of resistance beyond the particular localities of unrest in the two states is not
clear. Allen argues that sufficient evidence exists to suggest this may have been the case and
that the common assumption amongst historians of Malaya that the raayat remained quiescent
and relatively unresponsive to British rule needs re-examination.(*”?) However, even if it is
not possible to draw solid circumstantial historical links between the two main uprisings in
the NMS, the shared experience of economic change, and the commonality of the immediate
economic cause of Malay opposition to colonial rule in the two localities and inthe NMS as a
whole, strongly suggest that the Kelantan and Trengganu risings had the same essential long
term causes - the changing colonial methods of surplus extraction - and that essentially similar

latent tensions existed in common from one locality to another across all four states.(*”)

272 Tbid., passim.

It should be noted that the scope of Allen's thinking along these lines extended beyond north
Malaya. In particular, he suggested a possible link between the two NMS uprisings and the
Pahang rebellion of the 1890s. To sustain this wider theory Allen indicated that it was
necessary to prove that “at least some of the outbreaks in Malaya were more serious than [had]
been recognized'. The main thrust, then, of Allen's article is the suggestion that the Kelantan
rising was more serious than historians and contemporary observers had allowed at the time of
Allen's writing.

Ibid., p.24.

273 Presumably these latent tensions manifested themselves in the Pasir Mas and Ulu
Kelantan incidents though Allen gives no details. See my reference to these incidents in this
chapter above.
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The northwest seems to have been relatively free of Malay unrest throughout the
1909-1942 period. Allen accounts for this state of affairs in Kedah in terms of the greater
efficiency of the administration in that state:

Only in Kedah and, to a lesser extent Johore, did the traditional regimes manage
to survive the pressures to which they were subjected during this decade and
emerge in more or less full control of their states after 1919. Kedah, in particular,
did 3021_321 having such an efficient administration that peasant grievances did not
arise.(*")

However we need to be wary of any assumption that, because in Kedah and Perlis there is no
record of raayat grievances manifesting themselves in any dramatically overt way that those
grievances did not exist. We know that, because class tensions had a later manifestation in the
Independence period - tensions whose causes have their origins in the period dating from the
earliest penetration of colonial trade in the north western countryside - that class tensions,
however latent, must have existed in the formal colonial period in that area. Greater
efficiency of administration may have meant that colonial authorities in Kedah were able to
outmaneuvre the raayat more effectively. And certainly greater efficiency would have
lessened the hardship felt by the peasantry as their productive labour was being increasingly
harnessed in the support of the state. However, the delayed emergence of overt class tensions
in the north west is likely to have had more to do with the stronger penetration of colonial
trade in the north west in the colonial period than in any greater effectiveness of the state
administrations to minister to raayat needs. Though it is difficult to pin down with any degree
of social scientific certainty, it seems likely that, since the Kedah and Perlis raayat
experienced a stronger and earlier penetration of colonial trade, they experienced less
difficulty in coping with the exactions of the colonial state, premised as those exactions were
increasingly coming to be, on a significant degree of commoditization and monetization of the
raayat economy. Put simply, it is likely that the Kedah and Perlis raayat had more cash than

those in Trengganu and Kelantan and so experienced less hardship in meeting the demand for

land and other taxes levied in the earlier decades of formal colonial rule.

274 Thid., p.255.
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CHAPTER 7

NORTHERN MALAY STATE RESISTANCE TO THE MALAYAN UNION

NORTHERN MALAY STA LK RESIS AN 18 A o S =

PROPOSAL

In 1946, with their reoccupation of Malaya, the British decided to push for the
unification of the peninsular into one centrally organized and tightly administered state to
replace the administrative trichotomy of Federated and Unfederated Malay States(FMS and
UMS), and the Straits Settlements(SS) that had, it had long been felt by the British, become
unwieldy and inefficient in its operation.(*) It was a move which invoked an intense reaction
on the peninsular and which saw very strong opposition from a Malay community which saw
its interests threatened by the move.

Thus far the only major published study of the Malayan Union is the monograph written
by James Allen entitled, The Malayan Union.(?) While this excellent preliminary survey by
Allen gives us a very good general idea of the conflict it was written before the bulk of the
official British colonial source materials became available. It is therefore necessary to correct
certain of Allen's assertions, and helpful to more strongly affirm others put forward somewhat
tentatively by him in the absence of the stronger documentary evidence to back him up, in our

consideration of the unique position of the NMS in the resistance to the Union proposals.(*)

' Though it should be noted that, while both the SS and the FMS had distinct identities,
both administratively and otherwise, the two were in practice under the one administration
headed by the Governor General of the Straits Settlements who usually doubled as the High
Commissioner for the FMS.

23 de. V. Allen, The Malayan Union, Monograph Series No. 10., Southeast Asian
Studies(Yale University, 1967).

3 Allen comments in his 1968 monograph on the proposal that the official correspondence
between the Colonial Office and its officials in Malaya and Singapore was not due for release
until 1975-1976. Consequently his study was based on ‘interviews, confidential papers [and]
private papers. In Allen's view, this material was enough for him to “piece together the story,
not without gaps - perhaps not even with total accuracy - but with sufficient completeness to
indicate which way the truth lies." He saw his history as being ‘at worst a useful starting point
for future historians, at best a reasonably faithful reconstruction of what occurred'.
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In the sources generally the conflict is seen as a land mark in the history of
colonial Malaya - one which saw the arousal of a hitherto quiescent Malay community and the
beginning of a Malay nationalism which was to lead eventually to Independence in 1957. The
perception is that the contentious Union issue gave rise to Malay nationalism where none
existed before and that the organisational manifestation of this nationalism giving it shape,
purpose and direction was the United Malay National Organization (UMNO), the Malay
political party which arose out of the Malay resistance to union and which has remained the
dominant force in peninsular politics, as we shall see, in the chapter below.

It is the unprecedented strength and extent of Malay resistance to Union which has led
observers to see resistance to Malayan Union as the focus for the strong and sudden
emergence of a Malay Nationalist movement inspired by a strong nationalist sentiment felt
from the top to the bottom of the Malay community. Allen characterized the events
surrounding the constitutional change in Malaya in 1945 and 1946 as a remarkable event in
these terms:

When all that is said, it is still remarkable that in 1945-46 a nationalist

movement should have materialized so suddenly where there had been

none to speak of before, poised to defend Rulers ..., remarkable, too,

that this movement almost entirely led as it was by Malay civil servants

and state officials, should apparently have commanded almost one

hundred per cent support among the Malay masses.(*)

Allen appears, however, to have changed his perspective on this where he

Allen, Malayan Union, pp.v, Vi.

Kessler indicates that, in 1975, the study of the Malayan Union was being held up by
restrictions on archival material.

Kessler, "Muslim Identity", p.273n.

Sopiee, in his chapter on the Malayan Union in his 1976 published volume cites Allen's
monograph with the recommendation that he ‘has presented the lengthiest and most
sophisticated analysis of the Malayan Union thus far.'

M.N. Sopiee, From Malayan Union to Singapore Separation(Kuala Lumpur, 1974), p.16.

Funston, in his book published in 1980, cites no major published volume on the Malayan
Union other than Allen.

N.J.Funston, Malay Politics in Malaysia A Study of the United Malays National Organisation
and Party Islam(Kuala Lumpur, 1980), pp.75-79.

4 Allen, Malayan Union, p.66.
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touches upon the Malayan Union issue in his later study - the one where he focusses
on the Kelantan Rising. What he has missed in his monograph on the Union issue,
and picked up in his article on the rising, is that the ° sudden emergence'
interpretation of the origins of Malay nationalism does not sufficiently account for
earlier Malay resistance to British rule on the peninsular, and it is his later study
which points the way to a better understanding of the origins of Malay opposition to
the scheme. Thus, in his article, Allen acknowledges that English-language
historians “have accepted Malay agitation against the Malayan Union scheme in
1945-6 ... as the origin of the Malay nationalist movement' and suggests an
examination of the relationship between Malay resistance to Union and the pre-war
outbreaks of Malay resistance to British rule as a fruitful line of enquiry for
understanding the nature and causes of the Malay anti-Union protest.(°)

It is, perhaps, surprising that, given Allen's interest in pre-war Malay unrest on the
peninsular as expressed in his "Kelantan Rising" article, that he didn't adopt a broader
approach to the Malayan Union question in his monograph on the subject. His article post
dated the monograph by only a year and in it he had clearly given some thought to pre-war
resistance on the part of Malay rulers and the Malay establishment to the British

encroachment on the peninsular embodied in the Clementi Scheme.(®) Still, be that as it may,

5 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p.244, 255-257.

¢ Allen, Malayan Union, p.6.

See my discussion below in this chapter of the Clementi Scheme as a means to draw the UMS
into the federation. One reason for the inconsistency, apart from the strengthening of Allen's
interest in pre-war Malay unrest after he had written the monograph, was Allen's focus on
grass roots Malay protest as the major (and, by the British, largely unrecognized) deterrent to
the spread of British rule on the peninsular. Clearly Allen thinks of early Malay nationalism
very much in populist terms, and believing as he does that the Malay masses were politicized
by 1946, and that they were strongly instrumental in defeating Union, it was only when he
came to scrutinize peasant resistance to British rule in his article that he saw a possible link
between the emergent Malay nationalism of 1946 and the 1915 elite and peasant resentment at
British rule. What Allen seems to be saying is that there was an inchoate nationalist sentiment
emerging on the peninsular in the pre-war decades and that this may have been evidenced in
the popular risings of that time. In so arguing, he appears to down play the importance of
anti-British sentiments within the Malay elite as evidence of a nascent Malay nationalism - a
nationalism which I argue was much more an elite than a raayat phenomenon, certainly in the
pre-war decades, and which can only clearly be seen as touching the Malay masses to any
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the point to stress here is that it is a reading of Allen's monograph and article together which
allows us the better historical understanding of the Union conflict.

In the main, then, the interpretations of the conflict tend to be myopic in their historical
perspective. It is a myopia characterized not only by the shortness of its time span, but also by
a certain narrowness of perception in failing to place the reaction to the proposals against a
wider background of social change on the peninsular in the colonial period. These sources
fail, too, to give due weight to differing local responses to the innovation. It is for these
reasons that we remain short of a fully credible explanation for the response, especially the

Malay response to the proposal.()

significant degree in the post Union period.

Allen, "Kelantan Rising", passim and especially pp 256,257.

7 Allen points out that while “most English language historians' have accepted ‘Malay
agitation against the Malayan Union scheme in 1945-6 ... as the origin of the Malay nationalist
movement, Roff, in his The Origins of Malay Nationalism, "traces it back a good deal further
than 1945'. However Roff, Allen also points out, "does not set out to trace any possible
important links between it and the Perak or Sunjei Ujong Wars, or the Pahang, Kalantan or
Trengganu Risings'.

Ibid.

More recently still, John Funston, in a book on Malaysian politics, admits that the
‘reason for such diverse Malay groupings joining together [in opposition to Malayan Union]
are perhaps not immediately apparent.’

Funston, Malay Politics, p.77.

Funston outlines reasons for the opposition previously stressed in the sources: the Malay fear
of economic and cultural inferiority as a result of the citizenship provisions in the proposals;
and their resentment at the loss of power of the Sultans and the manner ("thinly veiled' and
‘coercive') in which the British went about stripping this power.

Ibid.

In attempting to go beyond these reasons towards a more cogent explanation Funston
attributes to the Malays a strong and general reaction on a level of abstraction which seems
much less convincing as a significant additional cause of their response than the more
concrete fears and hardship at the time of the proposal, not yet given emphasis in the sources,
and put forward by me in this chapter below.

According to Funston, at the heart of the slight felt by the Malays was the non-
recognition by the Union proposal that the British were ‘dealing with a nation (banysa) not a
community, whose homeland was Tanah Melayu (Land of the Malays).'

Tbid.

See below for a discussion of the well-acknowledged causes of Malay resistance to the
Union and my suggestion of an alternative approach to the topic.
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It is important to stress at the outset of this discussion that the British had managed to achieve
a very considerable degree of uniformity in land and other areas of administration on the
peninsular well before the specific proposal for a Malayan Union in 1946. It will be clear thus
far that where possible, the British sought throughout the 1909-1942 period to tie the NMS
into a common approach to the economic and political development of the whole peninsular.
As Emerson observed of Kedah and the peninsular states generally in 1937:

To attempt to pretend that the substantial independence of Kedah is as

great today as it was prior to 1909 or 1905 is to ignore the very

considerable degree of Malagan Union which has been imposed on all

the states by gradual stages.()
By 1945, however, when the British were poised ready to strengthen and formalize a Malayan
unity, the four northern states had emerged, after a long and contentious period of gestation, as
distinctive entities in a way which militated against the kind of Malayan state union proposed
in 1946. The characteristics of the modern colonial NMS now stood in sharper definition as
quite different from those which had existed in pre-colonial times and stood in stark relief
against many of the distinctive characteristics of the states to the south. While the British had
been able to achieve a degree of creeping uniformity of administration on the peninsular, that
process had proved difficult, and had perhaps reached its natural limit by 1946 because the
degree of north-south economic social and political uniformity which would have made for

ease of further unification, in the way sought, was lacking. It was, in particular, the NMS

elites that resisted being drawn into a unified state - a state which was designed more to

The more recent work by Mohamed Noordin Sopiee dealing with the wider issue of
political unification in Malaya and Malaysia is likewise unable to fully explain the strength of
the Malay opposition to the Union proposals in 1946.

Sopiee, From Malayan Union, passim.

Sopiee relies heavily on Allen’s monograph on the Malayan Union and perhaps because Allen
does not develop on the approach to the topic he advocated in his article on the Kelantan
Rising, Sopiee accepts the view that the proposals saw an unprecedented Malay resistance to

colonial authority. Accordingly Sopiee writes that, in response to the proposals, ‘the Malays
at long last awoke from their deep slumber and burst forth in a frenzy of political activity.’

Ibid. pp.16, 21n, 24.

8 Emerson, Malaysia, pp.237, 238.
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accommodate the character and the needs of the more developed and, in terms of the Malayan
export economy, more economically productive, states to the south. By 1942 the NMS Malay
elites, as we have seen, still retained a strong measure of influence and control within their
states. Having arrived at such an accommodation with British colonialism they were, in 1946,
reluctant to concede to any further erosion of their acquired position of wealth, power and
influence within the colonial state. While the studies thus far don't strongly address regional
variation in the response to the Malayan Union, the differing character of the northem states
must have proved a major obstacle to a tighter unification of the peninsular, and an essential
cause of much of the resistance to the proposals. The Federated Malay States were the centre
of gravity for the proposed unification.(’) These states had been the hub of the colonial state
for the nearly four decades of a formal British colonial presence across the peninsular as a
whole, and it was a fear in the north that their interests would be subsumed by those of the
larger and more solidly established states to the south that fuelled their reaction against the
Union.

Whereas the British had succeeded in achieving some measure of de facto and de jure
uniformity of policy on the peninsular before World War II, they had not been inclined to
force a union of Unfederated and Federated Malay States before 1942. There were various
reasons for this, but the fact that there was continuing Malay resistance to British rule on the
peninsular, both generally and in particular of its aspects, was undoubtedly the major reason
why the British were reluctant to push too forcefully for a tighter unification of the peninsular
states under the British flag. While the more traumatic outbreaks of resistance were localized
in their immediate aims and effect their longer term effects may have been more general in
acting as a break on the spread of British colonial influence on the peninsular. As Allen
suggests with the Kelantan, Trengganu and Pahang risings in mind, "Malay resistance may,
after all, have played some part in preventing the spread of a purely colonial-type

administration, such as associated with the FMS. all over the Peninsular.'(*®) Allen's

9 Certainly the primary sources imply such a pull when indicating the longer term efforts of
the British to unify the peninsular. See for example Maxwell's reference in 1920 to the futility
of trying to force the Unfederated states to join the Federation quoted in the text of this thesis,
immediately below.

10 Allen, "Kelantan Rising", p.256.
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suggestion is that, the British ought to have been wary of forcing a Malayan union in the pre-
war decades on account of a real likelihood of popular resistance to such a move ‘in at least
the Northern States'. They were not. The British stance was, Allen indicates, one of limited
caution only. The evidence, Allen says, points rather to a wariness on the part of the British of
non-violent resistance from the Unfederated Malay elite to unification of the peninsular, and
an underestimation of any potential raayat resistance to such a move.(*')

In the pre-war period, then, British reluctance to push too strongly for a unified
administration on the peninsular was founded, in considerable part, on the strength of Malay
independence in the UMS. Not all those involved in British policy making for the peninsular
thought the same way, nor did they speak with one voice on the issue, but the prevailing
wisdom of officialdom up to 1942 was against any precipitate move in the direction of a
formal political administrative unification of the peninsular, but favoured instead a gradual
progression towards this goal.(*®)

The deterrent to union represented by the independence of the Malay ruling class in the
UMS can be seen in a memorandum prepared by Maxwell for the Colonial Office in 1920. In
a deferential but strong criticism of the Residential system Maxwell drew a sharp distinction
between the real power exercised by the sultans in the Unfederated Malay States and the
nominal power of Sultan's in the Federation Malay States:

The Residents really administer the states, and the Sultans stand by and watch them. In

the Unfederated States, it is very different. There the Adviser states an opinion or makes

a recommendation, and the Sultan (or his delegate) concurs or approves. The Adviser is

most circumspect in avoiding all semblance of giving an executive order... In the

Federated Malay States, the Resident's powers have, to a very great extent, been taken

away from him and given to the heads of Federal Departments; and, even in matters

solely connected with his state, he may find his orders reversed by the Federal

Secretariat. Putting it bluntly, therefore, one may correctly state that the difference

between the Ruler of an Unfederated State and a Ruler of one of the Federated States is
that one rules his country and the other does not. It is in this light that one should view

" Tbid.

2 Allen discusses the policy of pre-1941 British governments towards Malayan Union.
While some people within, or connected to, the policy making machinery in Whitehall, or in
Malaya itself, favoured unification of the peninsular, others were disinclined to take strong
steps in that direction. See my discussion of the Clementi Scheme below.

Allen, Malayan Union, pp.2-8.
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Sir Arthur Young's statement (in his private letter of the 11th August to Mr. Dixon) that

it requires very strong reasons before taking the step' to force the Unfederated States to

join the Federation, and certainly J ohore “and Kedah will never join without
compulsion’.(**)
It is easy to see, then, why the Sultans, and the wider dominant elite in the NMS and Johore
were opposed to any moves which would have subordinated them to a central federal political
and administrative structure.

It was largely because the NMS Malay and Johore elites were anxious to keep
themselves beyond the sway of the Kuala Lumpur bureaucracy that British policy makers,
reluctant to use physical force to get their way, decided on a plan of offering the Unfederated
States considerable independence within a loose federation of all the states on the peninsular.
Thus, from 1929 Sir Cecil Clementi, while Governor and High Commissioner, sought to
operate a scheme of decentralization of the existing Federation of the four central Malayan
states as a preliminary to a later emergence of a voluntary wider federation of all the
peninsular states. By loosening the knot of the existing Federation in this way it was hoped
that the Unfederated Malay State Sultans would be induced to join with the rest of the
peninsular in the wider federation. The Clementi Scheme was, however, opposed by various
groups both within and outside the British colonial policy making machinery, and by 1936 it
was clear that the scheme had failed.(**) The scheme was opposed by a group within the
Colonial Office who had differing perceptions from Clementi on the path that Malayan

development would and should take.(*’) Capitalist interests, too, were opposed to the

13 Maxwell, "Notes", p.4.

14 Allen discusses the opposition to, and the failure of, the Clementi Scheme on pp.2-8 of
his The Malayan Union.

This group included the Parliamentary Under-Secretary to the Labour Colonial Secretary, Dr.
Drummond Sheils, and his Assistant Permanent Under-Secretary, Ellis. Sheils believed that
the Sultans were a reactionary force and Ellis specified that the future of Malaya belonged to
the Chinese and the Indians. Together they held that the Colonial Office, in putting forward
the Clementi Scheme, was backing the wrong horse.

This perception was echoed, too, in 1946. In that year one correspondent wrote that
Malayan Union was a success for the British Labour Party and attacked the Tory mentality of
the Malay elite and their disinterestness in the welfare of the Malayan masses.

Totalla to Freeman, 22 March, 1946 C0O537/1548.

15 Ibid. p.5.
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Clementi concept of federation which, they felt, would bring into existence a unity too loose
to allow for the required degree of efficiency in the working of the tin and rubber
industries.(®) And the Malay Sultans opposed, not decentralization which would have given
more power to the Sultans in the Federated Malay States and allowed the Sultans in the
Unfederated Malay States to retain much of the power they already had, but the
recentralization which was to follow.('”) It was the change over from the British Military
Administration that had overseen the reoccupation of Malaya by the British at the end of the
Pacific War to a civilian administration that signalled an opportunity, in the eyes of the
British, to effect the Malayan union that had eluded the British in the pre-war decades of
colonial rule.

Tt was the MacMichael treaties in the very early post Pacific War period that paved the
way for the 1946 Malayan Union proposal that traumatized the Malayan colonial political
scene between 1946 and 1948. In 1945 the British Government sent Sir Harold MacMichael
to Malaya to lay the legal ground work for the new civilian administration by negotiating new
treaties with the Malay Rulers. MacMichael negotiated treaties in all nine states on the
peninsular providing that “such future constitutional arrangements for Malaya as may be
approved by His Majesty' and *full power and jurisdiction' was to be transferred to Britain.('®)
The proposal for Malayan Union itself was contained in a government White Paper. This
document “stated the case for a more equal treatment of the immigrant populations and
proposed a more unified and centralized government in a union to include all the Malay states
plus the former Settlements of Penang and Malacca.(™)

MacMichael's outline of the Malayan Union proposals indicates that the British intended

to set up a Legislative Council to pass laws for the peninsular as a whole with State Councils

16 Ibid. pp.5.6.
17 Ibid. p.6.

18 G.P Means, Malaysian Politics(London, 1970), p.52.

¥ Thid.
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legislating on matters relevant to the states. The legislative power of the State Councils was,
however, to be greatly circumscribed by the British overlordship. In 1946 MacMichael
reported:

These Councils will be empowered to legislate first on all matters

which, in the opinion of the Governor-in-Council, are of a local or

private nature in the state or settlement, and secondly, on all subjects in

respect of which power is delegated to them by law by the Legislative

Council of the Malayan Union.(*)

Furthermore, each state was to have a Resident Commissioner as its principal
British Officer.(*') Each Sultan was to have the assistance of an Advisory Malay
Council to advise the Ruler mainly on “matters relating to Mohammedan religion’
and other matters incidental to religion.(*?) It is hardly surprising, then, that when
this proposal became known in Malaya, the UMS Malay elites were alarmed at the
loss of jurisdiction over their states it contained and that the Malay elite in the FMS,
with the hope or expectation that the post war period would bring a restoration of a
strong measure of power for them, reacted so strongly against the scheme.

This move towards Malayan Union was a precipitate action on the part of the British
authorities. Consultation with the Malay Rulers and their populations was kept to a minimum
and when news of the British Government's intention of proceeding with Malayan Union was
released the reaction of the Malays was severe. According to Means, in response to the
announcement of the proposed Malayan Union, ‘mass demonstrations and rallies were held
throughout the country by Malays in all walks of life.'(*) At the vanguard of this Malay
opposition were Malay organizations who saw the union scheme as a strong threat to Malay

interests on the peninsular. In 1946 these various organizations combined to send delegates to

a congress held in Kuala Lumpur - the Pan Malayan Malay Congress - to voice opposition in

2 MacMichael, "Report on a Mission to Malaya", by Sir Harold A. MacMichael,
G.C.M.G., D.S.0.(October, 1945-January, 1946), (Kuala Lumpur, 1946), Appendix C in
Allen, Malayan Union, p.166.

2! Tbid.
2 Tbid.

2 Tbid. p.53.
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the name of all peninsular Malays to the Union scheme. The conference, chaired by Dato
Onn, a high ranking aristocrat who had been strongly active in the cause of Malay
communalism up to the time of the conference, exercised a strong resolve to protect the
interests of the Malay race.(**) To that end the Congress agreed in principle to form the
UMNO as a united front organization representing the interests of Malays on the peninsular
and agreed on a memorandum of protest against Union to be sent to the British
government.(*)

While this Congress was a powerful show of Malay strength and solidarity on a wider
scale it did not succeed in stopping the Union in the short run. In the longer term it was
however, strongly instrumental, in combination with other forms of protest to Union - protest
from within the British ranks for example - in ensuring that once the Union was implemented
it did not last for long.

Undeterred by this show of resistance the British pressed ahead with the implementation
of the proposal. Orders-in-Council were issued which established the constitutional
framework for the Union. The new constitution for Malayan Union became operative on
April 1, 1946. Strong Malay resistance continued to frustrate the British aim of a swift
transition from military to unitary civilian rule. A series of negotiations took place between
Malay Rulers, British government officials and other interested and involved parties.
Eventually the British were forced during the course of these negotiations to back away from
their original proposal and, on July 3 the Colonial Office agreed to the adoption of a federal
rather than the unitary state constitution originally proposed. The final constitution draft
which emerged from the negotiations was ratified by the British Government on July 24, 1947
and signed by the Malay rulers in January, 1948. The Federation of Malaya came into

existence in February, 1948.

24 He had been active in protecting Malay rights while serving on the Johore Legislative
Council and was the founder of the Peninsular Malays Movement, one of the largest of the
Malay groups that combined to make up UMNO.

Funston, Malay Politics, pp.76, 110.

% Ibid., p.77.
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In the end, then, the opponents of the new unitary state won the day and the Federation
of Malaya - a looser administrative entity - was declared instead.

In particular it was the NMS Malay old and new elites who stood to lose from the Union
and who led the resistance to it. By 1942 the traditional NMS Malay elites, as we have seen,
had succumbed to the broad British objectives and policies on the peninsular. They had, in
Sutherland's terminology, been “tamed'. They were not completely subservient to the British
by any means and retained a strong measure of influence and control within their states. At
the same time an emergent Malay administrative elite was securing a strong position of
influence for itself within the now well developed colonial administrative structures. Having
arrived at such an accommodation with British colonialism they were, in 1946, reluctant to
concede any further erosion of their position of wealth, power and influence within the
colonial state. It is harder to discern from the sources the motivation and role of the NMS
raayat in the overall resistance to the Union proposals. However, it may be that, the rigours of
war and the Japanese occupation, and the shortages and privations of the immediate post war
period, meant that they were in no mood to accommodate renewed British pressure to produce
rice in support of the ailing post war Malayan economy. It was perhaps because there was this
pressure and perhaps because the return of the British revived a hitherto mainly latent spirit of
anti British defiance of the kind manifest for a short time in the northeastern states in the
earlier decades of the formal colonial presence that the raayat proved susceptible to elite
appeals to resist the Union.

The NMS Malay elites had, along with others on the peninsular to the south, been
developing a wider Malay, if not so much, Malayan, consciousness and the fact that on the
broad basis of this sentiment they added their weight to the peninsular wide protest
significantly added to the eventual defeat of the Union scheme. If the four states had retained
an isolationist parochial stance in the controversy the problem to the British would have been
less since they could have more readily applied a divide-and-rule strategy to get their own
way. The irony is that, given that the British had the development of a national Malay, and
overriding national Malayan, identity as one of their objectives it was the emergence of a
common sense of Malay interest and identity across state boundaries that proved a strong
obstacle to the unification of the peninsular in the way that the British wanted.

We can surmise that the NMS, with their much greater proportion of Malays, saw a
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stronger emergent Malay nationalism in the post war period than in the more ethnically
diverse states to the south. In this way they posed the stronger threat to the Union. Still, the
relative strength of the development of a Malay national consciousness and the effect of this
as a motivating force against Union is hard to gauge from the secondary sources since they do
not provide us with a comprehensive and detailed coverage of local responses to the Union
scheme. Any such assessment is beyond the scope of this thesis since making the judgement
would require a thorough-going analysis from the secondary and primary sources of the Malay
responses for all localities in Malaya.

What we can be sure of is that NMS Malays had, ironically, developed a strong sense of
their position in their particular states in the decades prior to the war, and that the Union
proposal prompted them to widen this awareness. It brought about the crystallization of a
perception of their rightful place within the wider colonial state on the peninsular. The
realignment of Malay politics and the changing basis on which power and influence was won
and lost in the north produced a distinctive reaction from those states which drew its
inspiration and confidence from earlier successes in resisting British intrusion and the
retention of a significant measure of power and independence in Malay hands. Thus, while
they made common cause with Malays from the southern states, principally through their
participation in Dato Onn's Malay Congress, they did so on the basis of a very different
colonial experience from their Malay counterparts to the south. Unlike the states in the
Federation the Unfederated States sought to maintain as much of their pre-war independence
from Kuala Lumpur as possible - an independence for which they had long fought, to which
they had become accustomed, and which must have leant a particular emphasis to their
resistance to the new scheme. The independence of the Unfederated Malay States must have
served as an inspiration for the Malays in the Federation who fought to re-gain lost
independence and power rather than the retention of a status quo. The Unfederated States
clearly had a strong motive for joining in a united national Malay protest and their support for
the resistance was decisive in the defeat of the scheme. If the Unfederated States had acted
independently of one another the British could have out manoeuvred each state separately on a

series of localized contests. As we shall see below, this was something the British sought to
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do, but without success. By then a Malay national consciousness that leant itself to Malays
making common cause across state borders on the issue was too strong. As a result of the
colonial experience on the peninsular to that point in time, there had been, even in the north
with its shorter exposure to direct British influence, a crystallization of ethnic national
consciousness of the kind the British found difficult to control.

In all this it was not so much the stance of the traditional Malay rulers and the Malay
masses that accounts for the strength of the Malay nationalist opposition to the scheme,
though this was an important factor. It was more the sense of Malayness within the ranks of
the colonial administrative elite - a sense of ethnic identity strengthened by a desire to protect
their economic and social position within the administrative hierarchy from intrusion into the
ranks by other races - that was the mainspring of Malay opposition to the scheme. It was the
strength of this new elite which, in particular, meant that the four states were no longer
functioning as mere appendages to the FMS - no longer a containable back water of the
British Malayan colonial state - but were now in a position to assert a combined strength with
the Malay administrative elite in the other states on the peninsular to present a formidable
opposition to British plans for a reconstructed Malaya after the war.(*)

The fact that there was a new Malay nationalist feeling focussed on opposition to the
union and embracing for the first time the northern peninsular states was clearly understood at
Jeast by some within the Colonial Office in 1946. In that year a Colonial Office labour
official noted that the peninsular Malays appeared to be united as never before in ‘opposition
to the method of imposition of the new policy and on certain details of the White Paper' and
*very opposed to the principles of the union of the Malay peninsular'.(*’) The same official, in
the same report, commented on the fact that for “the first time Kedah, Kelantan and even

Trenggannu favour combined action and approach their problems as part of a united

2 Allen remarks on the fact that it was *Malay civil servants and state officials’ that led the
movement in Malaya against Union.

Allen, Malayan Union, p.66.

27 John ... [? signature unclear], Personal Impressions - Malayan Union', Labour
[Department?], Malaya, 15 August, 1946, p.1. CO537/1548.
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Malaya.'(**) Hinting at the fact that to a significant extent it was the bureaucratic elite rather
than the traditional rulers leading the Malay masses in protest the same report continued:
*Equally novel is the conclusion reached by the majority of Malays that they can no longer
leave their future in the hands of their hereditary rulers and they must now think and act for
themselves.'(*”)

Certainly the British remained acutely aware that it was the separationist tendencies of
the UMS that was the principle obstacle to the administrative unification of the peninsular in
1946. In January, 1944 a sub committee of the British War Cabinet clearly elucidated the way
in which the differing colonial history of the Federated and Unfederated Malay States to that
year stood in the way of any further uniformity of administration. Referring to the Forward
Movement of the British onto the peninsular through a succession of treaties with native rulers
in the central states in the 1870s and the subsequent formation of the FMS, Colonel Owen
Stanley, then Secretary of State for the Colonies, outlined in a sub committee memorandum
the way in which the FMS and UMS developed in markedly different ways under differing
degrees of British influence:

The introduction of this system in the 1870s was followed by a rapid development of the

resources of the States concerned (mainly by immigrant capital and labour), which

resulted in the breakdown of their previous physical isolation. It was natural that this
process should have led to proposals for administrative machinery for closer union and
in fact the States of Perak, Selangor, Negri Sembilan and Penang did agree in 1895 to
the formation of a Federation. Paradoxically enough the existence of the Federation
proved an obstacle to further unification of the Peninsular. For the rapidity of the
country's material development had outstripped the advancement in education and
administrative capacity of the Malays, and the British Resident's found themselves
compelled in fact to take over more or less direct control of the administrative system in
the Federated States. As a result there emerged a highly centralized bureaucracy based
on the Federal capital, and the Rulers of the States outside the Federation fought shy of
the loss of power which they felt they would suffer in the administration of their States

by joining the Federation. In the case of Kedah and Perlis the British Agreements of
1923 and 1930 respectively include, in fact, a Clause by which His Majesty's

% Ibid.

* Tbid.
The report points out that the “first manifesto of this' was the all Malay Conference, attended
by representatives from every state and with representation from ‘most Malay organisations'
on the peninsular and which, at the time of the report, had been in session for three days.

Ibid.
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Government have undertaken not to merge or combine these states with other states

without the written consent of the Ruler in Council. The attitude of the Malay Rulers

was also coloured by the fact that in the main the penetration of Malay communities by
immigrant races had gone further in the Federated than in the Unfederated States.(*’)

In one way or another much of the correspondence of the time, both British and Malay,
touches upon this separationist theme and we can see in this a strong causal factor inhibiting
the successful implementation of the union proposal in the immediate post war period.(*")
While the causes of the failure of the Union were many - opposition to the scheme was
widespread on the peninsular amongst the Malays and within the British camp both in Malaya
and in Britain - it was the centripetal pull of the UMS, and in particular the northern states,
that was the most important causal factor militating against the success of British designs to
unify the peninsular up to 1946. It was in this sense that the failure of the Union had its roots
in the earlier decades of British colonial influence on the peninsular and was, as Allen
suggests in his article on the Kelantan Rising, symptomatic of a longer term resistance to
British influence on the peninsular.*> The Malays have never, as the conventional wisdom
would have it, been acquiescent in their accommodation with British supremacy on the
peninsular and it was particularly in the northern states that resistance to the British influence
had been an enduring feature of the post 1909 decades up to the Second World War. Thus,
the memorandum identifies the most important on-going focus of disunity on the peninsular at
the time the Union was being proposed and implemented and clearly illustrates that the British
War Cabinet was well aware of the main obstacle that lay ahead in their scheme for a unified
colonial state on the peninsular. The wonder is that they embarked on precipitate action to
unify the peninsular in the face of that problem and other related difficulties: clearly at the
highest level the British were in touch with the situation in Malaya and their decision to
proceed with the Union nonetheless is on the face of it surprising.

On closer examination, however, we can see that there were strong imperatives in

30 War Cabinet. Committee on Malaya and Borneo, ‘Future Constitutional Policy for
British Colonial Territories', 14 January, 1944. Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, p.2. CAB 98/41.

31 See below in this chapter.

32 See above.
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operation at the time favouring the Union from the British point of view and that it was these
that meant the British decided that it was, on balance, better to “take the plunge' and to unify
the peninsular in the hope that these very considerable obstacles could be overcome.

In 1944 Stanley stated that:
The restoration of the pre-war constitutional and administrative system [would] be
undesirable in the interests of efficiency and security and ... [the] declared purpose of
promoting self-government colonial territories.(**)
The British clearly had cogent reasons for seeking a unitary system of government
on the peninsular. They wanted a viable system of government on the peninsular
capable of taking a Malayan nation into independence when the time came. In
proceeding with the union scheme the British saw themselves as fostering a spirit of
multi racial nationalism while providing at the same time the basic organizational
structure which would enable a unified and independent Malayan nation to govern
itself. The British had never conquered the Malay rulers and their states in any legal
sense and they intended to, and did, follow, in 1946, the pre-war approach ofa
constitutional imposition of their will and authority on the peninsular. Malaya had
never been a colony in the fullest technical, legal sense. Thus, while elsewhere in
their Crown Colonies the legal basis of Britain's control over the subject territory
was the Foreign Jurisdiction Act of 1890, the legal basis of Britain's control over the
Malayan states was a series of treaties or quasi treaties concluded between 1874 and
1930.(*%
These treaties varied in their conditions and the strength of authority that they gave
Britain on the peninsular, and Britain sought, immediately after the war, to re-negotiate them

to give herself a uniform, centralized civilian control of the peninsular through the principal

33 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Draft of a Directive on Policy in
Malaya, 5 April, 1944, p.1. CAB 98/41.

3 Allen, Malayan Union, p.2.

Allen points out that jurisdictionally Malaya's position was unique in the empire: ‘There was
no such thing, strictly speaking, as British, Malay, or even Malaya at all'.

Ibid.
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constitutional means of legislating for Malaya under the Foreign Jurisdiction Act of 1890.(**)

It is important to stress, then, that the British saw the opportunity in the interregnum of
their administration forced on them by the Japanese to place their administration on a more
secure footing on their return. Since it was clear that the post war military administration was
to be a temporary one - an interim measure to bridge the gap between the Japanese occupation
and the return of the British - the colonial planners were, in the preparations for the return to a
civilian British administration, hard pressed to work out and implement the new constitutional
scheme according to a timetable in large measure determined by the course of the war.

Stanley set out the need for constitutional change and the broad steps to be taken along
this path in a memorandum prepared by him very early in 1944:

Within Malaya considerations of dynastic pride and local particularism
militate against the emergence within any foreseeable future of a union
of the existing Malay States under a native Ruler; nor, for reasons
explained above, would the emergence of a united Malay monarchy for
the whole province be acceptable to other non-Malay communities
with substantial interests in the country. The British Crown alone
provides the common link of loyalty which will draw the separate
communities together and promote a sense of common interest and the
development of common institutions. It is therefore necessary that, as
a first step, the old situation in which His Majesty has no jurisdiction in
the Malay States should be remedied. The legal view is that our
present Treaties with the Malay Rulers are at present to be regarded as
still operative (though for practical purposes in suspension owing to
enemy occupation of the territory.(*)

This “first step' was bound to be problematic. The British treaties with the northwestern

35 In the short run the British could rely on the stronger powers of their military
administration to secure their interests in the country. It was in the longer term transfer from
military to civilian authority that the anxiety over constitutional authority for the British to
organise the country in the way they wanted focussed.

In Oliver Stanley's words:

Immediately on the reoccupation of Malaya, direct authority will be exercised by the
Military Commander, who will carry with him sufficient authority to enable him to
exercise such direct powers and control over the territory as will be necessary during
the period of military administration. This military authority will, however, not enable
His Majesty to legislate for the Malay States under the Foreign Jurisdiction Act, and,
moreover, the jurisdiction of the Military Commander will not persist when the
military administration gives way to a permanant civil administration.

War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Bomeo, Draft of a Directive on Policy in Malaya, 5
April, 1944, p.1. CAB98/41.

36 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Future Constitutional Policy for British
Colonial Territories in South-East Asia, Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, 14 January, 1944, p.3. CAB 98/41.
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states, as we have seen, ran directly contrary to the British aim of unification. The Kedah and
Perlis British Agreements of 1923 and 1930 respectively included clauses by which the British
government undertook ‘not to merge or combine these states with other states, or (in the case
of Kedah) the Straits Settlements, without the written consent of the Ruler in Council.”” It
was a measure of the determination of the British to unify Malaya under one constitution that
they resolved to conclude a fresh treaty with each Ruler ‘as soon as possible after
reoccupation under which much jurisdiction would be ceded to His Majesty as would enable
him to legislate for the States under the Foreign Jurisdiction Act, notwithstanding, in the case
of Kedah and Perlis', the restraining clauses.(**) The new constitution, which was to be
created by orders-in-Council under Statutory powers [i.e. under the Foreign Jurisdiction Act],
was perceived from the outset by Stanley as providing for a strongly centralized government
with residual power over local affairs only being left to ‘the several States and Settlements'
comprising the union.(*) Strong resistance was likely and the British knew this.

For the British there was inevitably a strong element of self interest in their advancement
of the need for efficiency and security in a reconstituted Malaya." We can accept that there
was a genuine desire to prepare the country for independence through the imposition of a
tighter coherence in its government. But they also sought the constitutional change with one
eye on their need to secure tin and rubber production, both of which were seen as being vital
to the post war British economy.(*) They wanted a constitutional arrangement which would
help them secure the tin and rubber economy as the economic basis for an independent
Malaya. Defensive considerations also influenced British planning for post war Malaya: it
was felt that the fall of Malaya to the Japanese had been a governmental, as well as a military,

failure and that a unified Malaya with its essential tin and rubber economy would be easier to

3 Ibid., p.2.
* Ibid., p.3.
» Ibid.

4 Allen, Malayan Union, p.8.
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Allen suggests that a bogus anti Malay sentiment in Britain, which saw the Mala}'rs,:} %\1@1’
especially their rulers, as collaborationist and in part responsible for the rapidity of the
Japanese advance on the peninsular, together with a more genuine admiration for the Chinese
on the peninsular, influenced British policy planners in their deliberations in weighing up the
respective rights of the two ethnic groups in a newly constituted post war Malaya.(*) Allen
takes the view that the British were, in their push for Union, influenced by a belief that “the
Chinese would leap at the chance of becoming citizens of the new Malaya' and that “the Malay
Rulers' and their people would be less reliable allies of British power than other
communities.'(**) Allen also suggests that a pro-Indonesian inclination amongst Malays in
Britain and Malaya - the idea that the Malays of Malaya and Indonesia should combine in a
federation - leant some urgency to the union proposals in the minds of British officials
anxious to unite the Malays on the peninsular exclusively within the British sphere of
influence.(*)

We must be wary of Allen's claim that a bogus anti-Malay sentiment influenced Union
policy at the time and, while it is true that the British were, in 1946, clearly motivated by a
positive desire to secure the well being of non-Malay ethnic groups in the country through the
citizenship provisions in the Union proposal, Sopiee is right to caution that “there is little in
the papers of the War Office, the Cabinet Office and the Colonial Office, however, to indicate

that there was a significant desire to punish the Malays or that strong anti-Malay feelings

1 Thid., p.9.
2 Tbid., pp.9, 10.
“ Ibid., p.19.

“Tbid., p.10, 11.

Allen points out that the idea that *"Malays in Malaya and Indonesia"' should strive for ™a
federation of all Malay lands in Southeast Asia™ and that after the war *"British Malaya and
Indonesia should have closer relations than [had] hitherto prevailed"', was put forward in a
memorandum of the Malay Students' Society in Britain during the war. Allen quotes from this
document.

Ibid.
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significantly affected the political decision-making.'(*) Certainly Stanley, in April 1944,
stating the broad objectives of post war Malayan policy in preparing the ground for self
government on the peninsular, pressed the need for even handedness in the treatment of the
main racial groups under the restored British administration:

... self-government should not merely develop towards a system of

autocratic rule by the Malay Rulers, but should provide for a growing

participation in the government by the people of all the communities in

Malaya, subject to a special recognition of the political, economic and

social interests of the Malay race.(*)

Clearly, the most obvious reason why the British sought to rush through the
imposition of Union was that the war and Japanese occupation of the peninsular
constituted a clear break with the British colonial past on the peninsular and they
saw the opportunity to insert the kind of government system they wanted into the
vacuum left by the Japanese retreat, without going “through the lengthy process
which the sponsors of the decentralization policy had to envisage.'(*’)

Inevitably, the exercise in its planning stages took on an aspect of urgency
since the post war administration - a military administration(the British Military
Administration or BMA) - had the paramount and difficult task of restoring order
out of chaos that would, and did, eventuate on the defeat and departure of the
Japanese and the return of the British. Clearly pressure was, in late 1944, being put
on Malayan planners in the Colonial Office to come up quickly with a scheme for
the re-occupation of the peninsular. Earlier in that year the then Admiral
Mountbatten, Supreme Allied Commander, South-East Asia, urged the Colonial

Office to make known its post war plans for Malaya in anticipation of the British

return to Malaya in order that British military authorities be prepared when the time

4 Sopiee, From Malayan Union, p.18.

46 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo. Draft of a Directive on Policy in
Malaya 5 April, 1944, p.1., CAB 98/41.

47 War Cabinet. Committee on Malaya and Borneo, "Future Constitutional Policy for
British Colonial Territories', 14 January, 1944. Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, p.2. CAB 98/41.
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came for them to initiate British post war control of the peninsular.(**) Stanley
indicated that he attached “great weight' to Mountbatten's views and set in train "the
preparation and distribution to selected circles of a broad statement of the
fundamental problems in Malaya which [bore] directly upon the political,
administrative and economic future of the country.'(*) This was the policy
memorandum quoted in the text above and which squarely addressed the question of
the proposed unification of the peninsular: while it was, as we have seen, a
reflective piece with a clear perception of the main problem standing in the way of
Union - the separationist tendency of the UMS - we can see that in the
circumstances in which it came to be prepared it inevitably took on something of the
aspect of a war time contingency plan. It may well be that it was this urgency - this
need to expedite the post war restoration of Malayan administration - that in larger
measure accounts for the ineptness with which Colonial Office functionaries
handled the Malay rulers, including the NMS rulers. It may be that it was the speed
with which the British acted - a pace which was too rapid to be effective - which
was the main broad factor provoking Malay opposition to the move and thus helping
to defeat the successful implementation of the plan.

Allen seems to underestimate the importance of the pressure put on Malayan planners by
the war-time situation in the Far East. While Allen does concede that the British planned the
Union with the urgent need to preserve the rubber and tin economy he does not allow that
there was a wider sense of urgency - a strong aspect of contingency planning - in the working
out of the post war administration in Malaya. Presumably, because he was unable to see the

documentation conveying this sense of urgency, Allen failed to recognize the extent to which

4 War Cabinet, Committee on Malaya and Borneo, “Constitutional Policy in Malayz',
Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 9 December, 1944. CAB 98/41.

Mountbatten's desire for an early disclosure of Colonial office post occupation plans for
Malaya was backed up in an earlier Cabinet Committee by the Secretary of State for War:" The
Secretary of State for War said that the Military Commander must know what form of civil
administration was intended. To this extent a directive was indispensable.’

War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the First Meeting of the
Committee ... 22 March, 1944. CAB 98/41.

* Tbid.
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planners responsible for Malaya in the Colonial Office were under pressure from personnel
who had a wider responsibilitity for the conduct of the war, and for the restoration of peace in
the region, and who saw the Malayan circumstances as one aspect of a wider war-time
situation. Thus, Allen compares what he sees as the extensive consultations in India in 1945,
and Nigeria in 1949, “with both central and regional non-European groups', with the lack of
consultation with corresponding groups in Malaya in implementing the Union.(*®) The
comparison is hardly a valid one, however, since the British had an accessibility to local
groups in India and Nigeria in a way which was denied them in a Malaya occupied by the
Japanese at a time when they were devising a blue print for re-occupation under civilian rule
to be implemented as soon as possible on the defeat and ousting of the Japanese.

Because of the war time situation the Colonial Office planners preparing for
reoccupation were constrained by the British War Cabinet to operate in partial secrecy and
with minimum consultation. In 1944 the Committee of the War Cabinet charged with the
responsibility of working out war time and immediate post war policy on Malaya gave an
airing in its discussions to such a need for a degree of secrecy. In these discussions the fear
was propounded that if the Japanese got to hear of the plan for Union they might seek "to go
one better.”” The Japanese may have regarded these plans as ‘less welcome to the Malays
than to the Indian and Chinese inhabitants of Malaya' and that the Japanese may accordingly
have attempted to “stir up Malay feeling' against the plans.(**) Reservations were expressed,
too, in the same committee, on the advisability of informing the Americans of war plans for

Malaya.(**) The British were clearly apprehensive at the US reaction to their post war

50 Allen, Malayan Union, p.20.

51 War Cabinet. Committee on Malaya and Borneo. Minutes of the Second Meeting of the
Committee, 19 December, 1944, p.2. CAB 98/41.

2 Tbid.

53 Sopiee comments, on a reading of the 1944 Cabinet Committee documents, that *British
sensitivity to American feelings and attitudes as regards the Far East was obvious'.

Sopiee, From Malayan Union, pp.16, 17n.

433



434
Malayan plans and the Committee was divided on how best to deal with the Americans on the
subject. One view within the Committee was that it was best to come clean and inform the
Americans, who shared the Allied Military Command in Southeast Asia, in order to forestall
any criticism from the Americans that lack of consultation had exposed US authorities to
criticism that they “were supporting the British in a policy of territorial aggrandizement.'(**) It
was thought that the Americans within the command may get to know of the plan anyway and
that the British could avoid embarrassment by appearing forthright with their ally on their
plans for Malaya after the war.(**) In the alternative, it was argued within the Committee that
*to bring the Americans in at [that] stage [would be] to make too much of the problem'.(*®) In
the same meeting '[t]he Committee were informed that the Foreign Office did not consider an
approach to the US Government to be necessary'.(*””) The impression conveyed in these
Committee records is that US attitudes to British Malaya policy were intimidating for
members of the British war time cabinets and that Committee members were anxious that they
be able to develop their Malayan policy unhindered by the demands of the war time alliance
with the Americans. In the first of these Committee meetings there was unanimous agreement
“with the Secretary of State for War that the area under discussion lay within the military
sphere of His Majesty's Government and not that of the United States Government'.(**)

Still; while these deliberations in late 1944 on the advisability of openly declaring plans
for post war Malaya were taking place, the cabinet, by its own record, was clearly under
strong pressure not only to act quickly in deciding a course of action for post war Malaya - to
come up with some sort of open statement of intention - from both sides of the Atlantic. What

Mountbatten wanted from the planners was a timely, ‘fully explained’, declaration of

54 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the Second Meeting of the
Committee ... Constitutional Policy in Malay 19 December, 1944. CAB 98/41.

% Tbid.
3 Ibid.
57 Tbid.

58 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the First Meeting of the
Committee ... Draft Directive for Malaya, 22 March, 1944 CAB 98/41.
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intention: * Admiral Mountbatten holds that the proper reception of our future policy in Malaya
depends upon its being fully explained beforehand, and that the time is now ripe for this.(*")
According to the Committee record Mountbatten saw such a full explanation as serving to
assist in creating a “favourable atmosphere' for the setting up of his military administration on
the peninsular at the close of hostilities.(®”) And beyond this there was pressure for a popular
enunciation of British intentions: "... the authorities engaged in Political Warfare and in the
enlightment of the public both in this country and the United States of America have strongly
pressed their need for a new Malayan directive which will be based on a forward policy and
will reflect that policy.'(°")

In the end Stanley steered a middle course between full disclosure and secrecy adopting
a cautionary stance in declaring a broad statement of intention and passing it to those whom
the planners considered needed to know. To that point in time Colonial Office plans had "been
disclosed only to those directly concerned in them'.(*?) It was the fact that "the increasing
disadvantages of this secrecy [had] been urged with great weight from various quarters', and
the “great weight' Stanley attached to Mountbatten's views, that the policy planning proceeded,
not with openness, but with less secrecy than before.(®*) The decision was for an approval of
circumspect disclosure and it was in late 1944 the Colonial Office, under Stanley's direction,
drafted “a statement of fundamental problems in Malaya.'(®*) Stanley explained the reasons

for limited disclosure in these terms:

59 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, *Constitutional Policy in Malaya,
Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 9 December, 1944. CAB 98/41.

% Ibid.
81 Ibid.
62 Ibid.
% Tbid.

6 Ibid. Draft statement attached as “Annex 1'.
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I am not yet convinced that the time has come for our plans to be divulged in full, since
this would involve committing ourselves to every feature of those plans, at a time when
many relevant facts are by force of circumstances unknown to us. Nevertheless, I attach
great weight to the Supreme Commander’s views, and I believe that the essential needs
of himself and others could be met for the present by the preparation and distribution to
selected circles of a broad statement of the fundamental problems in Malay which bear
directly upon the political, administrative and economic future of the country. At the
same time there would be prepared, not for publication, but purely for the background
use of restricted circles which can guide and influence thought and discussion of the
subject, a brief statement actually setting out the main features of our proposed

policy.(*%)

Thus, while Allen implies that Whitehall drew a veil of secrecy around the plans for
Union as a strategy to help force the new policy on an unsuspecting Malayan
population the documentary evidence of high level Whitehall planning at the time
gives no hint that this was the case.(*) Nor was the secrecy total as Allen states. It
was partial and operated on a need-to-know basis.(*’)

This decision to adopt a cautious approach was consistent with the uncertainty felt
within the War Cabinet from early in 1944 as to whether the post war situation in Malaya
would be conducive to the successful implementation of the Union scheme. In April of that
year Stanley had advocated a tentative wait-and-see approach to forward planning on Malaya.
He argued that in formulating such a policy it was necessary to make "certain basic
assumptions'. But at the same time he cautioned against too rigid an adherence to those
assumptions. Where prior assumptions were found “to be wrong or incomplete' in meeting a
situation when the liberation of Malaya [had] been effected’, it was, he argued, necessary to

vary ‘the prepared plans' accordingly.(®®)

65 Stanley. Memorandum, Ibid.

% Allen expresses himself in strong terms on the subject:
... the Malayan Union scheme was a monstrous concept, for this if for no other reason,
that it had been hatched in the depths of Whitehall, far from the light of the Malayan

sun, and was now brought out to be imposed willy-nilly upon the people it most
concerned.

Allen, Malayan Union, p.20.
¢ Ibid. p.vi.

68 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo. Draft of a Directive on Policy in
Malaya, 5 April, 1944. CAB 98/41.
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Stanley's reluctance to enter into a too specific and open disclosure of British plans for
post war Malaya, and his belief in the need for a flexible approach to the implementation of
post war policy, was clearly informed by, among other things, his awareness of disintegrative
“local particularism' on the peninsular and the past inclination of the UMS to *[fight] shy' of
the “centralized bureaucracy' of the FMS “based on the Federal capital indicated in his 14
January memorandum of that year.(*) Relatedly, Stanley was wary of the possibility of
popular Malay backing for Malay rulers resisting being drawn, or re-drawn, into a tightly
organized colonial state. Thus, accordingly in 1944, while Stanley did not want to finally
judge the *future position and status of the Malay Rulers' before liberation, he operated for the
time being on the assumption that “the Sultanates as an institution [would] continue to enjoy
the loyalty and traditional respect of the Malays.'(™®) The implication is that Stanley thought
this a reason for maintaining the Sultenates under the new British regime though no final
decision would be made until they could more accurately read the situation on the ground with
the actual liberation.

Elsewhere, too, in the Cabinet Office documents, there is evidence that the British were,
at the highest level, well aware of the loyalty of the Malays to their Rulers and the power of
the latter to disrupt British plans for the reoccupation of the peninsular and that they saw the
need to tread warily in the treatment of the rulers to avoid provoking a back lash against their
plans for Malaya. Early in 1944, for example, the Secretary of State for War “emphasized that
if difficulty with rulers was apprehended, the right must be reserved to the Military
Commander to advise the Secretary of State for the Colonies to delay an approach until the

situation was ripe for it to be made, in the light of [the] current military situation'.("") Clearly

% War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Future Constitutional Policy for British
Colonial Territories in South-East Asia. Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, 14 January, 1944, p.3 CAB 98/41.

7 Ibid.

7 War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the First Meeting of the
Committee ... Draft Directive for Malaya, 22 March, 1944. CAB 98/41.
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this cautious approach was very much at odds with the actual heavy handed treatment of the
rulers at the hand of the British negotiators seeking the agreement of the rulers for the Union
scheme as we shall see below.

Colonial Office decision making and the Union.

Given, then, the cautious approach to Union planning at the cabinet level, how did these
plans come to be implemented in such a precipitate manner? Who was responsible for the
finer points of policy making and the actual implementation of the Union policy? It is clear
that, given that much of the hostilities to, and reaction against, the Union was focussed upon
the initial re-negotiation of the treaties with the rulers, and that it was this which ignited the
opposition which was to follow, we can see that the principle failure on the British side lay
not so much with Stanley and his cabinet colleagues but rested with MacMichael and his
immediate superiors in the Colonial Office.

Tt is clear, then, on a reading of primary sources, that Allen was unable to read that, at
the Cabinet sub-committee level at least, the British were aware that problems may be ahead
when the time came to implement their post war policy in Malaya, even if they were unsure of
the precise nature of what those problems would be. A reading of these sources reveals that,
contrary to Allen's assertion that the British completely misread the situation and had
proceeded to impose the Union scheme on completely false premises, Whitehall in fact
reserved judgement on what the situation might be in post war Malaya anticipating obstacles
in the future. The mystery remains, then, as to why the Union scheme was implemented in the
way that it was in the face of these acute reservations. Allen's claim that “the methods by
which it was intended to effect Malaya's New Deal ... were based on false suppositions' and
that “dangerous rigidity prevented a plan designed for totally different conditions from being
changed before it was executed with catastrophic results', may accurately reflect certain
specific aspects of British thinking at the time. However, they are misleading as a guide to
Whitehall's broad intentions for post war Malaya as we have seen.”? The Cabinet and Colonial
Office documents do not indicate that the “false suppositions' that the Chinese would "leap at
the chance of becoming citizens of the new Malaya' and that “the Malay Rulers and their

people would be less reliable allies of British power than the other communities' were

72 Allen, Malayan Union, pp.12,19.
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dominant concerns in Whitehall's planning for postwar Malaya.(™)

There is nothing in the primary sources to verify Allen's claims that the British
negotiations with the Sultans “were never meant to be real consultations nor even to produce
real treaties' and that the British had proceeded from the outset with the aim of eclipsing the
Sultans.(™) To the contrary, as we have seen, there was recognition at the top level in the
Colonial Office that the Sultancy was an important institution in Malaya commanding strong
loyalty from the Malay masses and that caution was necessary in achieving the British post-
war objectives for Malaya: the aim was to attain these objectives without disturbing the
position of the Sultans any more than was necessary; to unify the peninsular under British
control with a minimum of destabilization in this regard. While the negotiations, in the event,
did see the British adopting an overbearing and coercive posture that had more to do with
necessary strategy in the exigency of the time than any deliberate aim subjugating the Sultans
and their subject populations.

It is clear then, as we have seen from Stanley's recorded policy statements in 1944, that
he favoured a feasible wait-and-see approach to Malayan post war planning and that any
rigidities in policy implementation must have occurred at a lower level of implementation. At
the same time it is clear with the same hindsight that in the event the British did not have the
time, nor did they have sufficient vision, to find a way of quickly implementing an effective
unification of Malaya, in the very complicated and difficult circumstances confronting them
after the war. That there was inadequacy in policy implementation in this sense is certain:
what is not clear is precisely where in the colonial administration that inadequacy was located.
While Allen accurately programs the grave consequences of this inadequacy he wrongly lays
the blame for the ‘monstrous concept' of union at the feet of Whitehall. It seems much more
likely, however, that where the failure of Union is attributable to errors in British judgement
and practice the fault lay much more with the negotiating entourage in Malaya in 1946 - with

those officials charged with the responsibility of reading the post war Malayan situation on the

73 Allen's assertions. Ibid., p.19. See above in this chapter.

™ Ibid. pp.20, 29.
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ground and implementing the Union scheme accordingly within the broad and flexible
guidelines laid down by Stanley and his planning staff in Whitehall.(”)

The critical question, then, is that posed by Allen: 'How far was MacMichael acting on
orders from above and how far on his own initiative in implementing the Union initiative ?'("%)
The way in which the hierarchy of British authority operated in policy determination in
relation to this matter is far from clear in the secondary sources. It is not easy, either, to
discern in precise terms how it operated from the Cabinet and Colonial Office documentation.
To Allen the origin of the Union scheme was a mystery. It was "evolved' in its details, Allen
writes, by the Malayan Planning Unit(MPU) set up by the Colonial Office in July 1943.("")
Allen seems to be suggesting that the unit, and those in the Colonial Office outside the Unit
but working closely with it, were largely responsible for the scheme with the cabinet role a

relatively passive one confined to the issuance of “directives on constitutional matters to the

75 Allen relies heavily on the papers of old Malayans, as retired officials from the Malayan
colonial service were known. These officials had ceased to be officially active in Malayan
affairs by the time the Union proposal became an issue. In particular, Allen gained access to
the private papers of Clementi and Sir George Maxwell and interviewed Richard Winstedt on
the issue. Following the interpretation of these old Malayans on the subject Allen takes the
view that Colonial Office planners, remote from and out of touch with the situation in Malaya,
were mainly responsible for a debacle in Malaya in 1946. It may be that a necessary over-
reliance on the views of these men by Allen (necessary because of the limited access he had to
source materials) - men generally opposed the Colonial Office in its conception and
implementation of the scheme - has coloured his judgement of the motives and behaviour of
active Colonial Office functionaries and their role in attempting to create the Union.

The archival record, however, invites caution in accepting Allen's view formed in this
way. Take, for example, the criticism of one old Malayan given an airing within Colonial
Office circles in the year of the Union implementation. In February of that year H.T.
Bourdillon, in a report assessing Malay reactions to the Government White Paper, wrote that
Sir George Maxwell saw "the whole of Malaya' at that time “bursting into flames' but that he,
Bourdillon, on the basis of a state-by-state analysis, could find no evidence of “the universal
conflagration seen from afar by Sir George Maxwell.'

Bourdillon to Maxwell, 23 February, 1946. C0O537/1548.
Bourdillon's report is a careful analytic piece and as such is a reminder that we must be wary
of assuming that the old Malayans, with their prior knowledge and experience of Malaya,

necessarily had a better grasp of the post war situation there than Colonial Office functionaries
actively involved in the implementation of the scheme.

7 Allen, Malayan Union, p.17.

77 Allen, Malayan Union, p.1.
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planners.'(”®) He takes the view that Edward Gent, at the time Under Secretary of State for the
Colonies and head of the Far Eastern Department, was widely believed to be the creator of the
scheme and that this "does not seem an unnatural assumption.'(””) Elsewhere in his monograph
Allen is unsure whether the broad policy framework within which the MPU worked was laid
down by the Cabinet or by Gent “who was closely connected with the Unit though not a
member of it.'(*)

Sopiee on the other hand cautions us that in “current literature, ... the MPU has often
been attributed a role in policy-making on the Malayan Union which it does not deserve.'(*")
He claims that the role of the Colonial Office, and in particular that of Gent, was much more

important in the formulation of Union policy.(*?) Both Allen and Sopiee, then, seem to agree

7 Ibid.

™ Ibid., p.2.

® Tbid., p.14.

$1 Sopiee, From Malayan Union, p.14.

8 Ibid.

Sopiee points out that the War Cabinet decided on 6 January, 1944 to set up the War Cabinet
Committee on Malaya and Borneo and that it was at “the first and crucial meeting on 22
March 1944, the Committee decided on the Union Policy'.

Tbid., p.15.

It was however not the first but the second meeting of the Committee held on December 19,
1944 that unequivocally decided on the policy. The first committee merely expressed its
‘general agreement' with a very broad outline of a post war Union policy in Malaya.

War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the First Meeting ... 22 March,
1944. CAB 98/41.

It was not until the second meeting later in the year that the Committee agreed "to invite the
Chairman to seek War Cabinet approval for' proposals which included ‘draft statements ...
setting out ... the fundamental problems in Malaya and future policy in Malaya.'

War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Minutes of the Second Meeting ... 19
December, 1944. CAB98/41.

Thus, while Sopiee claims that after the 22 March Committee decision ‘the concurrence of the
War Cabinet on 31 May 1944 was more or less a formality, Cabinet approval for the scheme
was not sought until much later and must have been given very late in 1944 or early in 1945.
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that Gent was very influential in the formulation of the Union policy though they present
differing views on the channels through which he operated to this effect - more through the
Colonial Office according to Sopiee; and in Allen's perception more through the MPU. It is
not clear from the Committee minutes whether the draft policy forwarded by Stanley for the
Committee's consideration was mainly the work of his Under Secretary or not and no mention
is made of the Planning Unit. Certainly Gent was present at both Committee meetings. The
Committee minutes do not indicate whether he spoke or not or what he might have said and it
would appear from this record that it was Stanley who advanced the Colonial Office point of
view.

Still, it hardly matters whether Gent exercised an influence as the architect of the Union
though his influence on Cabinet through Stanley or through the Planning Unit, since it would
clearly have been to the same effect either way. What is important is that it is clear from the
primary sources that the Colonial Office and Cabinet were firmly in control of the
formulation, at least, of Union policy as Sopiee asserts, and that it was not an arcane plot
‘hatched in the depths of Whitehall' by bureaucratic slight-of-hand by bumbling Whitehall
bureaucrats out of touch with the situation in Malaya in the way that Allen tentatively
asserts.(**)

The failure of the Union, then, lay not so much in inadequate policy formulation in the
way Allen describes but in the difficulties of implementation in the chaotic post war Malayan
situation. While there was clearly in some sense a policy failure on the part of the British this
needs to be seen in a different light from Allen: and it needs to be measured more against the
difficult social circumstances (outlined in more detail in this chapter below) in which the
British attempted to implement Union. Thus, while there were limitations in the way in which
the British went about establishing the Union and this contributed to the degree of its failure,
the position was more that even if policy had been devised and implemented in a fully
competent way right down the line from top to bottom in the British Colonial hierarchy the

Union in all likelihood could only have succeeded if the social circumstances in which all this

Sopiee, From Malayan Union, p-15.

8 Allen, Malayan Union, p.20, passim. See above.
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was taking place had been otherwise. Eventually, then, the success or failure of British policy
formulation and implementation can only be perceived in terms of the circumstantial criteria
which applied at the time. Given the caution being advocated by Whitehall planners at the top
level we need to look elsewhere for the causes of the disaster in the British policy making
hierarchy for any precipitate action in implementing the Union. That the top policy makers
had decided to take a gamble in the face of the odds against success is perhaps understandable
given the British frustrations at earlier efforts to unify the peninsular and the opportunity
provided by the break in their rule to set the peninsular to rights. It was in a weaker sense
only that the policy emanating from Whitehall was inherently unstable. That policy was
inherently contradictory in that it acknowledged the tendency to divisiveness on the peninsular
and advocated wait-and-see caution while at the same time urging clandestine haste as a
measure necessary to meet the urgency of the war and post war situation in Malaya. It was
this inherent tension between the two Whitehall objectives which placed the implementers of
the scheme in, as it turned out, an impossible position. When it comes to the MacMichael
negotiations, then, we can see why there emerged a disparity between the cautious unification
policy of Whitehall and the precipitate and abrasive manner and tactics of Mac Michael and
his negotiating team. It is not so much a question, then, of whether MacMichael exceeded his
orders, or whether his immediate superordinates did. Itis much more likely that MacMichael
had been given a task which was in the event, impossible, and that this failure to pave the way
for Union was doomed by the circumstances in which it took place.

The MacMichael Negotiations.

When MacMichael arrived in Malaya shortly after British reoccupation he not only
carried a specific brief to re-negotiate the treaties but was also empowered to exercise his
discretion in the recognition of the Malay rulers by the British government as well.(*%)

MacMichael was empowered to recommend recognition of new rulers in the four northern

8 Allen, Malayan Union, p.18.

Allen cites MacMichael's own report on his treaty negotiations where he refers to the terms of
reference for the negotiations set down by Whitehall. MacMichael's report is discussed in this
chapter below.
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states where the pre-war rulers were no longer in office and of established rulers in the
remaining states - in all cases where the incumbent was untainted by any suggestion of
collaboration with the Japanese. Allen suggests that the manner in which MacMichael went
about these negotiations was coercive with MacMichael threatening to withhold recognition

from the rulers if they failed to sign the treaties.(*")

8 Allen is clearly not wholly certain of his claim that MacMichael used coercion. He
offers only one specific sample based on the observation of E.V.G. Day who was present with
MacMichael throughout the negotiations and even then "not to illustrate MacMichael's
methods but to show that, had an appeal against the validity of these treaties been brought
before an English court, it could not have been lightly dismissed.’

Allen, Malayan Union, p.32.

Allen is wary of MacMichael's own report as an indication of the way in which the
negotiations were conducted. Having caught MacMichael out on one aspect of his
report(MacMichael's claim that the Kedah State Council was present throughout his
negotiations with the Sultan was in direct contradiction to Day's claim in an interview with
Allen that MacMichael barred the Council from one such meeting) Allen takes the view that
the veracity of the report is “suspect on other points'.

Ibid.

Allen's implication is that MacMichael was less than forthright on the question of coercion in
reporting on his negotiating tactics and that Day's version of the treaty negotiations is more
reliable.

Allen's judgment on this may be a little harsh. The MacMichael report to which Allen
refers is a published one and gives only a cursory account of the negotiations. MacMichael
was, at the time, reporting periodically to his superiors more fully and, we would assume since
the correspondence was private and confidential, more candidly on the negotiations and it is
clear from these reports that MacMichael was using veiled coercion as an intimidatory
strategy to obtain the Sultan's signature to the treaties.

It is possible, too, that Day may have had a personal axe to grind with MacMichael.
There is some suggestion in the sources that MacMichael and Newboult were colluding to
have Day removed from Kedah on the grounds that he lacked the firm hand needed for Union
negotiations to succeed in that state. Early in 1946 Newboult wrote to the Colonial Office
expressing reservations over Day's performance in assisting with the Union negotiations:']
ought to warn you that I think Day will have to be moved from Kedah as I fear he is not taking
a strong enough line. He will be disappointed, I know, but I have a feeling, which I know
MacMichael shared, that our path would have been smoother if we had had a firm hand in the

state'.
Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. CO 537/1548.

There may well, then, have been some tension between Day's approach to the Kedah
negotiations, and that of MacMichael and Newboult, and Day may have been embittered
towards MacMichael as a result. Day may well have felt that MacMichael exercised too much
of a “firm hand' in his negotiations with that state. If there was personal animosity between the
two Day may well have been casting aspersions on the latter's methods in Kedah in a less than
wholly objective way when MacMichael interviewed him some many years after the
incident(Allen does not foot note Day in the text where he describes the coercive tactic: he
does, however, indicate in the preface that he interviewed Day in London on 12 March, 1964).

Day's impression of MacMichael's tactics may well, too, have been coloured by hind
sight, and criticisms of MacMichael's tactics may well have augmented his impression that
MacMichael overstepped the mark in Kedah. Certainly Day is on record as offering assurance
with another British official to the Sultan of Kedah, and, by implication, the Colonial Office
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Clearly MacMichael and those assisting him - Brigadier Newboult, then Deputy Chief
Civic Affairs officer in Malaya; Colonel E.V.G. Day, at that time the senior British Military
Administration(BMA) officer in Kedah; and Mr. Bourdillon of the Colonial Office - held a
brief to negotiate the treaties with the Sultans as expedititiously as possible and this, in large
measure, accounts for the timing and haste with which the negotiations were conducted.(*%) It
also in large measure accounts for the strategies adopted by the negotiating team in order to
outmanoeuvre the Sultans.(*’)

Certainly in general terms the tactics used by MacMichael were harsh enough it is true.
However, they were surely not all that exceptional against the wider sweep of determined -

forceful - British colonial diplomacy, especially in view of the urgent circumstances in which

in London, that MacMichael “had sent to London full and faithful record of his two interviews
in Kedah’ though this is not necessarily a true reflection of Day's feelings at the time.

Hone to Colonial Office, 7 February, 1946. CO 537/1548.

Thus, while Allen draws the correct conclusions in broad terms - that MacMichael was
coercive in his methods - it may well be(Allen gives few details of coercion and his precise
notion of it is unclear) that Allen was influenced by Day into believing that MacMichael's
negotiating tactics were harsher than they really were.

% Allen indicates that MacMichael was further assisted in the negotiations by former
Malayan Civil Service(MCS) officers from the Malayan Planning Unit.

Allen, Malayan Union, p.17.

%7 A5 we have seen the British War Cabinet was under considerable pressure to move
rapidly in devising and announcing their plans for post war Malaya. It is clear that it wanted
to lay the constitutional ground work for the transition from military to civilian rule as quickly
as possible and the correspondence of the time carries a sense of haste and urgency in line
with this. The ‘fresh treaties' needed to bring the states within the ambit of the Foreign
Jurisdiction Act were to be concluded “at the earliest opportunity on reoccupation.’

War Cabinet Committee on Malaya and Borneo, Draft of a Directive on Policy in Malaya,
Memorandum by the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 15 January, 1944, p.1. CAB 98/41.

In keeping with this Allen points out that MacMichael “arrived in Malaya not only shortly
after the Japanese surrender but also a mere day after the first mention of new plans for
Malaya in the House of Commons.'

g

Allen, Malayan Union, p.17.

MacMichael, in his reports to his superiors in Whitehall, makes frequent reference to the
timing of his negotiations and was clearly at pains to point out that he was avoiding delay in
the conclusion of his mission as much as possible, as I indicate in the text of this chapter
below.
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the negotiations took place.(**) MacMichael's approach with the northern state rulers at least
was, by his own account, a carrot-and-stick one, emphasizing the positive benefits of Union to
the Sultans on the one hand, and the negative consequences for them of not entering the Union
on the other. Thus, his approach in the negotiations was not wholly coercive. He also put
forward the general advantages of a united Malaya and those accruing to individual states
within it as an incentive for them to join.(*’)

On the negative side MacMichael, certainly in his negotiations with the four northern
states, relied principally on the veiled threat that Britain would not recognize a ruler who did
not sign the treaty on MacMichael's terms and the suggestion that any ruler who did not sign
the treaty would be out on a limb and at odds with the other rulers on the peninsular. It was a
divide-and-rule strategy in which the Sultans were not given scope to consult one another and

which thus enabled MacMichael to more effectively play one Sultan off against another in this

88 See my reference in chapter 6 above to British gun boat diplomacy in forcing their
wishes on the Trengganu Sultan in the 1860s.

% For example, in the course of the negotiations with the Perlis ruler and the Perlis State
Council, MacMichael stressed the fundamental purpose of the new policy - the end of
parochialism and the working together of all permanent elements for the good of a united
Malaya.

MacMichael, *Note of First Interview with Syed Putera and Members of the Perlis State
Council (... December the 3rd 1945)' 3 December, 1945, p.2. CO 537/1541.

Likewise MacMichael assured ‘the Sultan elect of Trengganu' that there was "no intention to
destroy the individuality of the several states, or to undermine that loyalty or esprit de corps
among the advisers surrounding the Rulers.' "Nor', MacMichael added, “was there any
intention to diminish the prestige of the Rulers themselves.

To the contrary, MacMichael emphasized that the British Government was "determined to
enhance that prestige by giving the Rulers an interest and an influence beyond the confines of
their own state.'

MacMichael, “Note of First Interview with His Highness the Sultan Elect of Trengganu (...
December the 19th)' no date, 1945, pp.1, 20. CO 537/1541.

In his correspondence on the subject we can also see MacMichael mixing flattery with
intimidation as part of his positive approach in the negotiations.

Thus, when negotiating with the ruler of Kedah MacMichael coupled the vieled threat that the
British government might come to the conclusion, in keeping with ‘modern conceptions of
democratic government - that the Sultanates were out of date', with praise for the Malay rulers
as a whole as 'a loyal body of men whose service to the country, and particularly in support of
their own comparatively backward Malays, could be invaluable.'

MacMichael, ‘Note of First Interview with His Highness the Regent of Kedah (... November
the 29th), 30 November, 1945. CO537/1541.
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way. The strategy appears to have been one in which MacMichael sought to secure the
treaties with each ruler separately and in rapid succession so that this basic preliminary
constitutional measure for Union would be a fait accompli before those who might be opposed
to the treaties had time to react. In this sense Allen is right in his surmise that MacMichael
used coercion to secure the signatures of the nine Sultans on the re-negotiated treaties. For
example, MacMichael noted in a report on his first interview with the Sultan of Kedah:
... I pointed out that in addition to my task of seeking his cooperation in the new policy
(at this point I named in confidence the five Rulers who had already signed fresh
Treaties), I had been granted discretion by His Majesty's Government in the matter of
recognising him as Sultan of Kedah, his appointment to that office having taken place
during the Japanese occupation. I expressed the hope that this would present no
difficulty.(*®)
And then in stronger terms, though still an implied threat that the British Government would
not, on MacMichael's discretion, recognize the Sultan if he failed to sign the treaty:
It was fortunate that His Majesty's government had not concluded - as would have been
consonant with modern conceptions of democratic government - that the Sultanates were
altogether out of date. They had not done so. They had realized that the Rulers were a
loyal body of man whose service to the country, and particularly in support of their own
comparatively backward Malays, could be invaluable; but were the policy to be
modified, the change would not be in the direction of greater power for the Rulers.(*")
MacMichael's negotiating approach, then, was not without some subtlety entailing the
use of flattery and implied coercion combined to obtain the ruler's agreement. MacMichael
adopted similar tactics with the other northern state rulers though the degree of coercion used,

if his own account is to be believed, was generally less than was the case with Kedah and

varied in intensity from state to state.(*?)

% MacMichael, “Note of First Interview with His Highness the Regent of Kedah (...
November the 29th)' 20 November, 1945, p.1. CO 537/1541.

1 Tbid., p.2.
92 See: MacMichael, *Note of First Interview with Syed Putera and Members of the Perlis

State Council( ... December the 3rd 1945)' para. 4. CO 537/1541.

MacMichael, “Note of Second Interview with Syed Putera and Members of the Perlis State
Council (... December the 4th 1945) p.1. Unsigned. para 2. CO 537/1541.

MacMichael, “Note of First Interview with His Highness the Raja of Kelantan (... December
the 15th), 15 December, 1945, p.1. CO537/1541.

MacMichael, “Note of First Interview with His Highness the Sultan Elect of Trengganu( ...
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MacMichael's stronger negotiating stance in the case of Kedah clearly stemmed from the
fact that he saw that state as having a stronger separationist tendency than other states on the
peninsular.(*®) Certainly he was in his negotiating stance with Kedah, mindful of the fact that
the state had “in the past ... prided itself on its separationist tendencies.'(**)

Allen argues by inference that the incompatibility of the two tasks - recognizing the
rulers and seeking their willing agreement to the treaties - could not have been coincidence
since the Colonial Office was not prone to this kind of mistake. The two tasks were combined
as a deliberate strategy by the Colonial Office to gain leverage over the rulers. It was in this
sense that MacMichael was "not sent to consult but to coerce.'("’) This assertion by Allen that
MacMichael was instructed by Whitehall to coerce the rulers into signing the treaties in this
way is close to the mark though the record shows that it was more that MacMichael
successfully sought and obtained permission from his Colonial Office superiors to do so.
Certainly he requested and obtained permission to deal with three of the northern rulers in this

way, though the collusion between Whitehall and MacMichael on the matter was nowhere

Wednesday December the 19th)' para. 3. CO 537/1541.

% Allen comments that it “was in Negri Sembilan and more especially in Kedah that
MacMichael met his toughest opposition’ in negotiating the treaties.

Allen, Malayan Union, p.32.

Newboult, too, anticipated stronger resistance from Kedah. He singled out Kedah and Perak
as being in his anticipation the focus of “one camp' of Malay states opposed to the
negotiations.

Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. CO 537/1548.

% MacMichael, ‘Note of First Interview with His Highness the Regent of Kedah( ...
Thursday November the 29th)', para. 5. CO 537/1541.

% Allen, Malayan Union, p.18.

Allen was unable to do more, on the evidence available to him, than to infer a coercive
strategy of this kind and nowhere in his monograph was he able to substantiate his somewhat
tentative assertion along these lines. For example Allen implies, much later in his study, that
MacMichael omitted to point out in his report on his treaty negotiations that there was no
evidence indicating a collaborationist taint on the four northern states because this would have
given away the fact that he had deliberately withheld this non-collaborationist finding from
the leaders of these states in order to use recognition as a bargaining tool. Allen was unable to
assert his case more strongly than this because he lacked the evidence to do so.

Ibid., pp.29,30.
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near as direct and obvious as Allen suggests. The fact of the matter is that Whitehall seems to
have been ambivalent in its instruction to MacMichael, instructing him to secure the treaties
with all possible speed while at the same time conducting himself with faimess and honour -
or at least appearing to do so.

Allen rests his conclusions in part on a reading of MacMichael's report on his treaty
negotiations.(*) Paragraph 12 of that report refers back to the third paragraph of
MacMichael's terms of reference (paragraph 10 of the report) requiring him to telegraph his
recommendations of "competent and responsible' persons for recognition by the British
government as state rulers.(’’) MacMichael indicates in the paragraph what he terms as
*minor modification' in this communication procedure aimed, he says, at obviating “the delays
and difficulties which would have been caused by periodic reference at a time when signal
communications were somewhat congested and uncertain.'("®) MacMichael does not say what
the modification was and, since the paragraph is wholly misleading in its generality it is
understandable that Allen was unable to see the significance of the modification to which it
refers. It was in fact this modification which embodied the understanding between
MacMichael and Whitehall that recognition was to be held over the head of rulers unwilling to
sign.

In October 1945 MacMichael communicated with the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, referring to paragraph three of his terms of reference and requesting a change in the
procedure for communicating his recommendations for three of the northern states only.
Having established that the rulers of Kedah, Kelantan and Perlis were “available' and
‘unexceptional as regards behaviour under the Japanese' (the case of Trengganu presented
“special difficulties' and MacMichael excluded it from consideration in this correspondence)

MacMichael then sought authority to open discussions with the three rulers according to a

% Tbid.
97 MacMichael, Report, in Allen, Malayan Union, pp.157, 158.

% Tbid., p.158.
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procedure built around the willingness or otherwise of the rulers to sign the treaties:

Subsequent steps in each case should be in my view as follows. If personage selected is

unwilling to co-operate I will approach you again. If, on the other hand, he gives

pledges of readiness to sign treaty, I would, in case of Perlis, verify election of Syed

Putera as Raja in accordance with local custom ... (B) Recgégmze all three personages as

rulers on behalf of HM.G. ... (C) Sign treaties with them.(™)

In the same correspondence he made much of the pressure of time and difficulty of
communication as a reason for the granting greater discretion for him in concluding these
agreements for Union with the three northern rulers in the way he wanted to. In making his
request he advised the Colonial Secretary: “In view of the time factor I consider it essential
that I should have authority to do this without further reference to you at this stage.'
Furthermore, he made it clear that “in view of great delays in telegraphic communications' he
would “be grateful for [the] earliest possible reply.'('™)

On the face of it, then, MacMichael's request seem reasonable enough, based on the need
to move quickly in his bid to secure the treaties against the difficulties in communicating his
moves and intentions. However, there seems little doubt that, while time and communication
difficulties were valid considerations for MacMichael to raise, that they also served, in the
manner in which MacMichael put them forward, as a smokescreen to hide his real intention of
using recognition as a coercive device to obtain the signatures. While MacMichael already
had the discretion to recognize rulers on the basis of competency, responsibility and non
collaboration, his correspondence amounted to a veiled request to go a step further and use
recognition as negotiating tactic. It seems likely that it was, in the manner of its diplomatic
and careful wording, an invitation to the Secretary of State to read between the lines and to
reply in similar vein thus leaving themselves an outlet if things fell apart and explanations
were required afterwards. The Secretary of State's response to MacMichael was brief and
gave no explicit acknowledgement of what he must have realized was an oblique request to

use recognition as a negotiating tactic: "I agree to your proposed procedure for Kedah,

Kelantan, and Perlis and that you open discussions as proposed with Tungku Badlishah,

% MacMichael to Secretary of State for the Colonies 25 October, 1945. CO 537/1541.

Step A is unlabelled in the correspondence. The correspondence is the form of a signal
transmitted through the BMA.

19 Tbid.
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Tungku Ibrahim and Syed Putera.'('”") In a deleted section of this correspondence it is clear,
too, that the Secretary of State was under pressure in parliament to account for MacMichael's
activities in Malaya and that he was anxious that MacMichael furnish him with information
on his intentions in fulfilling his brief in general, and his plans for proceeding with the
negotiations in the northern Malay states in particular. The deleted paragraph in the two
paragraph cypher read:
I should be glad of further information by telegraph as to you[sic] plans for Northern
States particularly as questions in parliament about your negotiations had been put down
for answer on November 21st and my reply will clearly be conditioned by the extent of
your progress up to that date. Immediately following en clair telegram contains text of
two questions, which I forward for your information and comment. You should also
know that Viscount Marchwood is calling attention to the policy of H.M. Government in
Malaya and moving for Papers in the Lords on 20th November.(*%?)
It is not clear why the second paragraph of the cypher was deleted or who deleted it. The most
likely assumption however is that the record is a draft and that the deletions was made by, or
on the orders of, the Minister himself. It may be that the Minister decided as an after thought
that the less he knew about any coercion that MacMichael might apply the easier it would be
for him to deny in parliament that coercion was being used; that it was a case of wanting
results without knowing precisely how they were achieved - of turning a partially blind eye.
Given the Minister's evident anxiety that he be adequately prepared to account for
MacMichael's negotiations in Malaya he must have been grateful that the reference to
coercion in the MacMichael correspondence was oblique. And as there was uncertainty as to
the response of the Malay rulers and the Colonial Office foresaw the possibility of resistance
on the part of the Malay rulers and complaints arising from this reaching Britain he must have
been keeping in reserve the ostensible reasons that might be advanced for the coercive strategy
hinted at by MacMichael in his October correspondence. MacMichael gave him the outlet in

his plea that the recognition of the Sultans was conditioned in large measure by the time factor

and the communication difficulties. If pressed, the latitude would have been there for the

190 Secretary of State for the Colonies to MacMichael, 29 October, 1945. CO 537/1541.
This reply is in the form of a cypher transmitted via the B.M.A. in Malaya.

12 Ibid.
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Secretary of State to deny to his parliamentary colleagues and to the British public that
MacMichael was coercing the rulers by threatening to withhold recognition if they didn't sign.

Still, since this correspondence is clearly circumspect in its wording, we can only

surmise the full motivation behind MacMichael's reference to both the treaty negotiations and
the recognition of the rulers in connection with one another, and the Secretary of State's
response to this. There is no reason, however, to suppose MacMichael and his Whitehall
masters were not attuned to the parliamentary and bureaucratic stratagems premised, at best,
then (as now) on a need for pragmatic honesty and that such necessary circumspection was
dictated by the political sensitivity of the bold move to unify the peninsular. It clearly made
sense for MacMichael to cover himself as much as possible by obtaining implicit permission
to coerce the rulers into signing the treaties. The fact that he singled out the NMS in this
connection must have been significant though there is no clue in this correspondence as to
why he raised the question of recognition in connection with the three states only. He had not
at that stage finalized treaties with all the states to the south(he still had to finalize treaty
negotiations with Negri Sembilan and Perak) and was not proposing to visit the northern
states in “the immediate future.'('®) He claimed to be focussing on the four northem states
because none of the rulers in those states were recognized by the British government before
the Japanese occupation. However, there was no need to single out these states on the
question of recognition per se since he already had discretionary power to deal with the issue.
While he did plead the time factor his request for *[the] earliest possible reply' in his October
correspondence could presumably have done for northern states as well as the remaining states
to the south where he still had to finalize negotiations had he wanted it to, with minimal, if
any, delay. It seems likely that MacMichael, with one eye on the separationist tendency of the
NMS, anticipated that the stronger resistance to his treaties would come from them on that
score. The fact that he singled out the northern states in this way does tend to suggest that he

felt the need for a stronger hand in his negotiations with them and that he saw the opportunity

1 The reference to the forthcoming negotiations with the two states to the south is
contained in: MacMichael to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 7 November, 1945.
CO0537/1541 (This correspondence takes the form of a cypher transmitted through the BMA).
MacMichael referred to his schedule for visiting the northern states in his “request to proceed’
correspondence cited above (ie MacMichael to Secretary of State for the Colonies, signal
dated 25 October, 1945).
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in their unique status to gain extra leverage over them in the negotiations.('*) Another
possibility is that it was Kedah that was more the focus of his attention and that, while his
awareness of the independent inclination of the four states in general was a factor prompting
him to make the request, he was particularly concerned with his likely reception in Kedah -
that it was in his negotiations with that state that he wanted the stronger hand, and that he
found it expedient in making the request to anchor it on the fact that Kedah was one of four
states where, at the outset of MacMichael's negotiations, the post war rulers had not been
formally recognized as such.

In sum, then, it is important not to overstate the strength of the coercive strategies agreed
to between MacMichael and the Colonial Office. MacMichael was not instructed to coerce
the rulers in the crude sense that Allen suggests. The record suggests that there was a tacit
agreement between MacMichael and the Colonial Office to apply coercion as a last resort and
that MacMichael acted on this from the outset of his negotiations. Where a ruler was
unwilling to sign the treaty MacMichael took it upon himself, with what he would have felt
was the tacit approval of his superiors, to threaten the rulers gently and obliquely with non-
recognition. In so doing, however, he used an element of bluff since it was beyond his
capacity technically to threaten rulers with non-recognition in this way. MacMichael was not
authorized to formally deny recognition of a ruler. He had discretionary power to recommend
recognition only and the power to recognize or otherwise lay with the Secretary of State for
the Colonies. There is no explicit conspiracy evident on the record for MacMichael to say one
thing and to do another in the negotiations. Certainly MacMichael had in mind the need for

him to adhere to his negotiating brief when he was preparing his correspondence to the

1% Though MacMichael did not say so explicitly in his correspondence. In the event he
encountered strong resistance from southern states as well, most notably from Negri Sembilan
as we have seen in my footnote reference above. But the indications of strong resistance from
northern states are there in the sources as well. Newboult, for example, commented early in
1946 on the ‘extremity' of the response of a Kelantan deputation in opposing the Union. 1
discuss the NMS resistance to MacMichael's treaties and the Union proposal in general more
fully in this chapter below. The point here is that MacMichael in all likelihood anticipated
strong resistance from these states in the light of their independent status in the past and that it
was in response to this anticipation that he sought extra negotiating power from Whitehall.

Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. CO537/1548.
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Secretary of State for the Colonies. A deleted paragraph of his reads:

In reply to your 24546 (CA1) of 30th October received 7th November the existing

obligations and treaties if maintained would render new Malayan Union unworkable.

The object of my mission is to explain fully and frankly to all the Sultans what is the

policy of H.M.G. and if possible to obtain their willing cooperation in carrying it out.

This I am doing and so far willing cooperation has been displayed in every case. Should

the situation change the position will at once be reported to you.(*?®)

While the paragraph is not strictly speaking part of the record it does enable us to see that the
need to adhere to his brief - or the need to reassure the Minister that that was his intention -
was in his mind at the time he drafted the cypher. We can also see that the aim of “willing
cooperation’ on the part of the rulers as a first option - the desired outcome - was alive in his
thinking when corresponding with his superior and tends to negate Allen's suggestion of an
agreed aim between MacMichael and Whitehall to coerce the rulers into agreement from the
outset of negotiations.

It was, then, MacMichael who had the principal responsibility for implementing the very
broad and flexible Union policy directives of Whitehall. It was his task to read the situation
on the ground and to react accordingly in implementing the demanding objectives of the
Whitehall colonial and military administration. While he was successful in securing the
treaties expeditiously that success was short lived as opposition to them and the Union policy
as a whole gained momentum in the months and years following reoccupation.

While MacMichael had a wide discretion in carrying out his task he was none-the-less,
as we have seen, careful to clear himself with Whitehall in adopting the procedures he
followed. Allen may well be right that he was a bad choice for this task - that he was abrasive
in his dealings with the Malays, ignorant of their language and customs and therefore the

wrong person for such a difficult and sensitive undertaking.('%)

19 MacMichael to the Secretary of State for the Colonies. Cypher dated 7 November,
1945. CO 537/1541.

Again the likely assumption is that this is a draft cypher with alterations made by, or on the
orders of, MacMichael. There seems no obvious reason for the deletion. Perhaps he felt that
the paragraph was covering old ground: that it was redundant.

1% Allen makes the point that MacMichael was abrasive in his manner in dealing with the
rulers, had no Malayan experience prior to the negotiations (his previous experience had been
with the colonial service in Africa and then Palestine), was ignorant of Malay language and
customs and therefore "ill selected to lead' the negotiating team.

Allen, Malayan Union, pp.17, 29, 71.
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In his correspondence on the subject MacMichael does not, naturally enough,
acknowledge an abrasive manner on his part in his conduct of the negotiations. However, it is
clear from his own account of the negotiations, that he could be blunt and even abusive in his
manner towards the Malays when he felt they were adopting an obstructionist stance in the
negotiations.('”’) Thus, when Syed Putera, the ruler of Perlis, while in the process of reading a
State Council Minute giving that body's assent to the treaty, read out a clause which had been

inserted without MacMichael's agreement, he reacted strongly:

MacMichael's inexperience in Malayan affairs does seem to have been manifest in his failure
to understand the pre-war situation in Malaya in one very important respect: the differing
degree of power being exercised by the Residents in the FMS and the Advisors in the UMS.
MacMichael indicated in correspondence to Whitehall that the ruler of Kedah protested the
loss of independence for Kedah under the new arrangement being proposed by MacMichael in
part by arguing that, whereas in the federated states the ruler had handed over executive power
to the President, no such transfer of power to Advisors had occurred in the unfederated states
in the pre-war period.

MacMichael, "Note of First Interview with His Highness the Regent of Kedah (... November
the 29th)’, 30 November, 1945. CO537/1541.

MacMichael argued that whatever the technical situation there had been no such distinction in
practice and that "the Rulers had been bound to accept the advice of the Residents (or
Advisers) and it was only right that the power and the overt responsibility should be in the
same hands.' According to MacMichael the British proposal merely sought to give a de facto
situation de jure recognition.

Ibid.

This statement by MacMichael is clearly at odds with Maxwell's interpretation of the degree
of power being exercised by the Malay ruling class in the Unfederated and Federated Malay
States quoted above in this chapter. On the face of it, it reveals appalling ignorance on the
part of MacMichael of the differing degrees of Malay independence and power inside and
outside the federation. There is the possibility that MacMichael was deliberately putting
forward a false proposition though the tone and feeling of the correspondence suggest that this
was not the case.

While MacMichael did not concede in his correspondence that his lack of experience was a
disadvantage in the negotiations Newboult indicated that he, Newboult, was out of his depth
in the situation:'I shall be very grateful when some of our old MCS officers return as a
tremendous strain is put on me in having no one with whom I can consult and discuss all these

problems'.

Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. C0537/1548.

197 Remembering that he mixed such bluntness with flattery in his efforts to win the rulers
over to the British way of thinking on the treaties as indicated by MacMichael's reference to
the Malay rulers as “a loyal body of men' during the Kedah negotiations in the instance cited
above in this chapter.
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I thereupon spoke roundly to Syed Putera and Wan Ahmad in English and to the chief

Kathi in Arabic. The words did not, I said, actually invalidate the Minute, and if they

insisted on them I should hesitate to refuse their insertion. But they would be causing

themselves shame. Were they children, or free citizens of the State of Perlis? Did they
have the courage to acknowledge their own decision.(*%%)
He continued in this patronising vein to scold the Perlis ruler and the council over their
presumption in adding the clause. To be fair, MacMichael no doubt saw himself here as
taking a firm stand in line with normal negotiating procedure. It does none the less lend some
weight to Allen's assertion that MacMichael was abrasive in his dealings with the Malay rulers
and their councils.

Likewise the tone of MacMichael's account of his Kedah negotiations implies
considerable friction between him and the leaders of that state. He made it known to the
Colonial Office that he held the Sultan of Kedah in poor regard and it was perhaps this that
coloured his approach to the Kedah negotiations and which contributed to the friction between
MacMichael and the Kedah Sultan. Thus when, in the course of the discussion, the Kedah
Sultan resisted the British approach on the grounds that he wanted to retain independence for
his state, MacMichael reacted not only to the Sultan's argument for independence but against
what he saw as the Sultan's undesirable personal qualities:

Kedah gave considerable difficulty: the Regent (now Sultan) was obviously moved to

the depths of his rather shallow being by what he seemed to regard as the surrender of

proud independence to a state of ignominious subjection. He is of the small shy and
retiring “failed B.A.' type, unnotable and inclined to be introspective and lonely. At
times he presented rather a pathetic figure. ('%)

His attitude to the Kedah State Council, with whom he was also negotiating, was
scarcely less contemptuous. According to MacMichael, the Sultan's State Council “had far too
much common sense and acumen to share his [i.e. the Sultan's] sense of despair, but took
refuge, instead, in every form of procrastination evasion and technicality.'(!'%) It is also clear

from the documentation that MacMichael was removed from the Malay conception of the

meaning and significance of his proposals. His ineptness in this regard is amply illustrated by

1% MacMichael, ‘Note of Second Interview with Syed Putera and Members of the Perlis
State Council (... December the 4th 1945). Enclosure 6 to MacMichael to Gater, 8 September,
1945. CO 537/1541.

19 MacMichael to Gater, 8 September, 1945. CO537/1541.

19 Tbid.
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the fact that he (somewhat smugly) argued the case for the Union to the Trengganu ruler using
an English public school sporting analogy - a parallel which must surely have been missed by
the Sultan who could not have been attuned to the notion of this kind of team spirit:

In speaking of the necessity for Union I used the similes of a football team and a rowing

crew (Brigadier Newboult adroitly translated the latter by reference to the paddling

contests which are a favourite sport in Trengganu), and I added that, apart from the
disadvantages of the old system in that each state might be apt to play its own game
without regard to the interests of the whole side, the previous system had been
cumbersome and fraught with delays.(!'")

Curiously there is evidence clearly indicating that MacMichael felt the need to assure
Whitehall, at least, that he understood the delicate nature of his task and the strong need for
diplomacy in carrying it out. Very late in 1945 MacMichael wrote to his superiors reporting
on his negotiations. In part that correspondence read:

I am only sorry that I could not let you have the final results for all nine states by 19th,

[sic.] but I can assure you I have wasted no time unavoidably, and any speeding up of

things by brusqueness or the waving of big sticks, might have proved fatal and would

certainly have left a feeling of resentment. This, I am sure you would agree, was to be
avoided since it would certainly have made things far more difficult for those who will
have to administer the Malays of the future.(*'?)
Whether MacMichael had got wind of criticisms of his style and manner of negotiation and
this was reflected in his correspondence to Gater is hard to say. The tone of the letter does not
seem particularly defensive and it seems more likely that the correspondence highlights a
genuine concern on the part of MacMichael that he expedite the negotiations as rapidly as
possible without engendering counter productive ill feeling - that he was genuinely a victim of
the conflicting imperatives of speed and diplomacy imposed on him by Whitehall and that his
abrasive manner and ignorance of Malay customs only exacerbated the inevitable tension
between himself and the Malay rulers rather than being the sole cause of it.
The Origins of Malay Nationalism on the Peninsular.

Before moving on to look at the stronger outburst of Malay nationalism in the immediate

post war period it is essential to establish more clearly in broader terms the way in which

"I Note of First Interview with His Highness the Sultan Elect of Trengganu (... December
the 19th) CO 537/1541.

12 MacMichael to Gater, 19 December, 1945. CO 537/1541.
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changing productive and wider social relations carried an emerging sense of modern Malay
identity in the decades leading up to Japanese occupation. This emerging sense of a wider
Malay identity was, in these decades, mainly an elite phenomenon and corresponded, in the
particular forms it took within the elite, to the differing fortunes of different sections of the
elite. As we have seen, with the coming of the British and the differing bases upon which
power was exercised, and status acquired, there was considerable differentiation within the
elite in terms of power and status. While some of the Malay elite were ‘tamed' and
accommodated themselves to the new regime, others stood outside it. It was this basic
division that was the source of intra-elite tensions within the Malay community and which
gave rise to quite different kinds of emergent Malay nationalism.

On the one hand there was, by World War II, the Malay aristocracy retaining positions
of subordinate power and privilege under the British who, together with the English educated
orthodox Muslim administrative elite staffing the burgeoning colonial bureaucracy throughout
the period accepted, albeit on the whole grudgingly, the new regime, and sought advantage
within it. While these Malays certainly quarrelled with the British their contention was
limited in its scope and aimed, not at the destruction of the colonial system, but rather at the
maintenance of their desired degree of privilege within it. On the other hand there were also
Malays active within the elite who were educated in the vernacular, who were adherents of
unorthodox Islam, and who were in fundamental disagreement with the colonial regime and
who sought a radically restructured social order for Malays within a wider alliance of Malay
speaking peoples extending beyond the borders of the peninsular. While both these broad
groups sought to lead the masses down a path of increased national self realization they did so
in very different ways and with very different specific goals though neither was able to secure
mass appeal for itself prior to the war.

Thus, in the decades leading up to World War 11, there were two strands of Malay
nationalism that were overtly political in their nature. Running parallel with these, and
overlapping and reinforcing the strand of nationalism embodied in the views and activities of
the Malay educated intelligentsia referred to above, was a third strand of Malay nationalism
which was much more strongly religious in this orientation. This was the nationalism of the
Arab-educated religious reform movement. The religious reform movement, according to

Roff in his pioneering work on Malay nationalism, ‘found its ideological origins in the Islamic
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renaissance which took place in the Middle East, particularly in Egypt and Turkey, around the
turn of the nineteenth century.'("'*) While this reformist drive was primarily religious in its
focus aiming to purify Islam by returning it to its original form, it carried with it secular,
political, overtones as well. Thus converts to reformism returning from the Middle East to
Malaya sought to “renovate Islam in their own society and to make it a fit vehicle with which
to respond to the social and economic challenges posed by alien domination.'(!™*) The aim
was to ‘return to the purity of the original Islam cleansed of accretions of custom which stood
in the way of progress', and to achieve “the social equality of all Muslims before God.'('!")
Roff further points out that the reformists (Kuam Muda) came into conflict with the traditional
Malay establishment - “the rulers and their religious establishments' and ‘the rural ulama
(Kaum Tau) and this contest was a many-faceted and long pursued argument which acted as
an important modernizing force within Malay society and provided a terminology for
innovation and reaction controversies which extended far beyond the purely religious
sphere.'(!'%)

Still, while the contest spilled over beyond the purely religious sphere, the reformism
itself was not specifically political, in Roff's view. But it did, Roff contends, have a slowly
developing political aspect: “The politicization of the image of Kuam Muda began to make
itself evident only in the 1920s notwithstanding the political implications inherent in reformist
ideas prior to this time.'("”") Still, the political aspect of Kuam Muda may have been stronger
than Roff thought though the evidence to the contrary thus far in the sources is inconclusive:

as we have seen, religious reformism, or something looking very much like it, seems to have

' Roff, Origins, p.254.
"% Roff, Origins, p.254.
' Thid.
118 Thid.

7 Tbid., p.87.
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been a motivating factor in the Trengganu Rising though the way in which this operated is far
from clear in the sources; and it may well have been a factor earlier, too, in the Kelantan
Rising though here the role of religion is even less clear. Funston questions Roff's view that
Kuam Muda were "never specifically political, with the exception of a few students at Al-
Azhar University in Cairo'.(*'*) According to Funston, while the published writings of the
movement contain conflicting evidence on the subject - both for and against a specifically
political approach - Funston concludes on balance that the latter was most likely. ‘It would
indeed' Funston writes, ‘be strange if members of this movement did not hold political
views.'('"”) Citing steps taken by British authorities to investigate the activities of the
movement in 1923 as additional evidence for his view Funston concludes: ‘it seems then that
political objectives were pursued by the reformists but that this be done covertly.'(!*)

Still, the line between Roff's view and that of Funston is a fine one. By ‘not specifically
political' Roff meant that the Kuam Muda “never succeeded in elaborating, either
organizationally or programmatically, a political nationalism capable of attracting most
support' and nothing that Funston sets down contradicts this.(**') The evidence so far seems to
be more with Roff than Funston. Active British suspicion is not in itself proof of covert
political activity on the part of the reformists and more evidence is needed to support
Funston's assertion. While Islamic reformism did lend itself to political activity on occasions
in some way thus far unclear in the sources the fact is that it was largely inert as a political
force in its own right in the pre-war decades: it was only when it merged with secular radical
Malay nationalism in the very late pre war period that it started to become more of an overt
political force aimed at purifying Islamic doctrine and practice on the peninsular as part of a
drive towards a wider range of radical social goals.

Roff points out that there was a merging of this reformist strand with that being given

' Funston, Malay Politics, p.30.
1% Tbid.
120 Thid.

121 Roff, Origins, p.87.
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expression by the secular Malay educated intelligentsia and it was a combination of the
secular and primarily religious views that gave rise to the radical Malay nationalist alternative
to that represented by the views of the Malay colonial establishment. It was, then, the
merging of these two strands which leant organized radical Malay nationalism a
fundamentalist religious aspect in the years leading immediately up to World War IL.('2)
While radical Malay nationalism was unable to draw widespread popular support its
practitioners were none the less drawn in large part from the ranks of the peasantry and it is
perhaps in this fact that we can see the reason for the populist appeal of the later derivation of
this kind of nationalism since it was being shaped by educated Malays with their roots planted
firmly in the rural sphere.(*)

In this way, then, Roff, and the scholars who have followed him, have identified three
main strands to emerging Malay nationalism in the pre-war decades focussed around three
Malay elite groups: the Arabic-educated religious reform movement; the largely Malay-
educated autochthonous intelligentsia; and the English-educated bureaucracy, “itself drawn
mainly from the traditional elite in metamorphosis.'(***) By the time of the Malayan Union
conflict this emergent nationalism had achieved, in large measure in response to the Union
issue itself, a stronger organizational form, with fundamentalist and secular radical strands
combined in the more radical Malay thrust against the new constitutional arrangements. By
the years immediately prior to the Japanese occupation the English educated Malay elite were
organized into Malay associations (the Persatuan Melayu) for the advancement of Malay

rights against British interests while the radical Malays had formed the Kesatuan Melayu

122 Thid,, p.255.

' Roff indicates that this radical Malay intelligentsia was "in large part the product of the
centrally located Sultan Idrus Training College for vernacular teachers and two similar -
institutions for technical and agricultural education' and were "drawn from the peasant class in

Malay society'.
Ibid., p.255.

124 Taken from Roff's summary of his findings.
Ibid., p.254.
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Muda as a “small, pseudo-political party.'(*?%)
" The organized popular Malay protest to Union was, then, divided into two main camps:
on the one hand there were the Malay Associations - the Persatuan Melayu; and on the other

hand the Kesatuan Melayu. Immediately prior to the Japanese occupation the Persatuan

Melayu had branches in separate states, was a quasi political movement in its orientation, and
was dominated by an English-educated and traditional elite.(*?*) These associations had a
membership comprised mainly of government employees and had, therefore, the interests of
these employees as the main focus of their policies. Their stance on Union was a relatively

moderate one. The Kesatuan Melayu on the other hand was comprised of a membership of

vernacular school teachers, students and journalists and was revolutionary and pro-Indonesian
in its orientation.('*")

The moderate organized Malay resistance to Union was, Roff points out, prompted by
the Clementi decentralization policy of the 1930s. That policy was, Roff says, seen by many
Malays for what it was: *a prelude to further rationalization of the political structure of the
peninsular and the creation of a common Malay nationality which must inevitably threaten
specifically Malay interests'.(***) These Malays advanced criticism of the policy which “took
the form of special pleas for continued Malay privilege, not of anti-colonial nationalism." The
view advanced was that this stance would benefit all Malays on the peninsular in the long
run.(**’) The Associations were formed, then, in the late 1930s to give expression to these
sentiments held by the Malay elite.

It is clear, then, from Roff that the Associations were somewhat narrow in their

composition and representation. Referring to the two strands into which the traditional elite

125 [hid,, p.235-247, p.255.
126 Allen, Malayan union, p.67, 90n.

127 Roff, Origins, pp.232, 233.
Allen, Malayan Union, p.90.

128 Roff, Origins, pp.235, 236.

129 Thid., p.236.
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had begun to split in the 1930s - those whose role lay within the indigenous Malay
establishment; and those who held positions in the English-educated bureaucracy - he points
out that it was the latter group that was the mainspring of the Associations formed in the late
1930s.('**) While the Associations purported to be broadly representative the self interested,
careerist nature of their anti Union protest is clearly evident in their recorded protests as we
shall see. While the Associations purported to speak for the Malay masses (in February 1946,
the Perlis Malay Association protested ‘the White Paper for Malayan Union and Equal
citizenship' in the name of 55,000 Malays) most of its energy was directed at protecting its
sectional interests in the matter.(**")

It was on a very different approach and perspective to that of the moderates in the late
1930s that the smaller and less influential group of vernacular educated Malays who had not
been ‘tamed' were pitting themselves against the British colonial establishment with their own
organization. These were the disaffected Malays identified above - Malays of a more strongly
traditional Islamic persuasion and who were strongly anti-colonial and bitterly resentful of
what they saw as the privileged and compromised position of the Malays who had
accommodated themselves within the British colonial establishment. The concept of
nationality within this group was both ethnically and culturally narrower than that of the
British and geographically more extensive. Instead of a union of different races on the
peninsular in a common Malayan nationality they looked instead to a wider geographic
national unity of the predominant race on peninsular Malaya and Indonesia. While this
nationalist perspective of theirs was a later development in the period of colonial rule the
disaffection of this group was a continuation of the purist Islamic protest evident in the
Kelantan and Trengganu risings and a forerunner, in its religious and internal social aspects, to
the brand of Islamic protest which took on electoral force from early in the Independence

period. In 1946, however, this radical Malay elite protest was in the earlier stages of its

1% Ibid.

©*! Perlis Malay Association to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 13 February, 1946.
CO 537/1551.
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organization and lacked the presence of the moderate Malay resistance in the Associations.
While it directed its appeal to, and formulated protest policy on behalf of, the Malay masses,
its active membership was very small being confined to a vernacular educated intelligentsia.
In 1946 it was the fledgling Kesatuan Melayu, and organizations that grew out of it, which
was giving expression to these more deep seated and radical Malay grievances against the
Union. While the concerns of this group did not dominate in the overall Malay protest against
Union they were none the less a major concern to the British and they monitored the activities
of the radicals closely.

Thus, in Kelantan in 1946 there were two rival organizations resisting the Union: the
Persekutuan Persetiaan Melayu Kelantan (Malay Patriotic Association of Kelantan) or PPMK;
and the Persatuan Melayu Kelantan(the Kelantan Malay Association) or PMK.('*2) The

PPMK was the more radical of the two and purported, like its rival organization, to represent
the masses: and, like the latter, it fell well short of a mass membership.(***) In reality the
PPMK was, in terms of its membership and outlook, a sectional group comprised of pre-war
radicals who had moved from the Kesatuan Melayu Muda (KMM) into the Persatuan
Kebangsaan Melayu Muda(National Association of Young Malays), or PKMM, which was its

successor organization. The PPMK was in effect a local front organization for the
PKMM.("**) The PKMM, like its counterpart organizations in other states, was hostile to the
accommodation of the English educated Malay bureaucratic elite with British colonialism and
which cast its protest in much wider social terms than the PMK. Thus the PKMM spoke - or
purported to speak - for the Malay masses on the Union questions in quite a different way
from that of PMK. The latter was much less radical in its stance and more specific in its
demands.(**)

While the emergence of Malay nationalism in this way to 1946 was a peninsular-wide

132 Kessler, Islam and Politics, p.105.
133 Ibid.
134 Thid., pp. 104,105.

135 Ibid.; pp.105, 56-61. See also Chapter 6 above.
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phenomenon the stronger impetus of Malay nationalism was located in the Unfederated and
especially the Northern Malay States with their greater proportion of Malays to other races
and their stronger Malay identity and character than was the case in the other states on the
peninsular.(?®) As we have seen, these states had exhibited strong separationist tendencies
throughout fhe post 1909 period as their rulers sought to retain, and an emerging group of
English educated Malay administrators sought to acquire and maintain, power and influence
within the British colonial regime. At the same time there is some evidence to suggest that
the radical Malay elite strands were stronger in the north as we shall see below. While the
impetus for Malay nationalism was clearly strong at this elite level in the north we can be less
sure of its relative strength within the peasantry in the north during the Union conflict. Given
the steady encroachment on the lives of the peasantry on the peninsular there must have been
some developing Malay state consciousness on a more popular level though thus far we know
very little of how this was developing and how strongly it was emerging in Malaya as a whole
and even less of any regional differences in the development of popular Malay nationalist
sentiment. The sources tend to give the impression that emerging Malay nationalism on the
peninsular in the 20s and 30s was mainly an elite phenomenon and they are no doubt correct
in this. Still, given the outbreaks of localized popular resistance in Kelantan and Trengganu,
and as we shall see, the strong emergence in the early independence period of populist Malay
Islamic radicalism in the north with strong links with the two radical strands of Malay
nationalism in the pre-war decades, we can surmise that there was a stronger, largely nascent,
popular Malay nationalism in the north. It may be that a stronger emerging popular nationalist
consciousness was evidenced in a stronger popular protest against Union in the north though
we can't be sure of this until further research enables us to gauge regional differentiation in the

Malay peasant response to the Union proposal.

13¢ Sopiee comments on the stronger separationist inclination of the Unfederated Malay
States in these terms:  The power and separate identity of the Malay state were often important
considerations by themselves. They were also seen, especially by those from the Unfederated
Malay States, as the bastion against the encroachment of the other races and ensuring against
deculturization'.

Sopiee, From Malayan Union, p.23.
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Malay Resistance to the Union.

When Bourdillon wrote very early in 1946 that the Malay rulers were not resisting the
Union in their own right but were responding to ‘popular pressure’ he was seeking to offer
reassurance that Malay resistance to the Union was of a limited and localized nature well short
of the “universal conflagration' being forecast by Sir George Maxwell at the time.("”’) By
‘popular pressure' Bourdillon meant protest from “the more reflective Malays' and in particular
those organized into state associations with a particular concern that the position of Malay
government servants was under threat from the citizenship provisions of the union.(***) In the
event he underestimated the strength of that resistance overall but he was right that it was
focussed much more around the concerns of the Malay administrative group than those of
other sectors of the Malay population engaged in protesting the proposals. The protest was, as
Allen observes, almost entirely led *by Malay civil servants and state officials'.("**) while the
activity of this group was clearly a peninsular wide phenomenon there can be no doubt that
their influence was particularly strong in the north where these protagonists in the resistance
had become used to the idea of a strong Malay influence within the structures of state and
feared the intrusion of non-Malays into the administrative realm under the citizenship
provisions of the Union.

While it appears that the old elite - the state rulers and their councils - were stampeded
into signing the treaties and it seemed for a while that they had been won over it was the
follow-up reaction of organized administrators that not only resisted Union in their own right
but gave cause for the old elite to re-think its position and renounce their earlier agreement
with the Union. While Bourdillon thought the rulers were being goaded into resistance from
below it seems more likely that, while the impetus for the revolt came from below, the old
elite did discover genuine reasons why it would not be in their interest to join the Union. We
have to be careful, then, with the notion of a popular resistance on the peninsular to the Union.

While there are reports in the sources of popular demonstrations against the Union it is clear

"*” Bourdillon to Paskin, 23 February, 1946 C0O537/1548.
138 Ibid.

% Allen, Malayan Union, p.66.
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that the main impetus for anti-Union revolt came from a middle strata in Malay society and it
was their interests which held sway as the protest against the move grew and Malayan Union
was defeated. While there are claims in the scholarship that the Malay masses were actively
supporting th anti-union protest the degree and extent of such involvement js not made clear -
not spelled out - in these secondary sources and we must question the assumption that
widespread peasant protest was a significant factor in the overall protest against Union. Apart
from the lack of evidence of any such strong and widespread popular support for the anti-
union cause at the grass roots level it is hard to see what would have motivated the peasantry
to such resistance since they had no direct and immediate stake in the constitutional and
administrative proposals being put forward and later implemented at the time.

The Resistance of the Old Elite to Union.

The record clearly reveals the traditional NMS Malay elite - the rulers and their councils
- were resisting the Union strongly, both before and after the treaty negotiations were
complete. In so doing, they cast their opposition both in terms of protecting their own
interests as independent rulers of their states and also in terms of the interests of their subjects
- an advocacy no doubt promoted in its popular aspect by the kind of resistance activities from
the administrative associations that Bourdillon had in mind when he wrote of pressure on the
rulers from below. Thus, when MacMichael cabled the War Office that the Kedah agreement
had been signed he complained that the *[a]tmosphere was markedly glum' and of “difficulties
greater than any hitherto experienced'.** He continued:

There was much evasiveness and procrastination over a period of some days on the part

both Regent and State Council [their] main if not only ground for objection being loss of

independence and prestige implicit in new dispensation as contrasted with degree of

separation enjoyed by Kedah in past.(**")
Likewise to the Colonial Office early in 1946 Newboult relayed news of continued resistance

from the ruler of Kedah to the Union. Newboult had found “the ruler worked up' and arguing

his case against Union with "deep conviction": “He said that he did not (repeat not) favour

% MacMichael to Secretary of State for the Colonies, 8 December, 1945. CO 537/1541.
Correspondence in the form of a cypher from BMA to War Office.

! Tbid.
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Union but would not object to some kind of F ederation which would ensure that local
administration would remain in the hand of himself and his state’.(*4?)

If the kedah ruler was indeed “worked up' in his negotiations with MacMichael over
Union his written response direct to Whitehall was a measured, though nonetheless
determined, one - a response which rejected Union and, rather than looking forward to
possible federation, seemed to be stressing the suitability of the pre-war arrangement between
Kedah and Britain. The main purpose of the correspondence was to protest the MacMichael
"agreement' between his state and Britain. He complained that he had signed the document
under duress and stressed the suitability - the workability - of the 1923 Agreement which had
governed relations between Kedah and Britain in the pre-war years. He seemed to be
diplomatically implying that the agreement gave the British what they wanted in terms of
kedah's cooperation with the other states on the peninsular, and protection of the interests of
non-Malay racial groups within the state, while at the same time allowing a healthy degree of
independence for Kedah to run its own affairs. A copy of the 1923 Agreement was attached
to the correspondence. (%)

In the same year the sultan of Trengganu cast his protest at Union in paternal terms on
behalf of his Malay subjects: ... what grieves us most is the fact that it appears we are being
divested of our powers over our country, which thereby means that our Malay subjects will be
cut off from us ...'("*") In a reference to the citizenship provisions the Sultan putitto
Newboult that his Malay subjects were still too weak and backward to be placed on equal
level with the aliens who [would] be given equal states in the Malayan Union'.(***) In general

in these discussions the Trengganu Sultan came across to the British as “consistently ... very

"2 Newboult to Colonial Office, 21 February, 1946. C0537/1555. Correspondence in the
form of a cypher from Headquarters, British Military Administration in Malaya to Secretary of
State for the Colonies in London.

> Sultan of Kedah to Secretary of State for the Colonies, 11 February, 1946. CO
537/1555.

'* Sultan of Trengganu to Newboult, 3 March, 1946. CO537/1552.

1 Tbid.
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concerned about the economic future of the Malays.'(**)

New Elite Resistance to Union.

From the outset of Union negotiations the separationist tendencies of the NMS Malay
administrative elite anxious to preserve and further consolidate its position within the now
well developed colonial bureaucracy was a strong component of the Malay civil servant
protest on the peninsular as a whole. Although these civil servants, through their
Associations, often framed their protest against Union in more general terms, it seems that
their principal fear was that the citizenship provisions of the Union would threaten their
bureaucratic positions by opening them up to competition to outsiders from other ethnic
groups of the peninsular.

Certainly Bourdillon saw this fear as the mainspring of popular opposition to Union on
the peninsular as a whole. He accepted that a petition protesting the Union from “some
Malays in Kelantan' was “inspired principally by Government servants who feared that the
new policy of citizenship would result in nearly all the Government appointments being filled
either by Europeans or Chinese' and claimed that this reinforced his own impression that
“popular reaction amongst Malays [was] based almost entirely on fears, exaggerated but real,

of the citizenship proposals.'(**") Newboult, too, sought to impress upon the Colonial Office

146 Hone to Under Secretary of State for the Colonies, 15 March, 1946. CO 537/1552.

147 The petition referred to by Bourdillon was contained in ‘a despatch from the C.C.A.O.'
and was part of the official correspondence ("No 4 on the Kelantan sub-file') that he was
reading at the time. The commentary above on the inspiration behind the petition was
advanced by Bourdillon as an “interesting passage' from an unnamed source and was part of
the despatch read by Bourdillon.

Bourdillon to Paskin, 23 February 1946. C0O537/1548.

The petition was presented to Ralph Hone, Chief Civil Affairs Officer in Malaya at the time,
during his tour of Kelantan. Hone sent the petition with a covering note to Newboult asking
that both be sent in a despatch to London and it seems very likely therefore that the
‘interesting passage' referred to by Bourdillon is from Hone's covering note to the petition.

Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. CO537/1548.

Although this correspondence does not specify any organization as having been
responsible for the petition, the job designation given in "the interesting passage' (government
servants) strongly suggests that the Persatuan Melayu Kelantan (PMK) - the Kelantan Malay
Association - was behind it. See below in this chapter for a discussion of the PMK in the
context of a wider discussion of the Malay Associations and their place in organized Malay
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the urgent difficulty posed to Union by the reaction of Malay government employees to the
citizenship proposals and drew specific attention to the Kelantan petition as an indication of
this: “You will see from the fears of the Kelantan deputation to what an extremity they have
gone when they consider that in appointments in the future there will be a flood of Europeans
and Chinese'.("*) Clearly, then, the Kelantan protest was having a strong impact on the BMA
and, through its despatches, the Colonial office in London.

Certainly this resistance by the Kelantan and other state government employees to the
citizenship proposals was seen as a major stumbling block to Union back in London though
not to the point where Whitehall was prepared to accommodate a BMA request to postpone
the implementation of the proposals until the heat had gone out of the Malay opposition to
them. (%)

At this time, early in 1946, the Colonial Office was in a difficult position: there was at
that time very considerable tension between the pressure from the Malay government servants
resisting Union and the anxious BMA response to this pressure on the one hand, and its own
desire to expedite the Union scheme as quickly as possible. In addition to the Kelantan
protest Bourdillon also drew attention to the activities of the Selangor Malay Association in
protesting the Union (... reported to be a considerable body and to reflect Malay opinion in
Selangor generally'; it ‘protested vigorously and spontaneously'), " Perlis Malays" (“also
protested spontaneously'), the Trengganu Malay Association and the Pahang Malay
Association ("did the same") and pointed out that resistance to the Union was gaining ground

in Johore.('*) While he urged that “the surrender of jurisdiction by the Sultans and the

resistance to Union.
4. Newboult to Lloyd, 7 February, 1946. CO 537/1548.

'®. Colonial Office to BMA, 1 March, 1946. CO537/1552. Correspondence in the form of
a cypher telegram.

See also S. of S. Colonies to BMA, 28 February, 1946. CO537/1548. This correspondence ig
also in the form of a cypher telegram and includes basically the same message as the above: it
also takes more the form of a directive issuing concrete instructions from the Minister to the
BMA.

%, Bourdillon to Paskin, 23 February, 1946. CO537/1548.
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creation of the Malayan Union [were] not the subject of deep Malay protest' he cautioned that
the Secretary of State for the Colonies should know that ‘the citizenship proposals [were]
regarded with genuine fear and dislike'.(**") Bourdillon's report would have been little
comfort for Whitehall as it weighed up its chances of getting Union accepted on the
peninsular. There was, in March of that year, a Commons debate pending and this, too, added
to the evident uncertainty in the Colonial Office that it could achieve its objective quickly and
their response to the BMA request for postponement was tentative in its nature:

Your recommendation for postponement of Citizenship order in Council has been
considered here at highest level, but it has been decided to maintain as previously
planned. Matter will be debated in House of Commons on Friday 8 Mar, and decision
can not of course be regarded as final while proposals are still before Parliament.(**?)
Thus, while the Colonial Office resisted BMA pressure to slow down the
implementation of the citizenship provisions the Malay resistance to them was making its
officials nervous and they urged the need in correspondence with the BMA in Malaya for
effective publicity for these provisions in order to allay fears within the Malay community.(***)
In so urging the need for publicity it was clearly the kind of opposition from Malay civil
servants indicated in the Kelantan petition ( ... Kelantan Government employees who imagine
that they will be henceforth swamped by Europeans or Chinese ...") that was uppermost in
their mind.("**) The Colonial Office rejected the postponement request because there was 'no
likelihood of immediate adverse reactions by Chinese and Indians to deferment of [the]
citizenship Order' and it was felt that a period of some six months during which opposing

points of view would be canvassed up and down Malaya might cause racial discord rather than

avoid it.'(***) In other words the Colonial Office did concede that the potential for a reaction

11 Thid.

%2 S. of S. Colonies to BMA, 28 February, 1946. CO537/1548.
153 Tbid.

154 Ibid.

1% Tbid.

471



472
against the proposal existed but thought it better to attempt to forestall it by acting quickly to
implement it - to enact a fait accompli which left no time for opposition to develop.

The British took heart, too, from the fact that the dominant groups protesting the Union
were relatively moderate in their stance. Certainly there was stronger and more radical protest
within the Malay camp and the British carefully monitored this: their intelligence at the time,
however, was that this was being contained within the ambit of the less radical organized
Malay protest and that the destabilizing threat this posed to the British regime and its proposal
was being held in check. The irony was, then, that it was the less radical Malays themselves
who held off an extremist Malay threat to the Union and which, in so doing, helped allow the
British the confidence to proceed with their Union proposal. The British drew the conclusion
that, by a fine margin, the dominant less radical Malay protest was containable, and that the
danger of extremist and highly destabilizing elements within that protest plunging the country
into chaos was minimal.

In January 1946 a *'mammoth meeting' for Malays in Kedah organized by the Kesatuan
Melayu Kedah unanimously rejected the Union. It was a protest which raised more
comprehensive objections than those of the Kelantan Association and which was more
broadly based in its representation than the latter in its protest. The Kedah protest urged the
British to consult “the views of the masses of the Malay people and not [those] of the Sultan
alone' and seemed to hint that the Malays in the state would become dispossessed in their own
homeland - like the Palestinians in theirs - if the Union went ahead.(**) In an oblique
reference it also pressed the need for an independent Malay state government to help and
protect the states “agricultural people' who would otherwise “be powerless' to defend
themselves “against the industrialized and the commercialized peoples'.('*") The appeal of this
protest was clearly a much wider one for the protection of the state's Malay population at
large, not just the civil servants, against what was seen as inevitable encroachment by
immigrant races if Union went ahead. It was very much a state based argument and one

informed by an awareness of the commonality of interest between Kedah and the other

1% Kesatuan Melayu Kedah to Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 J anuary, 1946. CO
537/1555.

%7 Kesatuan Melayu Kedah to Hone, 3 February, 1946. CO537/1555.
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Unfederated states in the north. No reference was made to the welfare of Malays in the
Federated Malay States and the impression given was that the NMS had a special claim to
separate sovereignty on the basis of their more strongly Malay character: *Kedah and the Non
Federated Malay States are primarily Malay States with Malays predominating. We therefore
see no ostensible reason as to why we should be called upon to change our status and forgo
our privileges for the sake of the immigrant races'.(**®) Instead, the Kedah protesters argued
the case for the bringing together "of all the Malays of the peninsular under one centralized
system of constitutional Government." A *"Malay union" and not a "Malayan Union" was,
they stated, *more in keeping with their nationalistic aspiration'." Still, while the Kedah
protest adopted a strongly populist tone in its protest (it was delivered in the name of "the
Malays of Kedah') it had little impact on the British. While the British were monitoring the
activities of what they saw as an extremist Malay element within the main thrust of the Malay
protest movement they clearly relied on moderate leaders to keep extremists in check and
pitched their own response at the reactions of the moderate Associations rather than those of
Malay radicals. Thus, in February 1946 Major General Ralph Hone, Chief Civil Affairs
Officer with the BMA, wrote to the Colonial Office in a tone which suggested that the Kedah
protest had been conducted by an organization too recently formed to have credentials and
support within the state's Malay population and which was led by nonentities:

The second of the petitions ... was submitted by Kesatuan Melayu of Kedah, a Malay

People's Association formed about 2 months ago. The petition was handed to me during
my visit to Alor Star on 5 Feb 1946. Haji Husain, the President of the Kesatuan Melayu,

who is a signatory to the petition is a Koran-teacher aged about 45. He has studied in
Arabia and Egypt. Neither Haji Husain nor the other two persons who signed the
petition are said to be men of any particular importance.('®)

This was in line with the general British view that extremist Malay opinion posed no major
threat to their Union plans.
A little after Hone's visit to Kedah the Pan-Malayan Malay Conference was held to

138 Tbid.

159 K esatuan Melayu Kedah to Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 January, 1946.
C0537/1555.

160 Fone to Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies, 10 February, 1946. CO 537/1555.
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decide on a combined Malay policy towards Union. The British found the conduct and
outcome of this conference reassuring. In particular they noted that "Malay Communist Party
Delegates and Indonesian elements were firmly controlled by the Chairman, Dato Onn ... who
handled the very sensitive situation with great skill and avoided disturbances' that it was
feared might occur at one stage in the conference.('*)) The same observer “was impressed by
the fact that the bulk of the Malays were determined to adopt a moderate policy and have no
time for Extremists or Indonesians'.('”) The extremists referred to were based in north Malay
- in Kedah - and we can see in this some measure of the relative strength of radical opposition
to Union in that State. It was this group which, in their behaviour as conference delegates and
as members of the fledgling UMNO) gave stronger voice to the views and aspirations of the
radical strands of Malay nationalism emerging on the peninsular.(®®) Dato Onn, himself, was
less sanguine however. He warned that a strong youth movement with Indonesian sympathies
wés seeking to form a section within his own movement. He had forbidden this but feared
that if Britain pressed ahead with Union malcontents would rally to the pro-Indonesian cause
and that he would be unable to control the direction of the anti-Union Malay protest.(**) The
identity of the youth movement is not specified in the correspondence but it seems likely that
it is a reference to the Kedah Estate Youth Corps dealt with in this chapter below.

Thus, while the Kedah protest, and others like it, caused the British a certain amount of
anxiety they saw them as posing only a limited threat to their scheme. They were in no mood
to curb their plans on the basis of the more radical Malay objections and instead looked to the

moderate -and from the British point of view at that time containable - protest of Malay

1! John ... [? signature unclear], ‘Personal Impression - Malayan Union', Labour
[Department?], Malaya, 15 August, 1946, p.1. CO 537/1548.

192 Tbid.

193 Tbid.
Funston observes that the left wing membership of Congress and UNMO was Kedah based.
Funston, Malay Politics, p.77.

' H.Q. B.M.A. (M) to S. of S., 29 March, 1946. CO537/1548. Correspondence in form
of a cypher.
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government servants through their Associations. In the event they were wrong: the
Associations were able to engineer the defeat of the Union. But at the time the British
allowed themselves to believe that while extremists remained on the periphery of mainstream
Malay protest they could push their scheme through, albeit with difficulty, contending with a
certain manageable level of dissent but without the upheaval being predicted by critics within
and outside the British camp - without the sort of upheaval foreseen by Winstedt and other old
Malayan hands for example. In so proceeding they were right about the relative
powerlessness of the Kesatuan Melayu and other radical organizations on the peninsular but
wrong about the strength of moderate Malay protest and its ability to manipulate extremist
groups and to sway popular opinion in its favour.

The Mass Response to Union.

Allen takes the view that strong anti-Union support on the part of the Malay masses was
one of a number of paradoxes associated with the Union failure and the beginnings of UMNO
Allen found it ‘remarkable' that the anti-union movement led by Malay civil servants and state
officials ‘commanded almost one hundred per cent support among the Malay masses.(**%)
Funston, in his study of Malay politics in Malaysia, echoes a similar view in writing of
‘massive but orderly Malay demonstrations of protest in all states' within days of the release of
the White Paper in 1946 and in more general terms implies a mass response in opposition to
Union.(**) The British Government White Paper referred to here contained, Funston tells us,
“two proposals of great significance to the Malays: their Sultans were to be almost completely
stripped of their powers and non-Malays were to be given virtually an unrestricted opportunity

to obtain citizenship'.'’

15 Allen, Malayan Union, p.66.

' Funston, Malay Politics in Malaysia, p.76.

The implication is carried in his claim that, whereas UMNO was successful in mobilizing
mass opposition to Union, this was not matched by an ability to attract supporters into the
party. Funston's statement on this is quoted in full in the text of this thesis below.

Ibid., p.79.

167 Tbid.
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Likewise, as we have seen, Sopiee creates an impression of a strong reaction against
Union that was general throughout the Malay community with his claim that, in response to
Union, the Malays “awoke from their deep slumber and burst forth in a frenzy of political
activity' and that on the formation of UMNO the Malays became "a race awakened'.(**®) He
illustrates what he sees as the popular nature of the Malay awakening with two examples: a
demonstration confronting MacMichael on his arrival in Khota Bharu on 15 December, 1945
reported to be 10,000 strong; and another involving 15,000 Malays conducted at the
inauguration of Dato Onn's Movement of Peninsular Malays.(**”) However, while the upper
and middle strata of the Malay community couched much of their protest in populist terms the
actual nature and degree of Malay peasant involvement in, and sympathy with, the protest is
far from clear and a much closer scrutiny of these mass demonstrations is needed in order to

establish the degree of popularity of the anti-Union protest.(*™)

1% Sopiee, From Malayan Union, p.25.

1 Tbid.

7% While the scholarship generally seems to accept a high degree of popularity in the
protest there is at least one dissenter from this. Daud Latiff cites a BMA monthly report to
support his view that “the sacred cow of "public opinion", frequently bandied about in support
of one course of action or another [in the Union dispute], in most cases means no more than
the opinions and reactions of the ruling clique or strata within each community, and mostly
only the Malay ruling clique at that.' He continues:

To the majority of people in Malaya the politics of constitutional and
administrative reform were very distant issues, their lives being dominated by the basic
struggle for the existence in the face of acute food shortages, low wages and the
activities of a repressive security apparatus. The dispute over Malayan Union was a
dispute between various competing strata of the colonial ruling class, the emergent
national and comprador bourgeoisie, and the Whitehall technocrats. Either way the
workers and peasants were going to lose out, the "solution" to the problem ultimately
being in the interests of British imperialism alone'.

Daud Latiff, "The British Military Administration 1945 to April 1946' in Mohamed Amin and
Malcolm Caldwell (eds.), Malaya The Making of a Neo-Colony(Nottingham, 1977), pp.142,
143.

In general Latiff has a valid point in drawing attention to the elitist nature of anti-Union
protest though he does not closely scrutinize the issue of worker and peasant response - or
lack of response - to the issue and it may be that he has gone to the other extreme and
underemphasized the role of these groups. Given the reported size of anti-Union
demonstrations it does seem likely that the Malay peasantry, at least, was co-opted into
resistance to some extent. The question is not so much whether there was some grass-roots
involvement in the protests but the strength of that involvement. Latiff argues from an
avowedly strong ideological position and it may be that this has led him into too crude an
interpretation in discounting some sort of mass response altogether. There remains the
possibility that the Malay peasantry, at least, were persuaded in significant numbers on the
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Allen may well have found the Union failure less paradoxical if he had been in a
position to more closely scrutinize the nature and degree of Malay mass involvement in the
protests of the time. Certainly his claim of almost one hundred per cent support among the
Malay masses for the anti-Union cause seems thinly based.

Allen seems to have in mind one particular popular demonstration which took place
outside the Station Hotel in Kuala Lumpur in response to the inauguration of the Malayan
Union early in April, 1946. According to Allen a ‘tremendous crowd' of wildly excited
Malays massed outside [the hotel] screaming their loyalty [to their Malay Rulers]'.(*"")

Allen may well be right to claim as he does that this demonstration was significant
because the rulers, alienated from their British masters by the Union push, chose the occasion
to for the first time to accede to the loyal acclamation of their subjects and to allow
themselves a position as leaders of a popular movement against Union. But the extent of this
loyal resistance to Union is unclear from this demonstration alone and Allen's assumption that
the rulers from that time were at the head of an anti-Union mass movement reaching down to
the grass roots level is unsubstantiated in his monograph. Much more information on the
make up of the crowd - the social identity of its members, the degree to which their presence
and response was representative of a wider geographic social cross section of the Malay
community on the peninsular - is needed and is not given by Allen.(*”)

It is true that Allen sees the Station Hotel protest as having largely symbolic significance

- a significance drawing weight from the other popular demonstrations on the peninsular -

basis of a more concrete appeal related to, thought not arising directly from, the abstract
constitutional proposal of Union, to take to the streets in support of the anti Union protest - a
possibility not canvassed by Latiff.

'l Allen, Malayan Union, p.42.

'”2 Neither is it given by a report in The Straits Times on this demonstration. The
demonstration was given middling emphasis in the paper and simply reports that a large
crowds of Malays assembled outside the Station Hotel to protest the Union, that they were
shouting slogans such as, "Long live the Sultans' and, “Long live the Malays' and that the
demonstration came a few hours after the inauguration of the Union and the installation of Sir
Edward Gent as its first Governor and Commander-in-Chief.

New Straits Times, 3 April, 1946.
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though Allen does not make the connection directly. And it may well be that these other
demonstrations - the 10,000 strong protest in 1945 in Khota Bharu and that conducted by the
15,000 Malays on the formation of the Peninsular Malay Movement in 1946 for example -
may well have been indicative of an intensely loyalist, anti-Union sentiment amongst the
Malay population at large. But again the details enabling us to make a judgement on this are
lacking in the secondary sources.('”%)

In general, then, while the secondary sources do assert the popularity of the anti-Union
protest, they do not give a clear and precise account of the mass response to the move and
their assertions remain largely unfounded. What we need, for a range of such demonstrations,
is a clear idea of the composition of the crowd(especially the social strata to which they
belonged), the particular local circumstances in which the demonstrations took place, and the
precise motivation of those participating. If there were indeed large numbers of peasants
represented in the demonstrations we need to know exactly what was said to them by way of
incitement to join in the protest. We can surmise, for example, that they may have been
persuaded to protest on the basis of a more concrete appeal by their leaders - leaders who were
either of the Malay administrative elite or closely aligned with it. Perhaps these demonstration
leaders were able to connect the abstract constitutional considerations of Union with the more
immediate concerns of the peasantry: with food prices, the selling price of rice and rubber,
the exactions of private and state landlords (indeed with the extraction of their surplus
generally); with the disruption and hardship being experienced under the B.M.A. and later

under the Union civil administration; and so on.(’*) Perhaps these leaders advanced the

'” No doubt this is in large measure because they are not the kinds of details readily
accessible to scholars relying more on English language sources.

"7* Apart from pointing out that the 1946 demonstrations included 450 women Sopiee
offers no breakdown on the composition of the large crowd nor any clues as to their precise
motivation. His sources are a Malay language newspaper for the 1945 demonstration and an
English language newspaper for the one held in 1946 - sources not likely to give the kind of
full exposition needed. It does seem that a useful starting point for a closer examination of the
composition of popular demonstrations and the precise motives of those involved would be an
examination of contemporary periodical sources, especially those in the vernacular, to see
what information they yield. There is a case, too, for seeking some oral accounts of the
demonstrations in the hope that participant observers still living may be able to throw light on
the questions for which we need answers.

The only direct reference I have been able to find of peasant involvement in anti-Union
demonstrations is that made by Denzil Peiris in an article on a dramatic demonstration
involving rubber small holders in Kedah in 1975. Commenting on the unusual character of
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argument that they would suffer more exploitation at the hands of Chinese entrepreneur if the
citizenship proposals allowed more scope for this entrepreneurship in the NMS.

Thus, Allen is forced to rely on an oblique explanation for what he sees as Malay
peasant activism against the Union: the Malay peasantry were not reacting to the Union
proposals in their own right but rather were reacting to the effect of those proposals on the
power and authority of their rulers.(*””) Allen's argument here focusses upon the fact that,
whereas in other colonial countries - Indonesia for example - radical anti-establishment elite
groups had been able to attract a mass following this was not the case in Malaya where the
dominant emergent bureaucratic elite maintained a strong allegiance to the Sultanate. Thus,
the peasantry were not drawn away from their traditional loyalty by emergent conflicting elites
and this explains the strong demonstration of support for their rulers when the latter's interests
were threatened by Union. The peasantry identified very strongly with their rulers, noted
*blind loyalty to one's Ruler above all else', and, because they felt their ethnic identity under
threat from the strong non-Malay presence on the peninsular, experienced a stronger sense of
Malayaness than was the case in Indonesia where the proportion of non-Malays was less. "At
the risk of tautology', Allen writes, “we may cite the conduct of the Malay masses in 1946 as
proof of this assertion'.(*"®)

We need, however, to be wary of the “blind obedience' interpretation of peasant

activism. Allen's argument appears here more of a non sequitur than a tautology since it does

this kind of peasant demonstration Peiris says, in passing: ‘It was the first time in 28 years that
peasants had marched. Previously they had joined the massive popular opposition to the
British proposal for a Malayan Union in 1946.'

Denzil Peiris, "The emerging rural revolution”, Far Eastern Economic Review, January 10,
1975, p.29.

While this is strongly indicative of peasant involvement in anti- Union protest, in Kedah at
least the source is a journalistic one and does not elaborate on the peasant involvement. The
Baling rubber small holder demonstration which is the focus of the article is dealt with more
fully below in the next chapter.

175 Allen, Malayan Union, pp.66-69.

176 Thid., p.69.
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not follow necessarily from what Allen sees as the strength of the 1946 demonstrations that
their sole motivation was intense loyalty to their rulers. Allen has not been able here to offer
historical proof that there was a strong and exclusive causational link between loyalty and
protest and we must ask, assuming the peasants did take to the streets in significant numbers,
whether there were other factors in operation causing them to do so. While we can readily
accept that strong loyalty to the rulers could have been a significant motive for peasant anti-
Union protest it is hard to see why, on the account thus far, it would have resulted in protest of
the magnitude claimed, and it does seem likely that the loyalty factor needs to be seen as one
amongst many which may have ignited a peasant reaction of the kind and degree claimed.
Allen agrees that this kind of loyalist support was unprecedented to 1945: even if we accept
that loyalty was the major motivation in 1945-46 we still need to know why there should have
been such a vigorous demonstration of it in the immediate post war period.(*”")

Certainly the answer does not lie in Allen's account of the relationship between the
Malay peasantry and their superiors within the Malay social hierarchy. There is no indication
that “the masses' were strongly led by the Malay elite in their protest and the impression left is
that the mass demonstrations were spontaneous and largely unaided - more pro-ruler than anti-
Union - spearheaded rather than incited, by the administrative elite. The role of the rulers
seems, by Allen's account, to have been a relatively passive one. The initiative for what he
sees as a massive show of loyalty did not, on his perception, lie with the rulers: rather they
were, from the time of their symbolic actions in acknowledging crowd support during the
Station Hotel demonstration, allowing themselves to ride the crest of a wave of popular
support for them which was there fortuitously and not through any design on the part of the
rulers. In the "After thought' section of his monograph Allen sees mainly a two tiered
interaction between the rulers and the rest of the Malay population as providing the dynamic
for mass protest against the Union with a middle strata of Malay elite serving only to focus
and channel the long standing loyalty of the peasantry for their rulers. It was because, Allen

asserts, the western educated Malay administrative elite were on-side with the rulers and had

177 Allen writes of the sudden materialization of a nationalist movement in 1945-46,
“poised to defend Rulers' and which, in his view as we have seen, ‘commanded almost one
hundred percent support among the Malay masses'.

Allen, Malaya Union, p.66.
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developed a good working relationship with them, that the former had been able, through their
fledgling Onn-led UMNO to pull “the masses' - the peasantry - on side in protesting the
Union. In Allen's words: "As far as the masses were concerned Onn's was the party which
was defending their rulers, ....: they therefore followed Onn.'(’®)

In all this, then, there is nothing to indicate that the masses protested from any direct self
interest - nothing to indicate that they were being mobilized by others on that score and so the
account of the strength of their reaction to Union and the motivation attributed to them
(loyalty) do not seem to square with one another. Allen's account of the motivation for the
mass protest therefore seems unconvincing. His conclusion here is necessarily tentative and
he is unable to offer an explanation as to precisely how the Western educated Malay elite was
able to lead the Malay masses in loyalist anti-Union support. Neither has his argument been
advanced significantly by later scholarship which also fails to spell out the nature of the link
between the Congress, UMNO and the smaller radical Malay organizations and the behaviour
of the masses at the time. Thus, while Allen, Sopiee and Funston all seem to agree that the
embryonic Malay organizations failed to secure a strong support and involvement amongst the
peasantry in the pre-war period - the period that Roff focussed on his study of the origins of
Malay nationalism - they none-the-less go on to put forward, in the case of Allen, and assume,
in the case of Sopiee and Funston, a remarkable elite-led popular activism, without
underpinning this assumption with a close and discriminating examination of the behaviour of

the Malay masses in the immediate post war period.('””) Funston does, however, inadvertently

178 Allen, Malayan Union, p.68.

17 Allen deals only briefly with the pre-war Malay political awakening on the basis of
Roff.

Allen, Malayan Union, pp.67,68.

By implication Allen seems to agree with Roff's conclusion that some of the elite groups
attempting to mobilize the Malays - to foster a Malay national identity up to 1942 - ‘had been
able to create or sustain a Malay nationalist movement' and that of these groups only "the
English-educated administrators recruited mainly form the traditional ruling class ... was in
the process of gaining a true mass following.'

Roff, Origins, p.211.

Allen's conclusion from this is that the allegiance of the Malay peasantry still lay firmly with
481
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suggest the need for a re-assessment of the nature and strength of commitment on the part of
the Malay masses to the anti-Union cause: "UMNO's success in mobilizing Malays in
opposition to the Malayan Union had clothed it with the aura of an instantaneously successful
mass political party. This is, however, misleading since success in utilizing the social
ferment unleashed by the Union was not matched by an ability to attract supporters into the
party.'(**”) Clearly from this the “awakening of the masses' was not the durable phenomenon
in the early post war period generally portrayed in the secondary sources and some re-think of
the strength of popular commitment to the basic principles of protest put forward by Congress
and UMNO at the time is needed. Still, Funston does not follow up on this line of thought
examining closely the nature and degree of popular Malay anti-Union in the light of his view
that this fervour was short lived and instead adopts a forward focus in time examining the
reasons for the failure of UMNO to secure a strong popular basis in the immediate wake of the
anti-Union protest.(**")

Kessler ascribes in somewhat vague terms an independent motive on the part of the

Malay peasantry in resisting Union: the peasantry, ‘angered by Britain's abrogation of its

their particular state rulers.

Allen, Malayan Union, pp.68,69.

Funston comments that by 1945 “each of the three streams of Malay nationalism [ie the three
streams referred to by Roff: see above] had established its own particular niche though none
had developed into a mass movement.'

Funston, Malay Politics, p.36.

Sopiee, in giving reasons for ‘comparatively so little opposition [to Union] up to the end of
1945' includes the fact that there ‘were no active mobilizers of mass Malay opinion, and no
organizational leadership to organize whatever elite Malay opposition there was into a
coherent, forceful whole.'! He then goes on to argue that, by the beginning of 1946 “[t]he

Malays started to launch a campaign of political mobilization and agitation such as had never
before been seen in Malaya.'

Sopiee, From Malayan Union, pp.22, 23.

180 Funston, Malay Politics, p.79.

181 Tbid., pp.79-81.
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commitments to the Malay people, were jolted from their political passivity.'(**?) Kessler sees
the peasantry as having a sectional grievance of their own. It was a grievance that stood
alongside those of the English educated elite administrators who saw their privileged position
within the established order of Malay society threatened by the proposed centralized
bureaucracy and the alien influences they saw as coming with it. These grievances in turn
were lined up with those of the rulers who were being pressured to renounce their treaty rights
to a privileged social position.(**) There is no notion here of a peasantry being led by the
nose to rebel by an elite accommodating itself to the wishes of the rulers - no suggestion that
the peasantry were motivated mainly by a blind loyalty to their rulers. As we have seen,
Kessler points out that neither of the two main rival organizations giving voice to Kelantanese
Malay opposition to Union, the PPMK and the PMK, “could boast of mass membership' in
1946 and it was not until later in the immediate post war period that political parties newly
formed and including elements from the above two organizations began to have substantial
popular appeal from around the time of the pre-Independence 1955 elections.('*) While
Kessler may well be right that the Malay peasantry were aggrieved in their own right he does
nothing to advance our knowledge as to precisely what those grievances arising out of the
Union proposals were.

Precisely what, then, was the role of the masses in the anti-Union protest? Were they
substantially involved in the Union protest or has the degree of such involvement been
overstated in the secondary sources? If the mass of peasantry was strongly involved in a
participatory sense what were the concerns that prompted them to be so? Precisely what
appeal was made to them by the Malay elite leaders of the protest? Given that the Malay
administrative elite was clearly pre-occupied with concerns of their own unrelated, or at least

not directly related, to those of the peasantry in the rural sphere, in what way may they have

182 K essler, Islam and Politics, pp.25, 26.

18 Thid., p.25.

184 K essler, Islam and Politics, Chapter 7, pp.103-129.
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convinced the peasant masses that Union was strongly against their interests? The sense of
threat felt by Malay administrators is clear enough: but their what were basically careerist
concems - their dominant fear that their newly acquired wealth and status would be threatened
by an influx of non-Malays under the citizenship provisions - had little to do with the return
on rice or small scale rubber production, the cost of land rent and like considerations of more
immediate concem to the Malay peasantry in the past, as we have seen for the NMS, and
which we must assume remained the things of major concern to the peasantry in 1946.

Tt is hard to see how the Malay civil servants and the Malay peasantry could have made
united cause on the basis of a common self interest to defeat the Union given the nature of the
arguments of the former prevailing at the time. If we follow Allen in his 'Kelantan Rising'
perspective and apply it to the peasant situation in the Malayan Union conflict it seems much
more likely that it was the more immediate and concrete social, and especially economic,
factors impinging on their existence that most concerned the peasantry in the immediate post-
war period and which must have been the main basis upon which they reacted to the BMA
policy implementation that came with British reoccupation. It was, surely, these immediate
and concrete concerns that determined their reaction to BMA policy implementation in
general including the steps being taken towards Malayan Union.

Certainly we can surmise that the pressures on the peasantry due to Japanese, and then
further British, occupation, were immense and that they were indeed in a volatile state in
1945-46 - that it was the trauma of Japanese occupation and the pressures arising from British
post-war reconstruction which meant that the peasantry was indeed primed for strong overt
anti-establishment reaction of some sort in the early years of the restored British presence.
However, the available documentary evidence seems to suggest that the mainstream anti-
Union protest did not address immediate peasant concerns: rather it focussed very directly on
administrative elite concerns and it is hard to see how, if indeed there was a strong
administrative elite appeal to the peasantry to protest the Union, this could have been anything
more than a spurious appeal to peasant interests in order to coopt them in a show of strength
in defence of the concerns of the elite. This may have involved some sort of transference of
peasant anger and hostility - a deflection of peasant anger away from grievances with a more
localized focus - the hardships created by rice marketing arrangements, food rationing and the

like - onto the more general plane upon which the Malayan Union contest was being
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conducted by some sort of rhetorical sleight of hand. Still, this is highly conjectural and any
connection their may have been between the concerns of the administrative elite and those of
the peasantry over the Union remain unclear in the published sources to date.

It is less difficult on the other hand to see how the enunciated protest of the radical
Malay organizations may well have come closer to the down-to-earth concerns of the
peasantry. By contrast with the protest statements of the Malay administration elite through
their Associations, those of the more radical Malay organizations do tend to suggest that the
latter may have been able to address peasant concerns directly on the Union issue and that in
so doing they were successful in activating significant numbers of peasants to join in anti-
Union demonstration. Perhaps the argument of these radical organizations ran along the lines
that, whereas conditions were harsh under the BMA, they would remain so, or get worse,
when power was handed over to a civilian Union government, with its tighter British control
over the whole peninsular and the corresponding lessening of the power of Malay leaders to
protect their people from the undesirable exploitive influence of the immigrant races and the
British. Certainly the appeals of the more radical Malay anti-Union organizations to the
British government were pitched in these terms: it will be remembered that in January 1946

the Kesatuan Melayu Kedah warned the British of the dangers of creating a Malay “Palestinian

problem’ with the state's ‘agricultural people ... powerless' to defend themselves “against the
industrialized and the commercialized peoples' within its borders.(**”) The question must be
asked then whether it was the radical Malay anti-Union organizations that were primarily
responsible for mobilizing the peasantry in significant numbers into short term activism
against Union even if they were unable to establish themselves as mass organizations on any
sort of durable basis at that time.

Certainly there is some suggestion in the sources that this was the case. Early in 1946

Dato Onn cautioned the BMA that “a strong youth movement with Indonesian sympathies was

185 K esatuan Melayu Kedah to Hone, 3 February, 1946 C0537/1555. See above in this
chapter.
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gaining ground among Kampong Malays.'(**®) Furthermore, Onn warned that if Union were
formed (though in the form then being proposed there would “be trouble from this youth
movement within a few years' and that “all malcontents [would] rally to them.'('*”)

Clearly, then, the possibility exists that it was not so much the moderate Malay organizations
that sparked anti-Union activism at the grass roots level but those radical Malay organizations with

a more direct and concrete appeal to the masses though on present research we can by no means be

1% 1. Q.B.M.A.(M) to S of S., Colonies 29 March, 1946. C0537/1548. Correspondence in
the form of a telegram.

187 Ihid. Onn's statements as reported in the telegram. The wording of the telegram, not
Onn's original statements, quoted here in the text. The precise identity of the youth movement
is not specified in the telegram though reference to its Indonesian sympathies clearly suggests
some connection with Kesatuan Melayu Muda and the organizations it helped spawn in the
early post war period. Certainly the Union government was preparing to be take action
against at least two youth organizations it saw as a threat to public order in Kedah a year after
the telegram containing Onn's caution. One of these organizations was the Harvard Estate
Youth Corps of Kedah and the other was the Angkatan Pemuda Insaf, the youth wing of the
newly formed radical Malay Nationalist Party (MNP). It may well be that Onn's reference was
to these - or at least included these - two organizations.

Minutes of Executive Committee of Advisory Council, 10 March 1947. CO 576/79. CO
576/79.

The formation of post war political parties in Malaya is discussed more fully in the next
chapter below. Funston comments that in mid 1947 the API was banned.

Perhaps the British were unnerved by the revolutionary activities of the pemuda in the
Indonesian independence struggle at around this time and sought to forestall any such forceful
youthful activism in Malaya. For an account of the role of the permuda in the Indonesian
context see Anderson's excellent account of the subject within the wider context of the
Indonesian independence struggle in the period 1944-1946.

B.R.O.G. Anderson, Java in a Time of Revolution. Occupation and Resistance 1944-
1946(London, 1972), passim.

There is no indication in the telegram where in Malaya the youth organization was active. If
Onn did indeed have in mind the Youth Corps when he cautioned the British then Kedah may
have been one state, at least, where a radical anti-Union appeal was taking root at the

Kampong level.

No doubt Onn chose to emphasize the danger in order to win concessions from the British on
the Union question: the telegram also states that Onn was “strongly opposed to Union and in
favour of federation on FMS lines." None the less the indication that radical Malay opposition
to Union was having at least some impact amongst ordinary Malays at village level remains.
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sure of this.('®) Further examination is clearly needed to see whether, while the moderate
organizations representing the interests of Malay administrators were clearly at the forefront
of the anti-Union push, it was the radical Malay leaders who were able to address the Union
issues in terms of the concrete concerns of the peasantry in the difficult economic and social
circumstances in which they were placed in the immediate post war years.

Either way, (assuming that there was, indeed, a significant peasant response to Union)
whether the peasantry was responding to appeals from moderate or radical Malay leaders - or
both - it seems most likely that it was their dislike of conditions under the BMA that leant heat
to their displeasure of what was to come rather than any clear detached perception of what
Union would mean for them at the local administrative, and at the national, level. In this
sense the Union dispute may have provided an outlet for grievances that were firmly anchored
in the present rather than in any contemplated hardship in the future.

Certainly there was a perception within British circles that there was a general
unsettledness in the Malayan population in the immediate post war years, and that this unrest

had a wider focus than the Union question per se. It was a perception which, while it did not

188 Certainly the British feared the influence of the radical, anti-colonial Malay
organizations and rigorously suppressed them, both in the pre-war period (Funston indicates
that ‘Britain, on the eve of the Japanese intervention, was sufficiently alarmed by the KMM to
hold in detention virtually its entire leadership’) and in the immediate post war years, as the
repression of the radical youth organizations referred to in the footnote immediately above
indicates.

Funston, Malay Politics, p.32, 33.

The radical Malay youth organizations were not proscribed until from mid-1947 and it was
not until 1950 that the MNP was banned. The scope and time was therefore there for them to
act in inciting the masses against Union.

Tbid., p.40.

We can deduce from their eventual proscription that the British clearly saw them as a strong
threat: what we don't know, however, is precisely in what way these organizations were
dealing with the masses (Funston comments that there are no extant records of KMM policy)
and the degree and extent to which they struck a responsive chord in the Malay populace.

Tbid., p.32.

Tt is a reasonable surmise however that, in contrast with the moderation of the Onn stance,
these organizations were significantly involved in an incitement of the peasantry to participate
in the anti-Union demonstrations and that the British moved to repress the organizations in
large measure on the strength of this.
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draw the conclusion directly, was non-the-less suggestive of a popular mood which was
inauspicious for Union implementation - certainly in its citizenship aspect. The implication
(not always intentionally) in these observations was that the new constitution was not in itself
the single focus for popular discontent and that the hardships of the immediate post-war years
weighed heavily with the populace and especially the Malays and augured badly for a
favourable popular reception to the new British colonial state. Thus, in an ominous warning
directed at Whitehall, the same labour official who saw commendable unity of purpose among
the NMS in their approach to Union, cautioned his superiors on the likely reception of the new
arrangements in these terms:

Malaya at the moment is drawn between (a) the Union Government as regards the

Malays (b) the very serious food and clothing shortage (c) the lawlessness of the

Communist and subversive groups and continued intimidation by them and (d) external

politics as regards Chinese and Indians that one cannot imagine a less opportune time to

launch a new political experiment. In my own conversations with people of all races no
one disputes the advantages of a Malayan Union for administrative purposes, but seem
agreed that this is not the time for other experiments proposed in the White Paper (equal
citizenship).

I should perhaps add that there is still a considerable amount of inter-racial
bitterness, the legacy of the Japanese occupation and of the interregnum before we
arrived. To press the White Paper as it stands at present will be to risk driving the
Malays to desperate action, partly in retaliation for previous action of highhandedness by
the guerillas and others and partly from a sense of frustration. I make this statement
after having listened to a great number of Malays, many of them holding senior
appointments or who appear to be doing their utmost to preserve peace and to
understand the present state of Malaya[.] I consider it essential that more of those who
have its destiny in their own hands come and visit the country [sic].(**)

This is not by any means, to accept without question what this official claims to be the
sources of popular, and certainly popular Malay, sensitivity to the White Paper provisions of
Union in this correspondence: its usefulness lies in the fact that it points the way to a
recognition of the wider causes of popular unrest associated with Union and that it raised the
possibility that the response of the Malay masses to untimely Union implementation was an
oblique one with its roots firmly in the traumatic social circumstances of the war and
immediate post war years; that there may well have been popular Malay resistance to Union
which arose from, or which in lay measure can be explained by, the troubled wider social

circumstances in which it took place.

MacMichael, too, in reporting on his progress moving north on the peninsular to secure

189 John ...[? signature unclear], Personal Impressions - Malayan Union', Labour
[Department?], Malaya, 15 August, 1946, p.1. CO 537/1558.
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the treaties with the ruler acknowledged the wider social hardships and uncertainties of the
post war period in the country, although his tone in so reporting was somewhat dismissive and
he did not draw a direct link between post war civil disorder and hardship and the popular
response to Union. In this correspondence he implied that a shortage of rice supplies,
“inflation and the economic situation generally' was fuelling Chinese communist insurgency
and that this in turn was “the subject of considerable anxiety to the Malays in general and the
Sultans in particular.'(**°) He was vague on the subject of these wider social conditions and
seemed to be suggesting that the impediment to Union lay not so much in the reaction of the
Sultans and an unspecified wider group of Malays to economic and social instability directly
but in their reaction to the Chinese insurgency which arose from this instability. Thus, where
MacMichael turned his mind to the need to improve the deficiencies in the material well being
of the country's population, he saw this, not as a humanitarian objective worthwhile in itself,
nor as a measure which would have a direct effect in inclining them to accept Union, but as a
strategy to undercut support for the insurgents thus encouraging them to lay down their arms
and return to civilian life. MacMichael in the same report: “Once there are food and ways to
be had (and that in due proportion to one another) the problem of getting these people to hand
back their arms and return to civil life will obviously be much simplified.'("™")

If the views of the labour official and MacMichael are any guide, then, British
officialdom operating on-the-spot had only a limited perception of the nature and causes of the
grass roots response to Union. While they were aware of the more general social hardship and
turmoil which existed in Malaya at the time they were unable to conceive of any very direct
link between this and the popular response to Union, sensing only a vague and oblique
relationship between the two. Their accounts (and more that of MacMichael than the labour
official) of popular discontent on the peninsular were inevitably tendentious since they began
with the assumption that Union would benefit the local populations as well as the British.

What was at issue in their minds was not so much the principle of Union in its effect on the

19 MacMichael to Gater, 4 November, 1945. CO 537/1541.

1 Tbid.
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populace but more the best strategies for achieving the constitutional change. It was perhaps
because of this that they were unable to conceive of a very direct relationship between the
social conditions affecting the population at the time and the popular reaction to Union. It is
no doubt in large measure this shortfall in the perception of contemporary colonial observers
of the grass roots reaction in 1946 (and that of officials in Whitehall relying on these recorded
perceptions) that has limited the perception on the same subject in the secondary sources.

Still, while the perceptions of contemporary observers, and those of the published
secondary sources, have failed to squarely and fully address the issue of a more general
popular discontent on the peninsular vis-a-vis the Union issue, they serve to point us in the
direction of a better understanding of what might have motivated the Malay peasantry into
active anti-Union resistance. Here and there in the Colonial Office documentation of the time,
and in the secondary sources, there are strong clues suggesting that the occupation and
immediate post war period saw a sudden intensification of pressures on the peasantry -
pressures which had been building up throughout the pre-war decade and which, in the
traumatic occupation and reoccupation of the forties, may have reached a flash point rendering
them highly susceptible to Malay elite appeals to take to the streets in anti-Union protest.

Of Allen, Sopiee and Funston it is the more recent study of Funston which most clearly
recognizes the traumatic impact of war and re-occupation on the masses as the primary factor
activating them on the Union issue though he is unable to enlighten us on exactly how this
happened.(**?) Funston sees Malay anti-Union activism in the mid 1940s on a longer
historical perspective arguing that it was the social rupturing caused by successive occupation
and re-occupation that stimulated overt popular nationalism on the peninsular. prior to the
war it had been the nature of British rule which had contained the popular nationalism within,
from the British point of view, manageable limits:

Social dislocation though widespread, was not so severe that it forced the masses into

the political arena; Britain ostensibly pursued a pro-Malay policy and had some success

in convincing Malays that it was acting as their protector vis-a-vis the non-Malays; and
when the Malay political activity nonetheless surfaced repressive action was quickly

192 [y part this is because there has been insufficient research into why pre-war Malay
nationalism failed to activate the masses. Funston comments directly on this lack of research
and offers broad pointers only as to why nationalist organizations failed to activate the masses
prior to the war and why they succeeded after it.

Funston, Malay Politics, pp-35, 36.
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taken. The Japanese occupation upset this fine balance and brought into being a

politicized mass that could link up with the existing political elite. It was not to be long

before the accumulated tensions of two colonial regimes gave rise to the first direct
participation of the Malay masses in the political field.("")

Funston comments on the fact that the effect of Japanese occupation of Malaya is under
researched at the moment and points out that the occupation experience “politicized the Malay
peasantry to the extent that they were available for mass mobilization immediately after the
war.'("™) He sketches in some important factors causing this including “the growth of social
tension as a result of Japanese discriminatory attitudes against the Chinese; the virulent
stirring-up of anti-European sentiment and indoctrination ... of patriotic feeling for both
Malaya and the Japanese Co-Prosperity Sphere; and the traumatic impact of the prevailing
terror, extremism and violence'.(**®) Significantly, Funston points out that the Japanese
organized two Pan Malayan congresses of Islamic leaders and that this may have stimulated
Islamic efforts to organize on a national basis after the war.(**) Funston's reference here is
vague but given that some radical Malay leaders opposing Union had a traditional, purist
Islamic bent which must have been an integral part of their appeal to the peasantry it may well
be that in some indirect way the two congresses significantly strengthened the appeal of these
leaders in reaching at least some among the peasantry in support of the anti-Union cause
though much more information is needed and we can not be sure of this. Perhaps the
congresses did this by engendering a stronger unity of purpose, by helping to foster some sort
of Islamic Malay national identity, and by preparing the way for some sort of organizational

framework in the post war period. Of special significance is his claim that the KMM, under

Japanese sponsorship, was able to maintain organizational coherence during the

193 Funston, Malay Politics, p.36
19 Funston, Malay Politics, p.35.
195 Tbid.

1% Tbid.
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occupation.(*”’) In the light of this, and the fact that the moderate Malay state Associations
disbanded during this period, the questions is to what extent and degree the KMM was able to
establish a link with the peasantry in this period and whether, indeed, this organization, and
those which succeeded it, were able to continue this link in anti-Union protest after the war to
mid 1947 with a strength currently underrated in the sources.

Funston is surely correct to the extent that this occupation experience must have been
critical in priming the Malay population for post-war activism of some sort and it is essential
for us to know about this in detail if we are to fully understand the Malay peasant response to
Union. Clearly, though, there are problems here for the historian relying on English language
materials since the interregnum of British rule on the peninsular left a gap in accessible and
readable documentation on what was happening during the period. What is needed is more
printed or published research which seeks out Japanese language and vernacular Malayan
sources as the basis for a closer study of what was happening in Malaya at this time.

A 1971 paper written by Yoji Akashi based partly on Japanese language sources takes us
significantly forward in our understanding of the effect of Japanese occupation in politicizing
the Malay population.(***) Akashi points out that there was a Japanization programme in
operation at this time and that this had both a psychological and physical impact on the
Malays. He indicates that on an ideological plane the Japanese sought to instill a pan-Asian
pro-Japanese, anti-European outlook in the Malays and that to this end they encouraged the
development of a Malay national consciousness. Furthermore, they inculcated these values
through their control of the education system. The focus of that system was on Japanese
language instruction. Through such instruction the Japanese aimed at the inculcation of the

Japanese Spirit in the Malayan population.(**”) Thus, they opened a school, the Shonan

197 Though under different titles. The KMM was dissolved by the Japanese but continued
in spirit and approach as, firstly, the Japanese sponsored Malay army (Pembela Tanah Avyer or
PETA) and then, towards the end of the occupation, as another sponsored organization, the
Union of Peninsular Indonesians (Kesatuan Rayat Indonesia Semenanjong, or KRIS).

198 Yoji Akashi, "The Japanization program in Malaya With Particular Reference to the
Malays", paper presented to the Annual Meetings(sic) of The American Political Science
Association, September 1971, Conrad Hilton Hotel, Chicago.

199 Thid., p.4.
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Nippon Gakuen, for ‘all ages and professions’ which, according to Akashi, "helped boost the

morale of impressionable young Malays, implanting in them the seed of self-consciousness
that they were the people of a new generation and a new Malaya' - a “self realization [which]
had been hitherto non-existent among the Malays' and which entailed their *casting off their
colonial mentality that the British had implanted in them [sic]'(*®)

The Japanese also sought to educate the Malays into a Japanese work ethic in order to
overcome what they saw as the inclination of the Malays to laziness - a laziness which had
impeded the elevation of the Malays as a race. Although Akashi doesn't make the connection
it seems clear that this indoctrination must have had a self serving pragmatic function for the
Japanese since they were heavily reliant on Malay labour to support their occupation. Unlike
the British, who had relied much more, as we have seen, on immigrants for the extra labour
needed to support a Colonial state leaving the Malays by and large in place in their traditional
rural occupations, the Japanese "recruited tens of thousands of Malays for labor and semi-
military services.' These included working for a *grow more food campaign, ... the
construction of the Kra Railraod, ... the Burma-Thailand Railroad, and ... the digging of air
raid shelters.'(**")

According to Akashi the recruitment of labourers from rural areas in this way, and the
regimentation and indoctrination of their training, ‘shook the foundation of the hierarchical
system of the Malay community which was based on adat'.(*®) As a consequence, when the
Malay Union proposal came along after the war, the Malay people exploded.'(*”)

While in a general sense we can see from Akashi how Japanese educational policies
operating in the mentally and physically traumatic circumstances of the Occupation must have

had a strong influence on Malays, especially young Malays, much more explanation is needed

20 Thid., p.5.
21 Thid., p.7.
22 [hid., p.7.

29 Tbid.
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to account for the view that it politicized the entire Malay population as Akashi claims. A
much closer examination is needed to establish the degree and extent of Malay politicization
and to show how this occurred. Roff established that there was, by the outbreak of war, the
substantial beginnings of a Malay national consciousness within the elite and we can readily
accept that the educational experience during occupation strengthened this elite nationalism.
The position is not so clear, however, when it comes to the raayat. As we have seen, there is
little evidence of popular nationalist sentiment prior to the war: if the peasantry were
imbibing nationalist sentiments by the immediate pre-war years they did so with passivity;
and, as we have also seen, there is little evidence that they were other than slow to become
politically active on any durable basis in the immediate post war period being drawn strongly
into the political process only when their vote was solicited for party political elections. It is
only by the time of their participation in the pre-Independence elections that we can clearly
see the peasantry beginning to become politically active on a sustained basis. Something
looking like an overt peasant nationalistic awareness - an awareness which was no doubt
nascent in 1946 and earlier but which, on the available primary evidence thus far, is not
clearly visible - is not clearly recognizable as such despite assertions to the contrary in the
secondary sources - until the period of these elections.

In the light of this Akashi's claim that the Japanese instilled a strong popular nationalism
that surfaced as the motivating force behind vigorous anti-Union protest after the war seems
thinly based and it may well be that he has overstated the ideological impact of Japanese rule
on the Malay peasantry. We need a much more socially discriminating understanding of the
effect of Japanese educational policies on the Malays than we have at the moment - than
Akashi is able to give in his paper - since the effect of Japanese indoctrination in the traumatic
occupation circumstances on the Malay population may well have been an uneven one. From

which social strata in the Malay community, for example, did the students of the Shonan

Nippon Gakuen come from ? Was this organization educating the sons and daughters of the
Malay elites, or those of the peasantry, or both? The fact that Akashi says the school was
open to “all ages and professions' may indicate that it was limited to an elite with prior
vocational skills and education though not necessarily. He may have been using the term
*profession' loosely to mean simply occupation. Akashi's paper indicates that some Malays

claimed to have been greatly assisted by their Japanese training in their post war careers - in
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administration and the like - and this, too, may suggest an elitist aspect to the school though
again this was not necessarily so.(***)

We can not be sure, then, from Akashi where in Malay society the Japanese education
programme was having an impact and it remains unclear whether the Malay peasantry was
being politicized by such an experience. It does seem likely, though, that the Japanese
indoctrination with its component of Malay nationalism was aimed more at, and drew its
strongest response from, the more fertile ground of the pre-existing emergent Malay elite
nationalism on the peninsular. However, having said this, it must be conceded that the more
general Japanese indoctrination associated with the press ganging of the peasantry in support
of the occupied state, and the physical and mental hardship that this and the regimentation of
their society carried for the Malay rural population, must have had some lasting significant
impact on their social outlook though any such effect along these lines is not clearly
discernible in the Akashi paper and in the published scholarship to date. We can surmise that
it was the physical and mental hardships of occupation that most affected the Malay peasantry
in their post war political thinking rather than the ideological appeal being directed at them
per se - that it was the more concrete traumas of their daily existence under the Japanese
which helped to render them susceptible to the Malay nationalist component of Japanese
propaganda and that of the post war Malay nationalist organizations.

While we are lacking a complete picture of this experience in the secondary sources to
date there are further clues in the British colonial documentation which serve to give a better
idea of the nature and degree of hardship being experienced by the peasantry under the
Occupation. There was, for example, a significant decline in war time rice production in
Kedah caused by “the absence of manure at the correct time, [the] occurrence of severe floods

and droughts and [a] depletion in the number of draft animals'. Furthermore, ‘there was

204 This information was obtained by the author in a preliminary survey during which he
was told by a “prominent educator of Malaysia' that ‘many Malays who received Japanese
training are very successful today.’

Tbid., p.14.
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continuous Japanese interference and consequently an induced sense of insecurity'.(*®®)
For the peninsular in general conditions for the peasantry were harsh:

During the years of occupation economic conditions changed for the worse. The [r]e was
no market for rubber. The requisitioning of padi with or without payment resulted in
land being left uncultivated. Law and order could not be enforced and robbery was
common. The stock of goats and poultry was greatly reduced. Transport became more
and more scarce. The re-occupation found the small holder with his clothing in rags, his
house in need of repair, most of his goods and his health impaired. Some had sold their
holdings in order to buy additional food.(**®)

And for those Malay peasants coopted to labour on various public works conditions were even
Worse:

Fully to appreciate the difficulties which confront this department [ie Labour
Department, Malayan Union, 1946], it is necessary to survey the circumstances under
which labour in this country has been compelled to work and live in this country during
the Japanese administration, under the principles of which all labour was vertically
indentured and was regarded as part of the essential equipment of the Japanese military
regime without any claim to any rights, and not deserving of any humanitarian
considerations whatever. Circulars were issued to Japanese supervisors of estates that
labourers making complaints should be dealt with with the utmost severity. Floggings
were the order of the day. Confidence was undermined by specious promises and in
every conceivable direction labour became increasingly perplexed by the limitless
variations of Japanese duplicity. Labour was frequently moved ‘en masse' into strange
surroundings to undertake work oft times unfamiliar but which was regarded by the
Japanese as of current military significance. Many thousands perished miserably in
Siam in the notorious exploitation which the construction of the ‘Death' Railway
occasioned.'(*)

In 1945, with the return of the British, the hardship being experienced by the Malay
peasantry, while less extreme, did not end and there is ample evidence that they suffered
considerably. This was partly because it took time for the British to overcome the dislocation
caused by the Japanese occupation and partly because the British were operating on
imperatives of their own to re-order Malayan society in a way which suited them. Thus, at the

time the British were presenting the Union proposal, and later when they were beginning to

205 Annual Report on the Malayan Union for 1947, p.11. CO576/74.

206 Annual Report on the Malayan Union 1946, p.46. CO576/74.

207 Ibid., p.8.

Certainly we may have a measure of Britain overstatement in these accounts. Clearly the
British saw themselves as the liberators of the Malayan people on their return and were no
doubt inclined to compare what they saw as the enlightenment of their regime as contrasting
with the barbarity of that of the Japanese. Still, the suffering of the Malayan population is
known in a general kind of way and the British account here is broadly in line with this even if
cast in slightly propagandist terms.
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implement the Union, a lack of law and order and its attendant uncertainty remained a
problem on the peninsular. This lack of control meant that the repressive labour practices
fostered by the Japanese continued under the early British reoccupation .(***) The peninsular
did not, it is important to remember, return to the kind of civilian administration that existed
prior to the war: rather the BMA and the Union civil administration which followed was,
pethaps inevitably, a repressive regime imposing its own kind of regimentation as it sought to
restore order and economic stability to Malaya in the wake of the ending of Japanese
occupation. While it can be argued that the returning British administration was benign in
comparison with that of the Japanese it was clearly both the cause of, and presiding over, a
harsh environment for the Malay peasantry and it is in this continued hardship that we see the
most likely important single cause of any volatility there may have been in the rural
population in their reaction to Union.

If Peiris, in his passing comment in Far Eastern Economic Review, is right and the
Kedah peasantry did indeed take to the streets in their thousands to protest against Union, it
seems likely that this had something to do with the pressure the state's rice producers were
under in the immediate post war years. This was a period of acute rice shortage on the
peninsular - a shortage due to the disruptive effect war time hostilities had in reducing
supplies from home and abroad: as a consequence the British felt an urgent need to apply
themselves rigorously to remedying the shortfall in the commodity.

The British were particularly concerned that the peninsular rice growers maximize their
production and it seems evident from the sources that there was considerable urgency in
reviving domestic rice production as a major prop supporting the Malayan economy and
society and the British colonial policy which they were struggling to re-establish in the wake

of the Japanese occupation.(**) In 1946 the British were acutely aware of the importance of

28 [hid., p.8, 47.

29 The degree of urgency is amply illustrated in secondary and primary sources alike. For
example, The Straits Budget, for the months August to December in 1946, contains numerous
articles on the subject reflecting the very great public importance of the rice shortage and
suggesting the strong degree of urgency for British administrators in achieving a remedy for
the situation.
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home rice production as a foundation stone, not only of the domestic economy but to the
colonial export economy as well. Their focus remained principally on the latter and there was
a clear and direct link drawn in the 1946 annual report for the Union between rice production
and the production of the all-important export commodities that was the main raison d'etre of
the British Malayan colonial state on the peninsular as we have seen.(*'%)

Their major concern in that year was that the lack of an economic supply of rice to feed
the working population in the export economy was a source of wider social instability. Given
the massive war debt that Britain had incurred British administrators were under even more
pressure in the post war years to re-build a self sustaining economy on the peninsular. To do
so they had to cope with the competing interests of different sectors of the Malayan economy -
a task they found extremely difficult within the tight budgetary framework within which they
were forced to operate.

A principal concern of the British at this time was that the shortage of rice was putting
upward pressure on the prices of essential commodities needed by the Malayan working
population - something which tended, from the British point of view, to undermine industrial
stability in that, while the British were conceding wage increases to the Malayan industrial
working population these concessions did not keep pace with the inflation caused by the rice
shortages. This, coupled in these pre-emergency years with a British concern at the leftist
tendency of the Malayan trade union movement, caused the British great anxiety and they
looked especially to the productive capacity of peninsular rice growers to provide a secure
economic basis for the unsettled post war colonial state.(*’") In the words of the report:

One of the most important single factors affecting the economy of the country since

liberation has been the shortage of rice. The importance of rice to the peoples of Asia is

greater than the importance of wheat in western countries ... In Malaya rice is the staple
food of all but a small fraction of people ... The entire Malayan production of rice is

210 Annual Report on the Malayan Union for 1946, p.3, 4. CO576/74.

211 The British colonial government was inclined to see the peninsular labour movement as
having a fifth columnist communist element - a perception in line with the emerging Cold
War mentality in the western world at that time. Thus the 1946 Annual Report for the
Malayan Union perceived the post war General Labour Union in these terms: ~ "Upon the
British re-occupation, the General Labour Union, whose leaders were associated with the
Communist Party, opened premises in all major towns of the Peninsular and formed
dependent Unions in each State and Settlement'.

Ibid., p.8.
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consumed locally and in addition it was necessary before the war to import large
quantities to satisfy the need of the country. From 1931 to 1939 the increase which took
place in production was counter balanced by an increase in consumption so that prior to
the occupation Malaya was only producing some 34 per cent. of her basic foodstuff. By
1946 the natural increase in population had expanded Malaya's demand for rice but local
production during the year was estimated to be only 66 per cent of the 1939 figure with
the result that the country's degree of self-sufficiency at pre-war per capita rates of
consumption fell to some 20 per cent. of rice requirements. Imports of rice for the year
were approximately 23 per cent. of requirements so that only 43 per cent. of the
estimated amount of rice needed to maintain the pre-war level of consumption was
available ... It was found impossible to eliminate from wage discussions the factor of the
inadequacy of the official rations and the price of black market rice. Labour unrest was
widespread, and the need to settle and prevent strikes involved the administration and
industry in having to make concessions in monetary wages which, with the very tight
position in essential commodities, resulted in an upward pressure on the price level.
Among the unskilled and semi-skilled workers monetary wages have increased from 125
per cent. to 200 per cent. and more of the pre-occupation levels but even so the real
wage is below that earned in 1941. Thus the cost of production of basic export
commodities has increased well beyond the 1941 figure without labour deriving any
corresponding advantage. The effect on the economy of the country of this shortage of
rice and inflation of money wages may be far-reaching, especially with a young and
headstrong labour movement.(*%)

